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Annual Report

1. Joint foreword from Hilary Daniels
and Lance McCarthy Chairman and
Chief Executive of the Trust Board.
Hinchingbrooke Hospital has a very proud and
remarkable history and we have only been
present for a very small part of it, but the
changes, developments and innovations in the
last 19 months have been phenomenal. During
the last year which has been both frenetic
and excellent, we have too many highlights to
mention them all, but our top 10 during this
period that we think reflect the dedication of
you all to each other and to our patients are
below:
• Trust coming out of Special Measures with a ‘good’ rating.
• Following a formal re-inspection visit in May 2016, the CQC Report, published in
August 2016, confirmed the Trust’s services are safe, effective, caring, responsive
and well led, rating us ‘Good’ in all five of these domains.
• Winning the national Health Business Award for Outstanding Achievement in
Healthcare
• Multitude of other national and local awards won by individuals and teams for
amongst other things, patient safety, research, innovation, clinical service delivery
and catering
• Receiving a request for Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust (HHCT) to be a case
study in the Health Parliamentary Review to be published in the autumn
• Introducing Schwartz rounds to support staff and seeing them flourish
• the army of red-shirted volunteers helping patients and relatives every day.
Trust coming
out of Special
Measures with a

‘good’
rating confirmed
the Trust’s services
are safe, effective,
caring, responsive
and well led, rating
us ‘Good’ in all five
of these domains.
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• The many innovative service developments taking place at the hospital, including:
– the expansion of the ambulatory care model, now seeing 1 in 7 of all urgent care
attendances;
– having one of the first Admiral Nurses in an acute hospital in the country and the
huge changes to dementia care here as a result
• Securing a Strategic Estates Partner to develop the Health Campus
• Seeing patients in beds enjoying the Christmas Carols and remembrance service in
the chapel

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

• From the fantastically warm greeting afforded to everyone by the patient services
team when they enter the main entrance to the excellent clinical outcomes, low
infection rates and low mortality rates our patient’s experience.
As we look back on the previous year, we also look forward to the year ahead. The
HHCT Trust Board took the decision in November 2016 to proceed to merge with
Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (PSHFT) as HHCT was not
sustainable either clinically or financially in its current form due, in the main, to its size
as one of the smallest NHS Acute Trusts in the country. The sustainability of clinical
services for the population of Huntingdonshire would not be possible as a stand-alone
organisation.
This decision will impact positively on our local population and provide them with
more assurance and direct benefits that they will have sustainable local services in the
longer term. Modern medicine is becoming increasingly complex with the direction of
travel towards more specialised services contained within larger clinical teams serving a
critical mass of patients. The guidance from the National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) continues to recommend increasing specialisation. The additional
pressure of providing 7-day-a-week services will increase with problems in staffing
complete rotas.
At the same time, the Trust has taken a full and active role within the Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough System Sustainability and Transformation Programme (STP).
Delivering high quality, timely and cost effective care to our local community are core
components of our strategic objectives. The STP has given a clear clinically led focus
on improving standards, financial stability and adapting services to a growing and
changing community across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. This included increased
collaboration for HHCT with PSHFT following a ‘Memorandum of Understanding’
signed by both organisations in December 2015
In 2015/16, the Trust started a major OJEU (Official Journal of the European Union)
public procurement process for the development of a Strategic Estates Partnership
(SEP), which looks to develop the HHCT campus over the course of the next 5 years.
This programme looks to expand the range of services provided on the Hinchingbrooke
Hospital site to include:
– Keyworker staff/ medical students accommodation (HHCT land)
– Medi-hotel / step-down facility (HHCT land)
– Older Peoples Care Accommodation for Cambridgeshire County Council (HHCT
Land)
– Multi use Health Campus proposals (Cambridgeshire Police Land)
– GP at Scale (HHCT Land)
The development of the SEP procurement process of selecting a Partner started in
December 2015, with a view to the Trust entering into a formal 50:50 joint venture
SEP arrangement by the end of September 2016. Capital investment for asset creation
has been assessed at up to £150m. We are pleased to report that Ryhurst has been
appointed as our Strategic Estates Partner to take forward the Health Campus
development which will enable the quality and financial benefits of a health and social
care site, integrated into a small acute DGH.

Winning the
national Health
Business Award
for Outstanding
Achievement in
Healthcare
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The Trust generally performed well against the mandatory performance indicators;
however, failed to deliver the A&E four hour waiting time standard for the year with
a full year performance of 79.78% against the target of 95%. System wide pressures
meant that we were not able to maintain performance consistently during the year.
The factors impacting on performance have, in the main, been bed pressures resulting
in the lack of capacity impacting on the ability to maintain capacity and flow in the
Emergency Department. There have also been fluctuations in major and ambulance
attendances, causing challenges with maintaining flow consistently through the
hospital. Further details on the Trust’s performance can be found on pages 24-36.
The Trust has experienced a challenging year with its Income and expenditure (I&E)
financial position. For 2016/17, the Trust delivered a cumulative deficit of £21.17m
against a planned deficit of £9.8m. This position has been driven in the main by an
increased reliance on high cost locum agency medical and nursing staff to support the
delivery of safe services and the need to open contingency beds (above our funded
establishment) to support increases in demand and activity. The Trust has continued to
see an increase in A&E attendances compared to last year which has been exacerbated
by an increase in the number of frail elderly patients with complex health needs. We
have also seen an increase in the number of patients awaiting a delayed transfer of
care (DTOC) with a long length of stay.
We would like to take this opportunity to thank all the patients, relatives, carers and
stakeholders who have contributed to our quality improvement activities during the
year. On behalf of the Board, we would also like to thank all members of staff, and to
our volunteers, for their ongoing provision of compassionate and professional care to
those needing the Trust’s services and who continue to strive for improvements in the
care we deliver.
Although Hinchingbrooke Health Care Trust ceased to exist on 31 March 2017,
Hinchingbrooke Hospital will remain and we wish both the Hospital and its staff well as
part of the newly formed North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust.

Hilary Daniels
Chairman
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Chief Executive Officer
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2. Performance report - overview
The purpose of the Performance Report is to provide
the reader with information on the Trust, its main
objectives and strategies and the principal risks it
faces.

a. What we do
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust (HHCT) is a district general hospital, providing
health care for the people of Huntingdonshire and surrounding areas. More than
160,000 people rely on our full range of acute hospital services. Hinchingbrooke
Hospital is a member of Cambridgeshire University Health Partners supporting
excellence in healthcare, research and education for the people of Cambridgeshire and
beyond.
Hinchingbrooke Hospital is a modern purpose-built building which opened in
1983. We provide a wide range of acute secondary care services a number in
conjunction with other NHS providers, including Cambridgeshire University Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust, Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust, Cambridgeshire Community Services NHS Trust and Papworth Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust.
We are an Acute Trust with 210 general and acute beds. In our dedicated Treatment
Centre, there are an additional 21 beds specifically for day cases alongside 25 cabins
in the procedure unit. The Trust also has an Emergency Department, Maternity Centre
with 40 beds and dedicated facilities for private patients, which contribute to our
income. The Special Baby Care Unit (SCBU) together with children’s services at the Trust
are operated by Cambridgeshire Community Services (CCS) NHS Trust.
The main purchaser of our Trust’s services is Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) and we also provide services to a range of CCGs across
Bedfordshire, Northamptonshire, Norfolk, Lincolnshire and Suffolk. An increasing
number of referrals come from family doctors in areas which traditionally have been
referred to other hospitals.
We are an Acute
Trust with

210

general and
acute beds
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Structure and accountability changes introduced within the 2015/16 financial year
were made in the in the context of the establishment of a conventional NHS Trust
Board. During 2016/17, the Trust continued to review and strengthen its governance
arrangements and took into account the findings of an in-year CQC re-inspection visit
in May 2016 together with continuing feedback and support from NHS Improvement
(NHSI).

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Together with our staff, we developed a set of values for 2016/17,
in line with the NHS Constitution.

• Caring
• Working Together
• Being professional
We value caring so we are...
friendly, kind, respectful, supportive, approachable and appreciative
We value working together so we...
work as one, communicate clearly, involve people, listen, help each other and
consider others
We value being professional so we...
take pride, think and act positively, keep improving, take responsibility, speak up,
empower others and take ownership
We support the NHS values:
• Working together for patients
• Everyone counts
• Compassion
• Improving lives
• Respect and dignity
• Commitment to quality of care

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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2016/17 Facts and Figures
210

We have
acute and general beds

During the year we handled

160,805

5,275

We treated
elective in-patients

outpatient appointments

13,387

We treated had
non-elective admissions

567

20,340

We carried out
elective day case procedures

218

2,229 babies
were born here

1,740

We employed
nurses
and midwives (494.77 whole
time equivalents)

We also employed
doctors and consultants
(208.46 whole time equivalents)

In total we have
staff
in post as at the end of March
2017 (1,553.57 whole time
equivalents) *

Our Emergency Department

Our income in 2016/17

We ended the year with a

45,887

dealt with
cases,
which averages around 882
cases a week

was

£115.45m

deficit of

£21.17m

This year, overall we saw an increase in the number of patients coming through the
hospital. We see and treat over 675 patients every single day of the year.
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2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

% Increase/
decrease

Inpatient

14,490

15,443

17,453

18,540

18,662

+1%

Day case

18,586

19,795

20,761

20,352

20,340

0%

139,793

148,567

153,345

155,011

160,805

+4%

7,278

8,026

8,297

8,924

8,864

-1%

37,864

38,891

43,354

45,643

45,887

+1%

Activity

Outpatient
DNAs
Urgent Care
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b. Quality - Care Quality Commission
We have a duty to provide health care services in line with Health and Social Care Act
2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. The following statement sets out our
registration status:
• The Trust has two locations and is registered with the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) to provide seven regulated activities under the Health and Social Care Act.
• The Trust was last rated by the CQC in August 2016 with a ‘Good’ overall rating

Overall rating Good

CQC rates Hinchingbrooke ‘Good’ - in the top 25% of Trusts
Safe

14

Effective

Caring Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Requires
Requires
Urgent and emergency
improvement improvement
services

Good

Medical care

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Surgery

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Clinical care

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Maternity and
gynaecology

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

End of life care

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Outpatients and
diagnostic imaging

Good

Not rated

Good

Good

Good

Good

Overall

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Requires
Requires
improvement improvement

Requires
improvement

Following a formal re-inspection visit in May 2016, the CQC Report, published in
August 2016, confirmed the Trust’s services are safe, effective, caring, responsive and
well led, rating us ‘Good’ in all five of these domains.

Several areas of outstanding practice were noted:
• The Trust employed an Admiral Nurse to support people living with dementia, their
relatives and carers as well as staff. This was one of only five Admiral Nurses in acute
trusts in England.
• Staff worked with a local prison where Consultants review patients that are at the
end of their lives and work with prison and hospital staff to ensure that patients
were safely admitted to the hospital or referred to the local hospice.
The CQC Report also identified areas that required improvement concerning Urgent
and Emergency Care services provided at the Trust. Actions required to address these
areas have been included in the Trust’s Quality Improvement Plan. Further details
concerning these can be found in the Trust’s Quality Account on pages 86-89.
During 2016/17, the Trust has since developed further its Quality Improvement
Plan (TQIP). Unlike the Trust’s previous Composite Action Plan, this is a single fully
integrated quality improvement plan including actions from the Emergency Department
observations as a result of the CQC re-inspection visit in May 2016 and all other quality
improvement initiatives that are undertaken across the Trust. The purpose of this
plan is to define, at a high level, the overall continuing quality improvement journey
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust is making and to provide assurance both
internally to the Board and to external stakeholders including NHS Improvement (NHSI)
and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group.

(The Trust employed
an Admiral Nurse to
support people living
with dementia, their
relatives and carers
as well as staff. This
was one of only
five Admiral Nurses
in acute trusts in
England.
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c. Patient experience
The Trust’s patient experience strategy is in place to develop a culture throughout
the Trust that places the quality of patient experience at the heart of everything that
the Trust does to always strive to exceed expectations, and has been designed to
support the annual operational plan around improving the patient experience. All staff,
regardless of their role, care deeply about the quality of the care that patients, service
users, their carers and families receive from Hinchingbrooke Hospital.

In-patient Survey
for 2015 placed
HHCT in the

20%

top
of NHS Trust’s
nationally with

79%

of
all respondents
scoring their
overall experience
as an inpatient
between 8 to 10
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The results for the Trust from the CQC National In-patient Survey for 2015, published
in June 2016, placed HHCT in the top 20% of NHS Trust’s nationally with 79% of all
respondents scoring their overall experience as an inpatient between 8 to 10 (out of
10) compared to the national average of 76%. This represented a 5% positive increase
for the Trust, year on year.
Building on this success, the Trust has embarked on a journey of learning and
continuous improvement, with feedback from patients being essential to this growth.
Throughout 2016/17 the Trust has evaluated its strategy and engagement as part of a
continued improvement process while consistently evaluating and measuring success.
In 2016/17, our Patient Services Team was a nominated as a finalist in the People
Development Award Category with the Health Estates and Facilities Management
Association (HEFMA). In addition, our Head of Facilities (Soft Services) was also a finalist
as Leader of the Year in the same category. Our Head Chef, Lisa Normanton, has also
been chosen as a finalist for the Craft Guild of Chefs Awards 2017 in the Public Sector
Chef Category. In many instances, our Patient Services Team is the face of the hospital
and make patients, their relatives and carers feel at home.

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

d. Approach to Quality Improvement
The Trust publishes an annual Quality Account which provides details of previous
quality performance and outlines key clinical priorities and measurable improvements
for the year ahead. Clinical quality improvement is facilitated through Specialty/
Department clinical governance forums which feed into the Divisional forums and
are monitored in the Trust’s operational Patient Safety Group. Exception reporting for
clinical risk and improvement is provided to the Trust’s Quality and Safety Committee,
with non-executive oversight and accountabilities, via the monthly Governance and
Risk Dashboard, Further details about the Trust’s progress with Quality Improvement,
and how the Trust measures feedback concerning patient experience, can be found in
the Quality Account for the Trust for 2016/17 which accompanies the Annual Report.

e. Workforce
The Trust recognises the importance of planning, developing and retaining a workforce
with the right skills, values and behaviours in sufficient numbers and in the right place,
building high performing multidisciplinary teams. The Trust has improved workforce
planning by linking it to clinical demands, capacity and financial planning, and, as part
of North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust, will produce workforce plans for 2017/18
and beyond to address future recruitment, retention and development needs of staff.
The merger with PSHFT and the early year STP discussions have had a material impact
on our costs through uncertainty impacting on recruitment and retention, and the
consequent higher than planned use of agency staff. The Trust has ensured that there
is a robust triangulation between workforce, finances and activity to provide thorough
oversight for the Trust Board on key workforce metrics including vacancies, turnover,
temporary staffing issues and expenditure.
During 2016/17, the Trust has also focussed on initiatives that enable us to:
– strengthen the Trust’s recruitment capabilities;
– ensure Hinchingbrooke Hospital is recruiting the right staff with values aligned to
the Trust;
– improve staff retention to give stability and reduce agency expenditure,
strengthening the Trust’s ability to change through management, leadership and
staff training;
– implement a performance management framework for all staff to know what
is expected of them, including financial and people management skills and the
standards of behaviour required.
The Trust has continued to review how staff are best placed to deliver excellent
patient care within an affordability envelope and has included the development of
the unregistered workforce supporting the commitment of ‘growing our own’ talent
during 2016/17.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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The Trust Board supported and adopted a People Strategy covering the period 2015 –
2020 which was launched in October 2015. The People Strategy is underpinned by an
annual Human Resources Work Plan. Both the People Strategy and the HR Work Plan
are aligned with the Trust’s three strategic objectives for 2016/17:
• continuing to embed our quality improvements across the hospital for the direct
benefit of our patients and local community;
• continue to ensure we are as efficient as possible and provide value for money in all
we do: and
• continuing to be part of county-wide discussions and solutions for sustainable care
across the wider healthcare system.
The Workforce Committee is the overarching committee of the Trust Board with
responsibility for the delivery and assurance of the People Strategy. In addition it has
responsibility for:
– ensuring the mechanisms are in place to support the development of leadership
capacity and capability within the Trust;
– the development and design of the workforce, to ensure that the Trust has
productive staff, with the skills, competencies and information to meet the
required contractual obligations;
– the mechanisms of improving how the Trust engages with its workforce so that
they are motivated to do the best they can for the organisation and for the
communities the Trust serves; and
– Organisational Development and Change Management.
To ensure the workforce risks are identified and monitored, a workforce risk register has
been implemented with regular reporting to the Workforce Committee.

f. Performance - National Standards
The Trust is required to achieve a number of key national targets and priorities,
as outlined within the NHSI Single Oversight Framework which was introduced
in 2016/17. These standards are separated out and shown below as Mandatory
Performance Indicators and Quality Indicators.
The Trust generally performed well against the mandatory performance indicators;
however, failed to deliver the A&E four hour waiting time standard for the year with
a full year performance of 79.78% against the target of 95%. System wide pressures
meant that we were not able to maintain performance consistently during the year.
The factors impacting on performance have, in the main, been bed pressures resulting
in the lack of capacity impacting on the ability to maintain capacity and flow in the
Emergency Department. There have also been fluctuations in major and ambulance
attendances, causing challenges with maintaining flow consistently through the
hospital.
Actions to improve performance include significant ongoing work with our external
partners to manage delays (including Delayed Transfers of Care). Daily escalation
calls are now in place with all partners, with a significant reduction in lost bed days.
Adherence to professional standards continues to improve. This is evidenced by an
18
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increasing number of patients being seen by a senior clinician within 60 minutes
of arrival in the Emergency Department. A Turnaround Plan is in place to improve
performance and capacity which is managed on a daily basis. Following discussions
with NHS Improvement and NHS England through the A&E Delivery Board, further
plans are in place, with a new Emergency Nurse Practitioner (ENP) starting recently
and ENP cover now provided seven days a week 10am to 10pm; additional overnight
middle grades in ED; and weekend Physicians to improve flow and capacity through
increased weekend discharges. These actions have impacted on our performance in
March with our performance against the 95% A&E Waiting Time Standard in month
of 89.25%. With effect from 9 March 2017, the Trust met the 95% standard for seven
days in a row and on 22 March we achieved 100% performance.

We met the 95% A&E
Waiting Time Standard
for seven days in a row
and on 22 March
we achieved

100%
performance

Graph 1 – Mandatory Performance Indicators 2016/17
Mandatory Performance Indicators
2016/17

TARGET

2014/15 FY

2015/16 FY

2016/17 FY

A&E 4 Hour Standard

95%

92.7%

92.7%

79.4%

18 Week Wait RTT - Incomplete

92%

97.5%

95.0%

93.3%

Over 52 week waits

0

0

0

4

6 Week Diagnostics

99%

97.5%

98.8%

98.0%

Cancer 2 week wait from urgent
referral to first seen

93%

98.1%

95.7%

94.9%

2 week wait for Breast symptoms

93%

96.5%

95.4%

96.4%

Cancer 31 day wait for first treatment
from Decision To Treat

96%

98.7%

99.9%

98.5%

Cancer 31 day wait for subsequent
treatment - Anti cancer drugs

98%

99.3%

100%

100%

Cancer 31 day wait for subsequent
treatment - Surgery

94%

94.7%

99.1%

96.7%

Cancer 62 day wait for first treatment
from 2 week wait urgent referral

85%

89.4%

84.4%

88.3%

Cancer 62 day wait for first treatment
from Screening service urgent referral

90%

86.5%

91.5%

85%
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The Trust also performed well against the quality indicators shown below. In most areas
the Trust has exceeded the target and where performance remains below expected
levels, we have detailed plans in place to improve this through the Trusts Quality
Improvement Plan (TQIP) which is monitored through the Trust’s Quality & Safety
Committee.
Graph 2 – Quality Indicators 2016/17
Performance Metric

Performance
2016/17

Performance
2015/16

A&E scores from Friends and Family Test

94.89%

95%

Inpatient scores from Friends and Family Test

97.82%

97%

Mixed Sex Accommodation breaches

0

2

Clostridium difficile infections

11

6

94.78%

91.94%

1

Zero

Venous Thromboembolism Screening

98.4%

98%

Hospital Mortality Standardised Ratio*

83.7*

91**

Hospital Mortality Standardised Ratio* - Weekend
(emergency admissions)

74.8*

106.23**

Hospital Mortality Standardised Ratio* - Weekday
(emergency admissions)

86.4*

86.3**

1

2

Harm Free Care
MRSA Blood Infections

Never Events
*Covering the period February 2016 to January 2017
** Covering the period February 2015 to January 2016

g. Financial Performance
The Trust has experienced a challenging year with its Income and expenditure (I&E)
Financial position. For 2016/17, the Trust delivered a cumulative deficit of £21.17m,
against a planned deficit of £9.8m. Within the variance of £11.37m is £3m relating to
non-attainment of STF income.
This position has been driven in the main by an increased reliance on high cost locum
agency medical and nursing staff to support the delivery of safe services and the need
to open contingency beds (above our funded establishment) to support increases in
demand and activity. The Trust has continued to see an increase in A&E attendances
compared to last year which has been exacerbated by an increase in the number of
frail elderly patients with complex health needs. We have also seen an increase in the
number of patients awaiting a delayed transfer of care (DTOC) with a long length
of stay. Like many other hospitals we also face the challenge of people using our
Emergency Department inappropriately for minor health problems which has placed an
additional strain on our resources.

20
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Although the total locum bank and agency spend for 2016/17 continues to be
significantly below the levels experienced in 2015/16, it is substantively ahead of the
budget plan that was set.
Despite the variance to plan, the Trust has delivered efficiencies. Against the internal
Cost Improvement Programme target for 2016/17 of £6.2m, the Trust delivered £5m
(circa 85%). The proposed merger with PSHFT and the early year STP discussions have
had a material impact on our costs through uncertainty impacting on recruitment and
retention, and the consequent higher than planned use of agency staff, and also our
inability to deliver in-year savings related to support services. The Merger on 1 April
2017 will enable these savings to be realised in 2017/18.

The Trust delivered
efficiencies
(against the Cost
Improvement
Programme) of

£6.2m

The Trust incurred Gross Capital Expenditure of £5.3m in the year and has met the
Capital Resource Limit agreed with the Department of Health of £4.6m Major schemes
included the purchase of an MRI Scanner and the continued development of the
Woodlands Cancer Centre. Loans worth £26.9m were agreed with the Department of
Health in 2016/17 to finance the financial deficit and support the Capital Programme.
The Trust met two of the three main NHS Trust financial duties in 2016/17. Whilst the
financial deficit of £21.17m meant breakeven was not achieved, both the External
Financing Limit and the Capital Resource Limit were met.

h. Capital Planning and Estates Strategy
Since early 2012, there has been a re-profiling of capital spend to address a
significant lack of investment in the hospital’s base infrastructure. These have included
replacement roofing, replacement fire alarm & emergency lighting, new CHP
(Combined Heat & Power) systems and new electrical platforms across the site. A
number of clinical and support areas have also been prioritised for upgrade, based on
poor environment for patients, visitors and staff. These have included main corridors,
front of house, Radiology, Education, Audiology/ ENT, Critical Care Centre and the
Orchard Support Centre (covering corporate Finance and HR functions).
During 2016/17, the Trust invested £5.3m against its Capital Programme which
supported a number of significant projects, including:
• the successful implementation of a new MRI scanner including the provision of
mobile MRI facilities to maintain continuity of service for patients – total cost £1.3m
• the successful completion of Phase 1 of the Woodlands Cancer Centre, in
conjunction with MacMillan, which opened in September 2016. Phase 1 is a new
build extension to the existing Woodlands Cancer Centre which has received
excellent feedback from patients on its unique design and layout
• the successful refurbishment of the existing Woodlands Cancer Centre between
September 2016 and March 2017, which represents Phase 2, at a cost of £0.5m
• the planned development of the Woodlands Garden Room, which represents
Phase 3. Funding and planning approval was secured in March 2017 and is due for
completion in the summer of 2017
• the successful refurbishment of the Pathology Laboratory (Phase 1), in conjunction
with colleagues from the Pathology Partnership (tPP), which completed in March
2017 at a cost of £200k. Phase 2 commenced in April 2017 at a cost of £135k
and is due to complete in September 2017 in readiness for Clinical Pathology
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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Accreditation (CPA) by the end of the year in line with the United Kingdom
Accreditation Service (UKAS) standards.
• the successful upgrade and refurbishment to the Trusts existing Mortuary facilities to
enhance privacy and dignity, and provide additional capacity at a total cost of £140k
• the successful opening of the Maternity Bereavement Suite opened by Baroness
Cumberlege in May 2016
As referred to in the Chairman’s and Chief Executives foreword, in 2015/16, the Trust
started a major OJEU public procurement process for the development of a Strategic
Estates Partnership (SEP), which looks to develop the HHCT campus over the course
of the next 5 years. The development of the SEP procurement process of selecting
a Partner started in December 2015, with a view to the Trust entering into a formal
50:50 joint venture SEP arrangement by the end of September 2016. As a result of
the merger of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust and Peterborough & Stamford
Hospitals NHS Hospital Foundation Trust, with effect from 1 April 2017, to create North
West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust, we are working towards the establishment of a
corporate joint venture structure during the early part of 2017/18, with our appointed
Strategic Estates Partner, Ryhurst, to take forward the Health Campus development
which will enable the quality and financial benefits of a health and social care site,
integrated into a small acute DGH.

i. Key issues and risks
A comprehensive review and refresh of the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) was
undertaken in 2016/17 to ensure that it reflected more clearly the agreed strategic
objectives for the Trust for 2016/17, together with their associated risks. Ten key risks
were identified in the BAF against the three key strategic objectives for the Trust in
2016/17:
• continuing to embed our quality improvements across the hospital for the direct
benefit of our patients and local community;
• continue to ensure we are as efficient as possible and provide value for money in all
we do: and
• continuing to be part of county-wide discussions and solutions for sustainable care
across the wider healthcare system.
The key risks have been scored using the Risk Scoring Matrix (likelihood v severity) and
controls and assurances are in place against each key risk. A review of the Corporate
Risk Register (CRR) has also been undertaken to ensure that it was aligned to the key
risks in the BAF. The BAF is reviewed at every Trust Board public meeting and quarterly
by the Audit & Risk Committee. The key risks have been scored using the Risk Scoring
Matrix (likelihood v severity) and controls and assurances are in place against each key
risk. A review of the Corporate Risk Register (CRR) was also undertaken to ensure that
it was aligned to the key risks in the BAF. The BAF is reviewed at every Board public
meeting; every Board Committee meeting; every meeting of the Hospital Management
Committee (HMC) and quarterly by the Audit & Risk Committee. The CRR is reviewed
at every HMC. The Executive Director with accountability for managing and monitoring
each individual risk is clearly identified in the BAF. The BAF also identifies the key
controls or gaps in place to manage each of the principal risks and explains how the
Hospital Management Committee (HMC) and Trust Board takes assurance that controls
are in place and operating effectively.
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Strategic
Objective

Embed
our quality
improvements
across the
hospital for the
direct benefit of
our patients and
local people

Key Risk

Risk Score

1. Failure to demonstrate and evidence delivery of high quality services
leading to inability of the Trust to move out of special measures.

5

2. Unable to sustain performance against national and local access
targets and quality indicators.

16

3. Inability to reduce Length of Stay and Delayed Transfers of Care
(DTOC)

16

4. Unable to secure a sustainable financial position for HHCT through
Ensure we are
non-delivery of 2016/17 annual budget; ED performance; agency
as efficient as
usage and CIP programme in order to deliver the Trust’s 16/17
possible, that we
control total of £9.8m deficit
provide value
for money in all
5. Inability to control expenditure on locum bank and agency staff
we do and are
using £117m
of taxpayers’
6. Unable to deliver Capital Programme for 2016/17 within Capital
money
Resource Limit (CRL)
appropriately

20

7. Sustainability, both clinically and financially into the future, is
Be part of
dependent on successful collaboration
county-wide
discussions and
8. Unable to create, attract and retain an engaged and skilled
solutions for
workforce to meet service needs now and in the future.
sustainable
care across the
9. Unable to achieve the standards in the CQC Well Led Domain
wider healthcare
system
10. Risk to the continued strong focus on external and internal core
business requirements as a result of major organisational change
and senior team capacity

15

16

5

16
10
16

j. Forward Look
Although the responsibility for the management of Hinchingbrooke Hospital moves
to the newly formed North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust from 1 April 2017,
the focus of Hinchingbrooke Hospital will remain on improving engagement and
communication with patients, staff, and other stakeholders, listening to their concerns
and ideas as we improve care for the people of Huntingdonshire and beyond.
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3. Performance Report
– Performance analysis
The purpose of the Performance Report analysis is
to report on the Trust’s most important performance
measures and also longer term trend analysis (where
appropriate).
The next section of the Report provides an analysis
on the Trust’s performance during 2016/17 based
on the CQC domains of Safe, Effective, Caring,
Responsive and Well Led. Further detail on the Trust’s
financial performance is also provided together with
performance on other matters, including sustainable
development.
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Safe performance

Safe

TARGET

Number of C-Diff Cases

YTD <11

1

2

1

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

1

2

9

MRSA HCAI

<=0

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

Harm Free Care %

>=95

94.09

99.19

94.63

96.76

95.32

96.28

97.22

95.33

94.69

98.81

90.95

93.44

95.14

Venos Thromboembolism
Screening %

>=98

99.06

98.96

98.55

98.10

99.20

98.30

98.20

99.07

98.10

98.38

96.60

98.12

98.39

Elective MRSA Screening %

95.0

96.50

96.80

98.60

96.75

99.60

99.60

99.70

99.60

98.92

98.90

100

100

98.75

Non-Elective MRSA Screening %

95.0

87.50

77

80.70

89.53

85.50

84.30

89.60

88.60

88.20

90.40

88.50

89.09

86.58

0

0

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

Serious Incidents

N/A

4

4

4

2

2

2

3

4

6

5

2

2

40

Incidents Reported

N/A

474

537

420

446

427

389

437

422

504

549

479

404

5,488

Number of Falls

N/A

53

47

37

52

44

38

38

45

63

67

44

41

569

Number of Falls resulting in Harm

N/A

8

12

9

10

8

5

7

7

7

13

5

4

95

Number of Medication Errors

N/A

49

49

42

34

38

37

44

35

37

27

35

31

458

Harm from Medication Errors

N/A

2

4

3

2

3

0

2

3

6

1

3

1

30

Bed Moves at night %

N/A

5.10

5

4

4.5

3.6

4.6

4.4

4.1

4.83

7.1

4.85

3.46

5.05

Legitimate

N/A

565

496

506

534

496

501

501

463

414

455

412

502

5,845

Non-legitimate

N/A

29

25

21

25

18

24

23

20

21

35

21

18

280

Never Events

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

YTD

Effective performance

Effective

TARGET

Readmissions within 30 days
Hospital Standardised Mortality
Ratio

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

YTD

182

247

219

239

195

176

169

155

154

180

161

181

2249

95.33

90.45

92

91

89.35

87.9

88.2

88.8

87.3

87.4

86.4

85.60

89.14

Summary Hospital- Level
Mortality Indicator (SHMI)
(January to December 2016)

Please see page 136 of the Quality Account

Pressure Sores (Grade 2-4)
Attributable

<22

0

5

6

1

1

1

0

0

1

0

3

0

18

Pressure Sores (Grade 3-4)
Attributable

0

0

2

2

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5

Consultant to Consultant referred
attendances

5.20% 4.40% 4.60% 6.00% 7.40% 8.30% 8.30% 8.60% 8.09% 8.90% 10.20% 10.15% 7.51%

Other referrals to consultant
attendances

2,109

2,117

2,275

2,149

2,192

2,478

2,153

2,340

1,965

2,107

20,06

2,293 26,184

Outpatient Electronic Discharge
Summaries

>=90%

94.60% 91.40% 88.23% 91.30% 90.20% 85.30% 89.40% 95.90% 94.90% 96.90% 97.40% 95.94% 92.62%

Admitted inpatients EDS

>=95%

97.00% 96.70% 95.90% 95.00% 96.50% 96.10% 95.70% 95.70% 96.90% 97.00% 98.21% 96.76% 96.46%

GP Referrals Received

2,795

2,498

2,767

2,631

2,966

2,608

2,617

2,539

2,292

2,576

2,639

2,810

31738
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Detailed commentary on the Trust’s performance against key performance indicators
and quality standards covered by the CQC’s Safe and Effective domains are reviewed
and monitored on a monthly basis by the Trust’s Patient Safety Group, via the monthly
Governance and Risk Dashboard, which, in turn, report to the Trust Board’s Quality and
Safety Committee for assurance purposes, including scrutiny and challenge.
Action taken by the Patient Safety Group together with performance against plan for
indicators include:
•

Harm Free Care, Never Events, Serious Incidents, Incident Reporting;

•

Falls, Medication errors, mortality rates; and

•

Pressure ulcer management

A key focus for the Quality & Safety Committee during 2016/17 has been the
monitoring of progress with the Trust’s Quality Improvement Plan (QIP) in order to fulfil
its assurance and scrutiny role, and to ensure that the actions recommended by the
CQC in its inspection and re-inspection reports have been addressed. The Committee
sought assurance that changes in clinical practice, process and behaviour had occurred
as a result of actions being implemented and embedded.
Further details can be found on pages 86-89 in the Trust’s Quality Account for 2016/17,
which accompanies the Annual Report.
Caring performance
Caring
FFT Response Rate (IP/
Emergency/Maternity)

TARGET

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16

Jul-16

Aug-16 Sep-16

Oct-16

Nov-16

Dec-16

Jan-17

Feb-17

Mar-17

YTD

>=32%

18.4%

15.0%

16.2%

14.2%

18.4%

14.8%

18.4%

24.0%

20.5%

21.6%

18.3%

18.3%

18.26%

95.40

96

96.17

96.69

96.48

96.37

96.6

97.62

97.75

98.33

97.23

97.6

96.85

FFT Satisfaction
Score (IP/Emergency/
Maternity)
Complaints Received

<=17

21

9

16

15

12

10

23

13

13

12

10

14

14

Compliments Received

N/A

7

4

17

34

25

38

61

53

12

0

5

5

261

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Mixed sex breaches

The Trust actively seeks patient and carer feedback and this is encouraged via the
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) team, comment boxes, patient experience
surveys, Friends and Family Test responses, social media (Twitter and Facebook), NHS
choices, Patient Opinion, patients telling their story, and regular focus groups.
Further details, including performance against plan, by the Trust can be found on
pages 139-149 in the Trust’s Quality Account for 2016/17, which accompanies the
Annual Report, and includes details of the number and range of enquiries dealt with
by the PALS team through the year which can also be found in the Quality Account on
pages 142-143.
Detailed commentary on the Trust’s performance against quality indicators covered by
the CQC’s Caring domain are reviewed and monitored by the Trust’s Patient Experience
Group which, in turn, reports to the Trust Boards Quality and Safety Committee for
assurance purposes, including scrutiny and challenge.
The Trust’s combined response rate against the Friends and Family Test for March 2017
and year-end was 18%. A satisfaction score of 98% was achieved in March and year
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end 97%; both of which exceeded the December national average (response rate 17%
and 92% satisfaction score) and the Trust target of 95%. Although the response rate
was 8% behind Trust target, year on year, the results mirrored 2016 which was 18%.
The in-patients response rate for March 2017 was 44%, a decrease of 2% on the
previous month; however, it continues to exceed both the Trust target of 40% and
Decembers National average (national average Year to date as of Dec position 2016 at
25%). At year end the Trusts average response rate was 42% greater than both the
Trust target and national average. Overall satisfaction score remained strong at 98%
which is 6% ahead of national average (YTD 92% as of Dec 2016) and 3% ahead of
Trust target (95%). This result has remained consistent across the past 12 months and
exceeded both the national average and Trust target.

A satisfaction score of

98%

was achieved in
March and year end
97%

✔

The Trust’s Head of Governance & Risk submits an update on the Friends and Family
Test Response rates, including net promoter scores, together with an analysis on the
number and range of complaints and compliments received to the Quality and Safety
Committee on a monthly basis.
As part of our commitment to strengthen the patient’s voice within the Trust, patient
stories have been discussed at each public Trust Board meeting. The Patient Story
provides insight into the personal experiences of being a patient at the hospital and
how they perceived their care and treatment. These stories are then used:
• to help us examine all aspects of the patients journey and contribute to the redesign
of the clinical services;
• as a training tool for our clinical and non-clinical staff concerning relational aspects
of care; and
• to support the audit process and innovative projects underway within the Trust with
the consideration of the patient journey/experience.
We understand that there is no single method for collecting data and we place equal
importance on quantitative data (numbers), qualitative data (narrative, patient’s stories)
and the feedback that these mediums generate to help us improve our services.
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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Responsiveness performance
Responsive

TARGET

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16

Jul-16

Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17

Feb-17 Mar-17

YTD

A&E 4 Hour Standard
%

>=95%

81.9

75.90

76.40

86.50

82.50

79.70

81.00

80.01

71.80

75.20

77.20

89.25

79.78

DTOC no. of patients
snapshot

10

14

7

17

13

13

15

19

14

22

11

8

12

13

DTOC no. of days

400

365

368

371

457

603

499

512

571

606

580

440

412

445.5

>=90%

87.50

86.85

81.33

78.32

82.69

78.48

81.25

82.04

84.83

75.48

74.93

73.58

80.61

18 week Wait RTT - Non >=95%
Admitted %

95.94

96.84

95.45

95.10

93.04

94.03

93.71

93.65

93.21

94.03

92.65

94.01

94.31

18 Week Wait RTT Incomplete %

94.07

93.48

93.10

93.28

92.77

93.28

92.80

92.74

92.19

92.01

93.08

93.33

93.01

0

1

1

1

2

3

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

99.12

99.07

99.55

99.15

97.22

94.16

95.30

99.81

96.13

96.95

99.81

99.35

97.97

17

20

9

17

52

110

100

4

88

63

4

15

-

95.70

87.30

87.70

88.00

94.20

85.50

94.40

80.30

86.90

88.90

85.20

81.6

88.3

>=90%

100

0

100

75

100

100

100

100

66.70

100

100

50

85

Cancer 31 Day Wait RTT >=96%
Performance %

97

97.80

100

100

96.80

100

100

100

100

95.20

100

100

98.5

Cancer 31 Day Wait Subsequent Drugs %

>=98%

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

Cancer 31 Day Wait Subsequent Surgery %

>=94%

100

100

100

100

100

100

93.80

93.30

100

100

100

85.7

96.7

2 Week wait for Breast
Symptoms %

>=93%

91.70

96.60

96.90

96.30

97.40

97.90

100

100

100

96.70

96.20

83.3

96.4

2 Week Urgent Referral >=93%
for Suspected Cancer %

88.20

94.20

100

98.90

93.10

95.80

99.40

99.40

97.60

90.40

93.80

92.1

94.9

0
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13

13

14

37

11

18

14

9

11

13

14

16

<1%

1.45

1

1

0.63

1.78

0.51

0.80

0.59

0.47

0.52

0.66

0.61

0.84

W/L Daycase - Active
Waiting List Snapshot

1737

1688

1878

1807

1773

1800

1798

1720

1845

1882

1731

1782

1787

W/L Inpatient - Active
Waiting List Snapshot

675

737

712

697

654

587

611

591

581

623

655

644

547

18 Week Wait RTT Admitted %

>=92

RTT 52+ Week Wait
Patients - Incomplete
YTD
6 Week Diagnostics %

>=99%

6+ Week Patients
Cancer 62 Day Wait RTT >=85%
Performance %
Cancer 62 Day Wait
from Screening
Service %

Cancelled Ops on or
after admission
% Ops Cancelled on or
after admission

Patients with LoS >10
Days - EOM

<=40

83

77

87

69

73

72

83

79

77

78

76

66

77

CDQ Conditions or
Warning Notices

<=0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Appointment Slot
Issues %

<=5%

15

12

16

14

12

10

12

14

15

10

22

21

14

As referred to earlier in the Annual Report, the Trust generally performed well against
the mandatory performance indicators; however, failed to deliver the A&E four hour
waiting time standard for the year with a full year performance of 79.78% against
the target of 95%. System wide pressures meant that we were not able to maintain
performance consistently during the year. The factors impacting on performance have,
in the main, been bed pressures resulting in the lack of capacity impacting on the ability
to maintain capacity and flow in the Emergency Department. There have also been
fluctuations in major and ambulance attendances, causing challenges with maintaining
flow consistently through the hospital.
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These pressures were felt particularly during the winter months of 2016/17 (Dec 2016
– Feb 2017). Key issues that made this winter more difficult than in previous years were
that ambulance attendances did not reduce prior to Christmas 2016 as in previous
years; the increased acuity of patients attending A&E; and the increase in the number
of patients experiencing a ‘delayed transfer of care’. This led to a limited bed position
prior to the Christmas and New Year period, together with a high bed occupancy rate
that was slow to recover. This led to opening Birch Ward to medical patients on the
26 December to cope with the higher number of patients being admitted. Even with
slightly more beds open than last year, occupancy going in to the Christmas and New
Year period was higher on Christmas Day 2015 (with 53 empty beds open) compared
to the 9 empty beds for 2016.

Compliance with the
Cancer Waiting time
standards has also been
good throughout the
year having achieved
the standards for 11
consecutive months.

The Trust had planned to run a limited elective programme rom 23 December to the 3
January; however, the higher than expected ambulance attendances and lower rate of
discharges meant that Birch Ward remained open as an acute Medical Ward until the
3 February 2017. The impact of cancelling this amount of elective activity was assessed
at a loss of approximately £1m and a negative impact on the 18 Weeks Referral to
Treatment (RTT) performance of the Trust of circa 7%. This was expected to impact the
Orthopaedic service, which operates in the main form Birch Ward. The impact on the
18 Week Wait position for the Trust was considerably less than expected, partly due to
careful pre-planning for the 23 December 2016 to 3 January 2017 period, where most
elective activity was not expected to take place, and also by work undertaken by the
Surgical Division to validate waiting lists. That meant that the 18 Week performance
was maintained throughout January (92.01%) and February (92.8%). The improved
RTT position also reflects action taken to comply with the Recovery Action Plan
developed jointly with the NHSI Intensive Support Team (IST) following their visit in June
2016. Focussed action to ensure patient pathways are managed effectively, coupled
with accurate reporting, has resulted in sustained RTT performance above the 92%
threshold.
Compliance with the Cancer Waiting time standards has also been good throughout
the year having achieved the standards for 11 consecutive months. The size of the
Trusts cancer service limits the level of tolerance for patients waiting longer than 62
days for treatment although the Trust has managed patients well in accordance with
the standards.
The Trust is committed to ensuring that our patients do not stay in hospital any
longer than they clinically need to and we work hard to reduce unnecessary delays
for patient’s stay in hospital. Delayed transfers of care (DTOC) significantly impact on
the patients who remain in a hospital setting because they are unable to be safely
discharged to their home or into a community care setting and also on new patients
requiring acute hospital care.
During 2016/17, a total of 6,139 bed days were lost for patients with a ‘delayed
transfer of care’ (DTOC), the equivalent to 17 patients every day being unable to be
discharged when medically fit to leave acute inpatient care. A similar figure to that
reported in 2015/16. As at March 2017, DTOC still account for up to 10% of our acute
medical beds against the 3% regional target which remains a system wide issue. The
predominant cause of these delays has been attributed to the availability of community
care to support timely, safe discharge home or into other community settings.
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2015/16 and 2016/17 – Number of DTOC patients
60
50
40
30
20

Mar 17
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Jan 17

Dec 16

Nov 16

Oct 16
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Jul 16

Jun 16

May 16

Apr 16

Mar 16

Feb 16

Jan 16

Dec 15

Nov 15

Oct 15

Sep 15

Aug 15

Jul 15

Jun 15

May 15

0

Apr 15

10

Well led performance
Well Led

TARGET

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16

Jul-16

Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17

Feb-17 Mar-17

YTD

Establishment Total
WTE

1,539

1,532

1,525

1,534

1,529

1,549

1,562

1,565

1,547

1,551

1,547

1,554

1,544

Budgeted Posts

1,723

1,723

1,723

1,722

1,721

1,722

1,722

1,722

1,764

1,740

1,740

1,740

1,729

Vacancy Rate %

<=5%

10.82

11.1

11.5

10.9

11.2

10.0

9.3

9.1

10.1

12.1

11.06

10.72

10.7

Turnover Rate %

<=10%

16.72

16.5

16.6

16.2

16.5

16.7

16.0

16.0

16.1

16.2

16.54

16.32

16.4

Sickness Rate %

<=3.7%

4.01

3.96

3.96

3.5

4.2

4.0

4.2

4.5

4.6

4.19

4.55

3.95

4.1

Sickness Rate %
(Short Term)

<=1.53%

1.99

1.99

1.99

1.6

1.7

2.0

1.8

2.1

2.4

2.38

1.87

1.75

2.0

Sickness Rate %
(Long Term)

<=2.3%

2.02

2.02

1.97

2.3

2.4

2.0

2.5

2.4

2.2

1.81

2.68

2.20

2.2

Completed
Appraisals %

>=90%

78.70

62.3

74.32

62.3

69.2

76.8

81.8

80.9

82.0

83.1

81.60

79.83

76.9

89.90

90.40

89.7

89.5

87.9

86.7

87.4

86.3

86.7

86.64

85.52

85.27

88

Mandatory Training
%

The Trust’s performance against key performance indicators and standards covered by
the CQC’s Well Led Domain are reviewed and monitored on a monthly basis by the
Trust Boards Workforce Committee for assurance purposes, including scrutiny and
challenge.
In order to improve our vacancy and turnover rate, we have retained good staff by
ensuring they are well managed by competent managers, appropriately recognised and
rewarded, offered career progression and development opportunities, and are actively
engaged in the organisation.
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During 2016/17, we have recruited the right people by:
• developing and embedding a strong and identifiable employer brand that is visible
and well communicated in the local community and on social media to improve
attraction of local people and those from further afield. This is an identifiable brand
which clearly communicates how Hinchingbrooke manages its people in line with
our values statement chosen by our staff.
• refining and developing our recruitment processes working with Health Education
East of England to explore and embed efficient centralised electronic processes, both
ensuring time-to-hire is competitive so we get our people in quickly and reducing
our reliance on temporary staffing to cover vacancies.
• working closely with the divisions to gather crucial information regarding ‘hot-spot’
recruitment areas, taking into account turnover and vacancies, to support workforce
planning and recruitment trajectories so that these ‘hot-spots’ are promptly
addressed throughout the year.
• developing robust recruitment plans and timescales, linking budget setting and
establishment management.
• developing our selection methodology to ensure that throughout the recruitment
process we employ the right staff who will live and breathe our values.
• ensuring Managers leading on recruitment have the relevant recruitment and
selection training to ensure we are consistently recruiting to a high standard and to
ensure we abide by equality and diversity.
• ensuring our new recruits feel a part of a successful organisation, by engaging our
people in a robust induction programme to share our vision, priorities and ensuring
they understand their part in making that happen.
We have invested significant time and money in recruiting the right people to the
right positions with the right values set; it is imperative that we retain them in the
organisation.
We have done this proactively by:
• understanding why our employees leave so we can put actions into place to
improve our retention and turnover rates.
• improving our processes of recruitment and induction.
• providing support through our probation periods to ensure there is a good fit for
both the Trust and the employee.
• providing development opportunities.
• providing equal opportunities for progression.
• providing constructive feedback to develop performance.
• creating a great working environment which stems from a positive and open culture
through engaging with our staff.
To be effective recruiters, we expect our Managers to:
• ensure they are trained on recruitment and selection.
• take responsibility for the people they hire, ensuring they are people who hold the
Trust’s values.
• manage the probationary period effectively, providing new starters with a
welcoming and motivating start to working at Hinchingbrooke, full integration into
their teams with regular communication and engagement.

We have invested
significant time
and money in
recruiting the right
people to the right
positions with the
right values set; it is
imperative that we
retain them in the
organisation.
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Sickness Absence
Throughout 2016/17, the Trust focused on improving absence management and as
part of this, every month representatives from Human Resources and Occupational
Health met with line managers to discuss how to support staff absent from work on
short and long term sickness in each department.
The average number of days lost per employee due to sickness absence was 15.44
days (calendar year). It remains a Trust priority to invest in sickness absence support, to
ensure all staff receive timely support should they be unwell.

2016 NHS Staff Survey
The Trust achieved a score of 3.85 for staff engagement against the NHS Staff Survey
results for 2016. This compares against an average score of 3.81 for NHS Acute Trusts,
and represents a slight increase for the Trust of 3.84 for 2015.
Engagement Scores

Trust scores 2015

Trust scores 2016

National 2016 average for acute trusts

3.79

3.8

3.81

3.82

3.83

3.84

3.85

3.86

All staff were given the opportunity to complete the survey. The official sample size
for Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust was 1,678. 626 people took part in the
survey which represented a reduction of 6% from 2015. The Response rate is 38%.
It compares with a 44% response rate in the previous year. The national response for
2016 was 44%.
In summary, the 2016 results in comparison to 2015 showed there has been
improvement in 2 key areas, remained the same in 28 and decreased in 1. The area
where we have decreased is ‘reporting errors, near misses or incidents witnessed in
last month’ The areas where we have improved are; ‘Appraisals’ and ‘Quality of nonmandatory training, learning or development’.
Overall staff job satisfaction has seen a slight improvement from 2015 to 2016. When
compared to other acute trusts, the results for ‘satisfaction with immediate manager’
and, ’satisfaction with support from colleagues’ are below the national average as is
‘satisfaction with pay’. The former will be addressed through the Trust Staff Survey
Action Plan.
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Seven Day Services
The Seven Day Services work stream continues to respond to any quality issues at
weekends, though these have reduced since better engagement and support of the
clinical and non-clinical teams in the development and integration of seven day services
across the Trust.
Work undertaken during the 2016/17 period saw the achievement of the milestones
agreed in the Service Development Improvement Plan. The “Internal Professional
Standards for the management of non-elective patients at Hinchingbrooke Hospital”
policy approved (IPS) was approved and was embedded across the Trust. Work to
ensure safe working hours for medical staff and a review of their working patterns
and rostering has also been undertaken. Work commenced on this late December
2016, which will continue to be fully compliant by August 2017. A review of the
Echocardiography and Endoscopy Service Review was conducted, with the outcome
that there was no sufficient demand to increase the current provision of service. The
shift handover review was completed and a revised policy was developed. Any further
work on this shift review will form part of the standardisation of processes across North
West Anglia Foundation Trust.
This has contributed to a significant improvement in the Trust’s Hospital Mortality
Standardised Ratio (HSMR) for weekend emergency admissions which has improved
from 106.23 for the period February 2015 to January 2016 to 74.8 for the
corresponding period in 2016/17

7days
The Seven Day
Services work
stream continues
to respond to any
quality issues at
weekends
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Financial performance
Feb-17

Mar-17

YTD

I&E variance - £K

TARGET Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16
>=0

-268

-35

201

-467

-1,121

-1,558

-1,324

-1,266

-1,366

-1,162

-368

-2,417

-11,153

I&E variance YTD
(internal stretch) - £K

>=0

-268

-304

-103

-570

-1,690

-3,248

-4,573

-5,839

-7,205

-8,367

-8,735

-11,153

-11,153

I&E variance YTD - £K
(NHSi plan)

>=0

-269

-304

27

71

-1,548

-3,152

-4,178

-5,286

-6,851

-7,810

-8,151

-11,153

-11,153

Cash variance to plan

0

18

-265

-259

211

652

156

788

1,342

955

1,239

2,224

876

Capital Forecast

>=0

0

0

0

496

496

496

496

496

496

0

0

0

Payment policy
compliance %

<=10%

92.0%

80.0%

85.0%

87.0%

82.0%

78.0%

76.0%

77%

79%

80%

76%

78%

78.0%

CIP variance to plan
YTD (internal) - £K

>=0

134

115

62

-60

-160

-198

-262

-474

-532

-318

-433

-408

-408

CIP variance to plan
YTD (NHSi plan) - £K

>=0

198

481

502

201

-67

-73

-103

-354

-601

-919

-1,352

-1,760

-1,760

Signed

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Contract signature
- CCG

Jul-16

Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17

Income and Expenditure
Following another challenging year, the Trust has reported an adjusted deficit of
£21.2m, a £11.4m variance to the stretch target agreed with NHSI in the first quarter of
2016. The main drivers to the variance to plan are outlined below:
£m

Control total

-9.8

S&T Funding

-3

Merger costs

-0.6

Pay costs

-4.8

Non pay costs

-3.3

Non-operating costs

0.3

Total Variance

-11.4

Outturn

-21.2

The control total includes £4m of nonrecurring Sustainability and Transformational
Funding (STF) on the condition that financial and operational performance trajectories
are achieved.
Increases in elective activity were negated by decreasing non-elective and maternity
activity.
Pay costs were £4.8m higher than plan driven by reliance on non-substantive staff that
accounted for 15% of pay costs. The Trust had some success in enforcing national
agency caps with impact across all Divisions during the year. The non-delivery of c£1.8m
cost improvement schemes had an impact on variances in agency and income budgets.
Non-operating costs were under budget, driven by a change in the dividend payable
due to the change in deficit.
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Cost Improvement Programme
The Trust had an internal Cost Improvement target of £6.2m for 2016/17 (5.3% of
expenditure) to reflect the size of the financial deficit. The actual delivery was £5.04m,
85% of plan and 3.7% of the final expenditure. The main reasons for the variance
were: performance against non-elective activity growth, private patient income and
theatre efficiency, which all delivered improvements but not to the degree planned.
Capital Programme
The Trust incurred Gross Capital Expenditure of £5,295k in 2016/17 that included the
schemes below:
• New MRI Scanner - £1,324k
• Donation from Cambridgeshire Constabulary for the development of a Sexual
Assault Referral Centre (SARC) - £800k

Of the £5,295k
expenditure,

£410k
came from
donations from the
Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS
Trust Charity.

• Woodlands Cancer Centre - £562k
• PFI lifecycle capital costs - £496k
• IT schemes - £486k
Of the £5,295k expenditure, £410k came from donations from the Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust Charity.
Patient experience and quality of care remain central to the ambitions of the Trust. As
a result, our investment strategy continued to be executed throughout 2016/17 and
required further capital borrowing in that financial year.
Cash flow
Given the financial deficit and level of capital expenditure in 2016/17, loans worth
£26,931k were agreed with the Department of Health Independent Trust Financing
Facility (ITFF) Committee to ensure the Trust retained sufficient working capital.
The amount includes £5,600k shortfall of funding from 2015/16 and £1,715k of
borrowings to support the net position of the Trust going into merger and a capital
loan of £1,241k . The Trust has signed up to the ‘Better Payment Practice Code’
(BPPC). By signing up to the BPPC the Trust undertakes to:
• Pay suppliers on time - Pay within the terms agreed at the outset; no changes to
payment terms during the term of the contract; no difference of practice towards
smaller companies.
• Give clear guidance to suppliers - Provide clear guidance on payment terms;
communicate complaints and disputes system; advise promptly if any invoice may
not be paid to the agreed terms.
• Encourage good practice - Request lead suppliers to encourage adoption of this
code.
As shown in the table over page, the Trust did not achieve its required BPPC target
of paying 95% of all valid invoices within 30 days. Performance for non-NHS invoices
has deteriorated from 2015/16 due to cash flow pressures at the middle of the year.
Payment of NHS suppliers has worsened in 2016/17, with 39% of invoices paid within
30 days.
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Better Payment Practice Code

Number

£’000

Total bills paid in the year

42,255

59,292

Total bills paid within target

35,293

48,627

84%

82%

1,245

10,977

490

6,264

39%

57%

Non NHS

Percentage of bills paid within target
NHS
Total bills paid in the year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within target

The cash flow issues experienced by the Trust during the financial year have a direct
correlation to the performance against this standard.

£186k

income, including
many donations
for the planned
Macmillan Woodlands
Cancer Centre
development.

Charitable donations
Charitable donations come from many different sources including members of the local
community, patients and carers, and local organisations. In 2016/17, these totalled
£186k in income, including many donations for the planned Macmillan Woodlands
Cancer Centre development.

Auditor remuneration

£
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The Trust has incurred costs of £85,000 (2015/16, £103,000) in respect of the audit of
the financial statements. There were fees of £12k payable for audit services covering
the Quality Account and separately £12k for auditing the Charitable Funds Accounts
both in 2015/16.
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Public Interest Disclosures - Our Partnerships
We work in close partnership with our colleagues in Primary Care to
provide responsive clinical services. We strive to continually improve
the clinical care we offer to best meet the needs of patients, their
families and the local community that we serve.
Commissioners
During 2016/17 the Trust was commissioned to provide a range of services from six
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in the region.
• NHS Cambridgeshire
• NHS Bedfordshire
• NHS Lincolnshire
• NHS Norfolk
• NHS Northamptonshire
• NHS Suffolk
The majority of the Trust’s income comes from NHS Cambridgeshire (90%).

NHS Providers
The Trust also works closely with other NHS Providers across Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough, including Cambridgeshire University Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust, Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Cambridgeshire
Community Services NHS Trust, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation
Trust and Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. The Trust also has links with
Bedford Hospital NHS Trust. where the Trust is not able to provide full time provision
itself, it has innovative arrangements with other Trusts, including Cambridge University
Hospitals Foundation Trust and Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust to share consultant care. We are therefore able to provide a wide and specialist
level of care for a hospital of our size.

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough System Sustainability and
Transformation Programme
As described in the Chairman’s and Chief Executives foreword to the Annual Report,
the Trust is taking a full and active role within the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
System Sustainability and Transformation Programme (STP). Delivering high quality,
timely and cost effective care to our local community are core components of our
strategic objectives. The STP will give a clear clinically led focus on improving standards,
financial stability and adapting services to a growing and changing community.

Local Authority Overview and Scrutiny
We maintain an effective dialogue with our colleagues at the Cambridgeshire County
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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Council Health Committee together with colleagues from the Huntingdonshire
District Council Overview & Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-Being). We have recently set
up quarterly liaison meetings with members of the Cambridgeshire County Council
Health Committee in order to bring members up to-date with current issues and
developments at the Trust, together with areas of joint interest.
We also work closely with Healthwatch Cambridgeshire whose representatives sit on
the Trust’s Patient Experience Group.
We take seriously our responsibilities and commitments to our stakeholders and
partner organisations and value their continuing support of the hospital.

Other organisations
The Huntingdonshire Community Cancer Network (HCCN) is an innovative programme
that is delivering better cancer patient care and support closer to home whilst reducing
costs to the NHS. It delivers against the National Cancer Reform Strategy and is a joint
endeavour between Hinchingbrooke Hospital and the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough
Clinical Commissioning Group. The Huntingdon model, initially part of a 2 year pilot
funded by NHS East of England, has led the way in the East of England and is now
receiving enquiries from other commissioners looking to adopt this model of care.
The team provides clinical treatments at home (where clinically appropriate) and early
assessment of emergency symptoms in liaison with the hospitals acute teams. This can
frequently keep patients out of hospital or enable patients to be discharged home early
with enhanced clinical support.
HCCN offer information and education to patients & their families at point of diagnosis;
they offer help and advice on managing symptoms and importantly helping patients
with cancer to develop the skills to maintain their own health and independence and
being that support for as long as they are needed.

Community Partnerships
The Chaplaincy Team provides pastoral, spiritual and religious care to patients, relatives,
staff, volunteers and visitors day and night throughout the year – to people of all
faiths and none – across all areas of the hospital. Previous Care Quality Commission
(CQC) reports have commended the Chaplaincy service, stating, “The support that the
chaplaincy staff gave to patients and hospital staff was outstanding. The Chaplain had
a good relationship with the staff, and was considered one of the team. The number of
initiatives set up by the Chaplain to support patients was outstanding”.
The Chaplaincy Service has worked closely with colleagues in our Critical Care Centre
to provide an annual Memorial Service for relatives to come and remember loved ones
who have died in the Hospital. The service, which takes place on the third Sunday of
February each year, had over 70 attendees this year. Similarly, we hold a Memorial
Service on the first Sunday in November annually for parents who have lost babies
through miscarriage, stillbirth or neonatal death. Both services are well attended and
are profoundly moving and supportive occasions. We see this as part of our on-going
commitment to patients, relatives and staff.
Over the last year we have continued to embed several initiatives to develop stronger
partnerships with local schools and colleges and the Trust continues to be actively
involved with the National Apprenticeship Scheme. Our Apprenticeship and Widening
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Participation lead works with schools and other organisations to promote and support
apprenticeships across the Trust; organising work experience; and promoting healthrelated careers in local schools. We have apprenticeships across 14 departments,
including clinical healthcare support, business administration and facilities.

Volunteers
Our Volunteers represent the diverse communities within the catchment area of
Hinchingbrooke Hospital. Involving Volunteers allows the hospital to engage people
from the local community and benefit from a wide range of skills and experience to
complement our work and enhance our services.
2016-17 has seen a full redevelopment of its Voluntary Services with a more
structured approach adopted by the Trust to ensure Volunteering is fit for purpose as
recommended in the Kate Lampard enquiry. The initial aims of Volunteering was to
increase the numbers to ensure the Trust is supported by an appropriate number of
Volunteers, to achieve this a new volunteers policy was adopted and work began on a
full evaluation of Volunteering.
During this period HHCT has been accredited with the ‘Five Star Focus’ award after
external audit by the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Volunteer Centre which
recognises excellence in Volunteer Management. The Trust has seen an increase in
active volunteer numbers from 92 up to 150 providing over 1600 hours of support
monthly.
A focus on the quality of our Volunteer Services has enabled the Trust to recruit
and retain Volunteers who offer support in various roles where a need has been
identified within a ward or department. New volunteer roles within the Trust have
included additional volunteer support in Audiology, X-ray, Medical Records, Cancer
Information Volunteers, Bereavement and a Pharmacy round to support the patient
discharge process. A more accessible volunteer programme has increased the diversity
of our Volunteer team and seen active involvement of Volunteers from Community
partnerships supporting volunteers with disabilities and the introduction of Young
Volunteers from local colleges.
Ward Volunteers have had a significant impact on the patient experience providing
1:1 support to patients with feeding difficulties and carrying out activities to include
singing, tea parties, knitting and art. Volunteers are invaluable to the Trust and make a
meaningful difference to so many, their support extends to various roles including
– Chaplaincy
– Catering
– Ward Support
– Bereavement
– Cancer Support
– Reception/Meet & Greet
– Information Volunteers
– Maternity
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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– Office/Administration/Committee
– ENT
– Eye Clinic
– Gardening
Volunteers are embedded into the culture of Hinchingbrooke Hospital with volunteer
roles centred on the patient’s needs, one patient’s feedback sums up the impact
volunteers have on the wards “I can’t thank the volunteers enough for the way I have
been looked after they were so friendly & supportive with nothing too much trouble”.
Volunteers also support the meal times offering further resources to ensure all patients
needing additional help with food have the 1:1 support they need “I managed to get
a patient to eat her meal after she had not eaten for 3 days by spending time with her
and offering her encouragement” said one volunteer from Apple Tree Ward. As well as
the vital support volunteers give they also arrange additional activities and encourage
social interaction away from their beds, a volunteer from our Cherry Ward said “I
managed to get 3 ladies sitting at the table with the table laid up for lunch including a
pretty table cloth. They loved it. I left them to it but kept checking on them. They were
talking and really enjoying themselves. They thanked me afterwards and it made it all
worthwhile”
In carrying out ward activities volunteers assist in the recovery of patients by reducing
boredom, stress, anxiety, increasing stimulation and getting patients actively
participating in their care plans.
Volunteers support completion of various Trust audits and surveys to actively participate
in ensuring that wards and patient areas meet with the high expectations and safety
regulations stipulated in the policies, recent ward deep cleans were made all the more
bearable for patients and staff when volunteers arrived to ensure their move to another
ward had minimal impact on them with one HCA saying “It went really well and with
their help I was free to help in other ways. It is always a pleasure to have volunteers on
our ward”.
With the introduction of Young Volunteers in our Apple Tree Ward we have been
able to offer patients the chance to meet and be supported by a younger generation
of volunteers looking to develop a career in the health & Social Care sector, we have
been proud to support their learning whilst at the same time enhance our patient
experience. Young Volunteers really make a difference and our patients enjoy their
company, the Senior Ward Sister commenting “I love having the young volunteers
they are making such a difference and the patient’s they speak to love them”.
Hinchingbrooke recognises the NHS England pledge to the #iwill campaign to increase
young people involved in health and social care and sees the involvement of young
volunteers key to the successes of volunteering.
Hinchingbrooke Volunteer team increases the opportunity for patients to voice their
concerns appropriately and through the involvement of patient advocate volunteers we
are able to provide a visible presence on the wards, advising patients on how to raise
concerns or feedback on their care, this reduces the escalation and enables issues to
be resolved at the earliest opportunity or to receive support from PALS if required. An
open communication with patients can encourage a culture where we can learn from
our actions and change behaviours if identified to inform future practice. This has an
impact on the quality of care and enables the Trust to continuously meet the demands
of patients in a pressured environment.
40

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

We are proud as a volunteer team to support the fabulous work of our Research
and Development team where our Patient Research Ambassadors represent the Trust
to promote the trust research programme and awareness events having become
recognised in our region as a success story for the PRA volunteer role.
Thanks to the kind donations of the Huntingdon Community to our charitable funds
we have been able to provide a uniform for our volunteer team to raise their profile
and make them clearly identifiable within the Trust, this makes them feel valued and
recognises the importance of their contribution. In addition an agreed key role of
Volunteer Coordinator was recruited from a successful approach to the Charitable
Funds Committee, this role supports the volunteers and coordinates the recruitment
to ensure volunteers meet all the safety requirements/checks and have completed the
intensive mandatory training needs. The Volunteer Team is able to actively engage with
the community and was recently awarded £3000 to develop the hospital gardens,
Tesco also supported our volunteers and wards at Christmas to provide gifts and a new
Amazon wish list has received gifts for wards and patients to benefit from.
The Volunteer services team also coordinate external organisations volunteering
within the Trust offering vital services to our patients, one volunteer who is a trained
counsellor provides voluntary group support to our cancer nurses in the Woodlands
Centre where the staff really benefits from the additional support, this has a knock on
effect to patient care, a nurse from the Woodlands Centre said of the service “Your
sessions give us insight into our behaviours and values and I am sure allow us to
examine what we do and ways we could do it more effectively “. Other organisations
include Huntingdon Radio, Cornerstone, NADFAS, Friends of Hinchingbrooke and local
Car Schemes who transport our patients to and from the Trust for appointments.
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Public Interest Disclosures - Sustainability
Introduction
In line with the 2014 National Sustainable Development Strategy,
delivering high quality, timely and cost effective care to our local
community remains fundamental to our strategic plans. We
continue to make progress within the Trust and as the national
sustainability agenda gathers pace, the work done by the
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation
Programme will provide a strong clinically led focus aimed at
improving standards, financial stability and ensuring services are
adapted to a growing and changing community.
Improving sustainability management and reporting is a work in
progress and in recognition of our efforts, HHCT was one of 40
Trusts to be awarded a Certificate for ‘Excellence in Sustainability
Reporting 2015-16’ by the NHS Sustainable Development Unit.
Achievements in 2016-17
This has been a challenging year, which has seen an overall improvement in carbon
emissions but some activities tempered by uncertainty over the future direction of the
Trust. While our 2015 Sustainable Development Plan, with an emissions reduction
target of 20% by 2020, remains in place, it is proving a significant challenge and will
need to be reviewed as part of the updated SDMP for the new North West Anglia NHS
Foundation Trust.
We are now seeing the benefits of investing in a new Energy Centre with 2 Combined
Heat and Power Units (CHP) at the end of 2015. Based on full year analysis, the Trust’s
expectation of reducing electricity grid take by c 2M Kwh pa, has been exceeded and
the decision to link the old MARS unit has seen cost and emissions benefits.
Forward energy markets remain unpredictable and the shift in balance between
commodity and non-commodity elements presents an ongoing challenge; however,
this year, our whole site energy spend was £1.025m, £181k lower than last year.
Other successes this year include • Opening of the new Macmillan Woodlands Centre at the end of August which
will transform the care environment for cancer patients living in Huntingdon and
surrounding areas. Work is still to be completed on a Garden Room which will offer
access to a range of wellbeing activities, including meditation sessions.
• Staff wellbeing supported by the CQUIN programme, has been actively promoted
through a number of initiatives including - Healthy Eating, Work Out at Work,
Mental Wellbeing and a cycle purchase scheme. On National NHS Sustainability Day
in March we ran a Wellbeing event with a free Dr Bike service for staff
• We continue to work on improving patient experience through improved pathways
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and integrated working with our local partners and learning from patient feedback
through the ‘Friends & Family’ questionnaire
• At regional level, we continue to play a lead role in the East of England Network,
set up with the support of the NHS Sustainable Development Unit. Extending
across the Eastern region, our regular Masterclasses and networking sessions attract
Sustainability Managers from both provider and commissioning environments,
sharing best practice.

Performance Data
The comparative data below covers energy, water and waste levels with associated Co2
emissions. We use the SDU carbon conversion factors, which include Scope 3 emissions
for electricity and gas.
Data relates to whole site, including the Treatment Centre, Children’s Unit and a
number of smaller embedded units. with the appropriate percentage recharged out.
Energy
Co2 Emissions

2008-09
Base Year

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

Electric

4173

4098

4112

4059

4100

3833

2940

Gas

2682

2387

2778

2592

2659

3285

3789

387

348

307

315

254

92

21

7242

6833

7197

6966

7013

7210

6750

Gas Oil
Total

Comparative Energy Consumption
Description

Electric Grid
(Mwh)
Gas Mwh
Gas Oil Litres

2008-09
Base Year

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

7,672

7,571

7,610

7,503

7,540

6,668

5687

14,574

13,236

15,133

14,115

13,440

15,656

18,128

128,000

114,000

111,000

114,000

92,000

27,000

7800

Mwh = 1000Kwh

Comparative Energy Costs
Description

2011-12
£k’s

2012-13
£k’s

2013-14
£k’s

2014-15
£K’s

2015-16
£k’s

2016-17
£K’s

743

771

760

859

767

666.5

405.5

495

471

443

416

354.5

Gas Oil

89.5

87

90

60

23

4

Total

1238

1353

1321

1362

1206

1025

Electric
Gas

This year we have recorded our lowest emissions against the base year 2008-9 with a
492 tonne reduction and 33% of electricity generated on site.
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Key savings have been on gas usage which has been lower than forecast and reducing
oil use to generator backup only. Against this overall electricity usage (grid and
generated) is up. This is partly attributable to higher occupancy and additional air
handling but requires further monitoring.
Hinchingbrooke participates in the CRC Scheme, which will end after the 18-19
compliance year, and based on the above, our tax for this year will be approximately
£120,000 based on a tax rate of £17.20 per tonne
Water
Co2 Emissions

2011 -12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015 -16

2016-17

53

59

55

60

64

72

67586

73,450

69890

76500

74000

75800

127

135

137

154

148

160

Water& Sewerage
Consumption
£ k’s Cost

Overall we have seen a small 2.4% increase in use this year with associated additional
cost. The increase is a reflection of general higher occupancy and usage across the site
and not attributable to any specific activity. Additional sub metering to 3 high volume
areas - HSDU, Renal Dialysis and Endoscopy - continues to improve our understanding
of high usage areas and we may look to extend to other areas. Also, by moving these
supplies to Trade Effluent agreements ahead of a return to 90% sewerage charging on
volume in April 16, we have been able to offset the annual cost increase by c £12k.
We anticipate very little will change following the April 17 market deregulation and
have registered our interest in the forthcoming CCS Framework to ensure we secure
the best pricing and service options going forward.
Waste
In line with SDU guidance, reporting is based on tonnage and costs rather than CO2.
Comparative Volumes & Costs
£k’s

2012-13
tonne

£k’s

2013-14
tonne

£k’s

2014-15
tonne

£k’s

2015-16
tonne

£’s

2016-17
tonne

£k’s

Clinical

254 104

245

88

239

75

243

76

235

75

280

87

Domestic
Landfill

288

276

33

193

37

82 10.5

43

7

22

4

243 28.5

302

42

325

47

145

146

6

128

7

Stream

2011-12
tonne

34

Domestic
RDF
Recycling icl
WEEE

161

Total

703 145

7

164

3.5

695 124.5

247

3.5

679 115.5

6

713 121

726 130

755 145

Although overall tonnage for the year has increased we have made further progress
towards our zero landfill target, with only 4.6% of non-clinical waste now going to
landfill. The landfill element has halved since last year, but better ways of handling this
stream need to be explored.
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We also continue to perform well on keeping recycling costs low in a tight market,
with some cost neutral and generating streams, but expect cost pressures in the WEEE
market for the foreseeable future.
Clinical waste has seen a marked increase this year on bagged and pharmaceutical
streams and a planned move to ‘Tiger’ bags for non-infectious streams will help
address this from a cost perspective. Although suitable for alternative treatment, our
clinical waste continues to be incinerated at Redditch, where approximately 70% of the
by -product goes into steam generation for the Alexandra Hospital.

Going forward
The coming year will present new challenges as we address both the collective and
diverse needs of the new combined Trust. Key priorities for the coming year include• Development of a new Board approved Sustainable Development Plan.
• Implementation of an effective communications and engagement strategy with a
‘Green Champion‘ network.
• A stronger focus on promoting sustainable travel options to staff ie car sharing,
public transport and cycling and opportunities to strengthen links with other local
employers on joint events and initiatives.
• Improved measurement and reporting beyond core Estates activities, using SDU
guidance.

Summary
Since the 2008 base year, HHCT has made significant progress on many fronts
including - built environment, energy and waste management, staff wellbeing,
improved patient pathways and community engagement projects.
Going forward we will build on these foundations, working with the Peterborough and
Stamford sites as part of the newly formed North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust to
deliver sustainable, cost effective services.

Emergency preparedness
The Trust remains compliant with NHS Core Standards for Emergency
Preparedness, Resilience and Response as Category 1 Responders under the Civil
Contingencies Act 2004.

Involving patients and the public
The Trust provides information and assurance to the public on the Trust’s performance
against its principal risks and objectives in a number of different ways, including:
• actively seeking the views of patients through local initiatives, nationally mandated
surveys and patient involvement in the Patient Led Assessments of the Care
Environment (PLACE) audit
• stakeholder briefings to inform and receive feedback on key topics
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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• briefings to our General Practitioners, including a schedule of monthly Education
Evenings
• public meetings of the Trust Board
• publication of the Trust’s operational and financial performance in the papers
considered at public Trust Board meetings
• the Trust’s registration status with the Care Quality Commission is published on the
Trust’s website
• the Trust Board’s public accountability obligations

Consultation and communication with staff
The Trust is committed to working in partnership and involving and engaging staff in
the planning and delivery of services. The Trust has several partnership forums including
a formal and frequent mechanism for consultation, negotiation and communication
with recognised trade unions. In addition we maintain specific forums for various
communities of interest including medical staff.
Timely and interactive staff engagement is recognised as a clear link to excellent patient
care. Every member of our staff plays an important role in ensuring that we deliver high
quality services and in support of this the Trust is rolling out a programme of work from
April 2016 focussed on a review of our values and in doing so we will engage with
staff and patients to find out how what they feel is at the heart of creating a culture of
inclusion and engagement with staff and patients.
This will be called ‘I care … good and beyond’ and will support our quality plan, focus
on improving the results for our staff from the national staff survey and develop a
recognised, values based behavioural framework, which will be developed by our staff
for our staff.
The work will be is based around five main streams of work:
• Launch events on communication and engagement for all members of staff during
Spring 2016.
• Re-launch of cultural survey to include key areas from National Staff Survey and
staff and patient feedback.
• ‘In your shoes’ patient listening events for staff during May and June.
• Development of Values based materials and training to support the values based
employee life cycle and which will feed into recruitment screening and interviews,
induction and appraisals.
• Review feedback from staff and patients, sign off values and behavioral framework
in August 2016 for full launch across the organisation in October 2016.
Measuring the Value - An ongoing review of staff engagement through inclusion of
relevant topics within the quarterly cultural survey, reviews and local induction and the
recruitment experience will provide a data set which will clearly measure improvement.
This improvement will also align the patient experience.
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Equality, Diversity and Inclusion
The Trust continues to provide a range of policies and schemes to promote equality
and diversity across all aspects of our services and throughout our employment
practice. Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations
under equality, diversity and inclusion are complied with.
Our patients and workforce represent a cross section of people from diverse cultures,
backgrounds and experiences. Our objective is to improve services and experiences
for everyone, but particularly those who belong to vulnerable and protected groups.
We aim to achieve this by assessing health inequalities, and providing an inclusive,
accessible environment, which is free from discrimination and where diversity is valued,
for people who use and work in the Trust.
Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Committee, which reports directly to our Quality
and Safety Committee, brings together service users and staff, including people who
are experts in inclusive practices and people who represent specific equality groups.
Our detailed Annual EDI report, which is published on the Trust’s website, uses data
taken from the Trust’s Electronic Staff Record (ESR) and identifies possible trends/
patterns for further action. Some of the recruitment monitoring data from NHS
Jobs suggests patterns of difference in the performance of ethnic groups within our
Recruitment & Selection processes. This has been identified in our diversity action
plan. We acknowledge that there is lower representation of staff from some protected
groups in roles at band 8A and above. In order to try to reduce the differential all
shortlists are anonymous. Also the recruitment process has changed to include more
focus groups and greater independence on interview panels.
The Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) also identified disproportionally
low representation of Black and Minority Ethnic staff at senior levels within the
organisation. The changes to recruitment processes will be monitored to identify any
impacts. The Trust also holds the Job Centre Plus two tick symbol.
In November 2016, the Trust hosted its first EDS2 grading event. At the event, we
presented evidence and asked our local stakeholders (patients & staff) to grade how
well we are complying with the Equality Act and Public Sector Equality Duty.
Further details can be found on pages 149-151 in the Trust’s Quality Account for
2016/17.
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Health, safety and occupational health
We are committed to providing safe environments in which staff can work and to
prevent staff from becoming unwell as a result of their work. The health and wellbeing
of staff is linked to our People Strategy and HR Work Plan.
The first national Department of Health CQUIN for Health and Wellbeing was launched
in March 2016. The Trust’s Occupational Health team has led on achieving the Health
and Well-being CQUIN indicators for Hinchingbrooke Hospital during 2016/17 which
included establishing a Health and Well-Being Working Group set up in April 2016.
The main function of this Working Group was to agree the staff initiatives that are
included in the Health and Wellbeing plan and ensure that the indicators for the Health
and Well-being CQUIN are monitored, achieved and the data submitted to the CCG.
The key CQUIN indicators for the Health and Well-being include introducing a range
of physical activity schemes for staff; improving access to physiotherapy services for
staff; ensuring that 75% of all clinical staff are vaccinated for influenza and introducing
a range of mental health initiatives for staff. HHCT achieved the CQUIN target for
the 2016/17 influenza vaccination as 76.9% of clinical staff were vaccinated with the
Influenza vaccine.
Since the introduction and implementation in 2014 of a fast track access for staff
to MSK Physiotherapists, 787 staff have been seen by Occupational Health MSK
Physiotherapy service. Staff can self -refer for all MSK related injuries/conditions that
are both work and non- work related and the average waiting time for a physiotherapy
appointment is 1-2 days. The cost benefit to the organisation is a reduction in staff
absence due to MSK injuries/conditions and an improvement in staff engagement and
feeling valued by the organisation for providing this service. The Occupational Health
MSK Physiotherapists have developed monthly ‘Work out at Work’ events for staff. This
is a 30 minute practical session on prevention and self- management for a range of
MSK conditions that are common in the working age population.
Staff health and well-being continues to be the top priority for both Health and Safety
and Occupational Health. This includes monitoring and assisting staff who report
symptoms of work-related stress. Staff can obtain 24/7 support from the Employment
Assistance Provider CiC. CiC is actively promoted to all staff including the opportunity,
when required, for staff and their dependants to access a range of employee assistance
advice, the provision of six structured counselling sessions and in 2016 the introduction
of access to sleep counselling.
Managing stress at work and resilience awareness training is available to all staff. For
the past 10 years the OH Advisors and the H&S Advisor have jointly arranged stress
focus groups for staff that are experiencing increased stress in their work areas. The
function of stress focus group is to identity the work factors that are contributing to
increased stress levels in the workplace and develop a solution focused approach.

Signed
Stephen Graves
Accountable Officer on behalf of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
Dated: 18 May 2017
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4. Accountability Report
A. Corporate Governance Report:
Directors Report
Each Director confirms that they do not hold any additional directorships or significant
interests outside the Trust which would conflict with the interests of the Trust. Each
Director knows of no information which would be relevant to the Auditors for the
purpose of their audit report, and of which the auditors are not aware, and; has taken
‘all the steps that he or she ought to have taken’ to make himself/herself aware of any
such information and to establish that the auditors are aware of it.

Statement of the Chief Executive’s Responsibilities as the
Accountable Officer of the Trust
The Chief Executive Officer of NHS Improvement, in his capacity as the Accounting
Officer (AO) for the NHS Trust Development Authority legal entity, requires NHS Trust
Chief Executive Officers, as the Accountable Officer for their respective organisations,
to give him assurance about the stewardship of their organisations to supplement
the accounts. The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the s
Memorandum issued by the Department of Health. These include ensuring that:
• there are effective management systems in place to safeguard quality standards,
public funds and assets and assist in the implementation of corporate governance;
• value for money is achieved from the resources available to the Trust;
• the expenditure and income of the Trust has been applied to the purposes intended
by Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them;
• effective and sound financial management systems are in place; and
• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of
State with the approval of the Treasury to give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs as at the end of the financial year and the income and expenditure,
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities
set out in my letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer.

Signed
Stephen Graves
Chief Executive
Dated: 18 May 2017
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Annual Governance Statement
My Annual Governance Statement (AGS) has been written describing the governance
arrangements in place at the Trust during 2016/17.
Structure and accountability changes introduced within the 2015/16 financial year
were made in the in the context of the establishment of a conventional NHS Trust
Board. During 2016/17, the Trust continued to review and strengthen its governance
arrangements and took into account the findings of an in-year CQC re-inspection visit
in May 2016 together with continuing feedback and support from NHS Improvement
(NHSI).
At the same time, the Trust has taken a full and active role within the Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough System Sustainability and Transformation Programme (STP).
Delivering high quality, timely and cost effective care to our local community are
core components of our strategic objectives. The STP gives a clear clinically led focus
on improving standards, financial stability and adapting services to a growing and
changing community across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. This included increased
collaboration for the Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust (HHCT) with Peterborough
and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (PSHFT) following a ‘Memorandum of
Understanding’ signed by both organisations in December 2015. Working with PSFHT,
the Trusts considered four options as part of the Memorandum of Understanding:
1 do nothing;
2 collaborate on back office functions;
3 collaborate on back office functions, some services and put in place a single
executive team;
4 create a single organisation.
The outcome from the option appraisal process was that option 4 was identified
as the preferred option in offering HHCT improved sustainability both clinically and
financially. In May 2016, the Trust Board considered an Outline Business Case for the
formal merger and acquisition of HHCT by PSHFT. The HHCT Trust Board supported
the recommendation to proceed to a Full Business Case on the basis that the creation
of a single organisation through merger or acquisition was the preferred option as it
delivered notable clinical and service benefits for patients and saved the taxpayer more
than £9m per annum recurrently.
In September 2016, the FBC was approved by both the HHCT and PSHFT Boards for
the formal acquisition of HHCT by PSHFT with effect from 1 April 2017. Approval was
subject to the consideration of:
• the output of the further staff and public engagement in October and early
November 2016; and
• the output of the independent Clinical Senate review of the proposed way forward
for the integration of clinical services (as set out in the Clinical Senate terms of
reference)
At their November 2016 Board meetings, both Boards ratified the decision to merge
having reviewed the above additional inputs and feedback. The HHCT Board took the
decision to proceed to merge with PSHFT as HHCT was not sustainable either clinically
or financially in its current form due, in the main, to its size as one of the smallest NHS
Acute Trusts in the country. In 2015/16 the Trust ended the year with a £17.1m deficit
on a £112m turnover giving the Trust one of the biggest deficits in percentage terms
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in the country. In addition, the sustainability of clinical services for the population of
Huntingdonshire would not be possible as a stand-alone organisation.
These benefits will impact positively on our local population groups and provide them
with more assurance that they will have sustainable local services in the longer term.
Modern medicine is becoming increasingly complex with the direction of travel towards
more specialised services contained within larger clinical teams serving a critical mass
of patients. NICE guidance continues to recommend increasing specialisation. The
additional pressure of 7-day-a-week services will increase problems in staffing complete
rotas. The Trust is starting to struggle to provide some services sustainably.
The Trust has received from the External Auditors an unqualified opinion on its financial
statements in that the accounts present a true and fair view on the Trust’s financial
position for the 2016/17 financial year; however, External Audit has qualified its
conclusion on how the Trust has secured arrangements for the economic, efficient and
effective use of resources due to the Trust’s current financial position. The Trust has
reported a financial deficit position of £21.17m in 2016/17 against a planned forecast
deficit position of £9.8m. Within the variance of £11.37m is £3m relating to nonattainment of sustainability and transformation funding (STF) income of 2016/17
This qualification is set in the context of the Trust’s cumulative financial deficit position
to date and recognises that the Trust has developed a short and medium term plan to
achieve a financial break even position for the Trust by 2021/22 as part of a merger
with PSHFT on 1 April 2017 to become North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust (NW
Anglia NHS FT). The merger between HHCT and PSHFT will realise savings of more than
£9m per annum. The Trust is also working with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
System Sustainability and Transformation Programme in order to review all the options
necessary to achieve financial balance and deliver safe, sustainable quality services for
the community, across the county.
Following a formal re-inspection visit in May 2016, the CQC Report, published on 11
August 2016, confirmed the Trust’s services are safe, effective, caring, responsive and
well-led, rating the Trust as ‘Good’ in all five of these domains. I am deeply grateful
to all our staff for their hard work and commitment to improving the quality of care
Hinchingbrooke provides, and during 2016/17 we continued to focus on improving
engagement and communication with patients, staff and other stakeholders,
listening to their concerns and ideas as we further improved care for the people
of Huntingdonshire and beyond. The Trust has a strong and proud history of staff
commitment to delivering safe, quality services. Infection rates are among the best
in the country, the Trust has a low mortality rate and patient experience results are
good. The Trust has excellent staff who are passionate about delivering services and
a supportive community, who are also passionate about continuing services on the
Hinchingbrooke site.
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1. Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding quality standards and public funds for which I am personally responsible,
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for
ensuring that the Trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources
are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
in the NHS Trust Accountable Officer Memorandum.

2. Governance framework
The Trust’s management structure, governance systems and supporting processes
are one of a conventional NHS Trust model. A Trust Board is in place comprising a
Chairman, five non-executive and five executive directors. Each of our non-executive
directors is appointed to bring their personal qualities and experience to the Board.
Three Directors also attended Board meetings in 2016/17 without voting rights – our
Directors of Human Resources and our Estates and Facilities Director, and from July
2016 our Chief Operating Officer (COO) when the Deputy CEO and COO roles were
separated.

Trust Board
The Trust Board is responsible for making sure we provide safe, effective and
compassionate care to our patients at the same time as supporting their families,
relatives and carers. It does this by making the key decisions that affect our hospital
and setting the values, aims and strategic direction for the Trust. It also reviews
performance against our objectives, as well as against national standards and targets.
It has overall responsibility for the effective control of the Trust and is accountable,
through its Chairman, to NHS Improvement and the Secretary of State for Health.
Arrangements are in place to ensure that statutory functions are legally compliant.
The Trust Board has six key functions:
• to set strategic direction, define objectives and agree plans for the Trust
• to monitor performance and ensure corrective action
• to ensure financial stewardship
• to ensure high standards of corporate and clinical governance
• to appoint, appraise and remunerate executives
• to ensure effective dialogue with external bodies and the communities we serve
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Board Members
Chairman Mr Alan Burns (to 31 December 2016)
Ms Hilary Daniels (from 1 January 2017)
Non-Executive Director and Vice Chair – Ms Hilary Daniels (to 31 Dec 2016)
Non-Executive Director – Professor Chris Welsh
Non-Executive Director – Mr Alan Brown
Non-Executive Director – Ms Sarah Dixon
Chief Executive Officer – Mr Lance McCarthy
Chief Operating Officer/Deputy Chief Executive Officer – Ms Cara Charles-Barks
(until July 2016)
Deputy CEO - Ms Cara Charles-Barks (August 2016 - Dec 2016)
Director of Nursing Midwifery and Quality – Ms Deidre Fowler
Medical Director – Dr Melanie Clements – (from 1 June 2016)
Dr Catherine Hubbard (from 1 April to 31 May 2016)
Deputy CEO - Dr Melanie Clements – (from 1 January 2017)
Director of Finance – Mr R Jackson (with effect from 11 April 2016)
Chief Financial Officer - Mr I O’Connor (1 April 2016 – 10 April 2016)
Two Directors also attended Board meetings in 2016/17 without voting rights:
Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development
Ms Peta Poynton (from 1 January 2017)
Ms Joanna Cousins (to 16 December 2016)
Estates and Facilities Director – Mr Mark Cammies
Chief Operating Officer

Mr Phil Walmsley (July 2016 – 17 March 2017)
Mr Phil Holland (from 18 March 2017)

Committees of the Trust Board
The Trust’s governance structure is designed to ensure appropriate oversight, scrutiny
and challenge, and to ensure lessons are learnt and good practice is followed. There
are six Board Committees consisting of:
• Audit and Risk Committee
• Quality and Safety Committee
• Workforce Committee
• Finance and Performance Committee
• Remuneration Committee
• Charitable Funds Committee
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Attendance Records for Trust Board Public Meetings 2016/17
Trust Board

2016/17

Mr A Burns, Chairman (to 31 December 2016 )

4/5 – 80%

Ms H Daniels, Chairman (from 1 January 2017)

2/2 – 100%

Ms H Daniels, Non-Exec Director and Vice-Chair
(to 31 December 2016)

4/5 – 80%

Prof C Welsh, Non Exec Director

6/7 – 85%

Mr A Brown, Non-Exec Director

7/7 – 100%

Ms S Dixon, Non-Exec Director

5/7 – 70%

Mr L McCarthy, CEO

7/7 – 100%

Mc C Charles-Barks, Deputy CEO/COO (until July 2016)

2/3– 67%

Mc C Charles-Barks, Deputy CEO (August – Dec 2016)

2/2 – 100%

Ms D Fowler, Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Quality

7/7- 100%

Dr M Clements, Medical Director, (from 1 June 2016)
Deputy CEO (from 1 January 2017)

4/6 – 67%
4/6 – 67%

Dr C Hubbard, Medical Director (from 1 April to 31 May 2016)

1/1 – 100%

Mr R Jackson, Director of Finance

7/7 – 100%

Ms J Cousins, Director of Human Resources (to 16 December 2016)

5/5 – 100%

Ms P Poynton, Director of Human Resources (from 1 January 2017)

2/2 – 100%

Mr M Cammies, Estates & Facilities Director

6/7 – 85%

Mr P Walmsley, Chief Operating Officer (July 2016 – 17 March 2017)

4/4 – 100%

Mr P Holland, (from 18 March 2017)

1/1 – 100%

3. Risk assessment
the approach adopted by the Trust with Risk Assessment is designed to manage risk
to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims
and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
of effectiveness. Risk assessment is based on an on-going process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of HHCT.
Risks are evaluated as to the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact
should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of Risk Assessment has been in place in HHCT throughout the year ending
31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. I
am also responsible for ensuring that the system of internal control and assurance is in
accord with public sector policy and good healthcare practice.
The Trust takes its learning through a range of mechanisms including root cause
analysis of serious incidents, clinical supervision and reflective practice, individual
and peer reviews, performance management, continuing professional development
programmes, clinical audit and application of evidenced based practice.
A review of the Trust’s Accountability Framework was undertaken in 2016/17 in order
to bring it in line with the NHSI Single Oversight Framework. A review of the Trust’s
Integrated Governance Framework was also undertaken in August 2016.
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Principal risks
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust is able to demonstrate full year compliance
with the corporate governance principle that the Trust Board maintains a sound system
of internal control to safeguard public and private investment, the NHS Trust’s assets,
patient safety and service quality through the Board Assurance Framework (BAF).
A comprehensive review and refresh of the BAF was undertaken at the start of
2016/17 to ensure that it reflected more clearly the agreed strategic objectives for the
Trust for the year, together with their associated risks. Ten key risks were identified in
the BAF against the three key strategic objectives for the Trust in 2016/17:
• continuing to embed our quality improvements across the hospital for the direct
benefit of our patients and local community;
• continue to ensure we are as efficient as possible and provide value for money in all
we do: and
• continuing to be part of county-wide discussions and solutions for sustainable care
across the wider healthcare system.
The key risks have been scored using the Risk Scoring Matrix (likelihood v severity) and
controls and assurances are in place against each key risk. A review of the Corporate
Risk Register (CRR) was also undertaken to ensure that it was aligned to the key risks
in the BAF. The BAF is reviewed at every Board public meeting; every Board Committee
meeting; every meeting of the Hospital Management Committee (HMC) and quarterly
by the Audit & Risk Committee. The CRR is reviewed at every HMC.
The Executive Director with accountability for managing and monitoring each
individual risk is clearly identified in the BAF. The BAF also identifies the key controls
or gaps in place to manage each of the principal risks and explains how the Hospital
Management Committee (HMC) and Trust Board takes assurance that controls are in
place and operating effectively.

Capacity to handle risk
As Chief Executive Officer, I am accountable for the overall risk management activity
within the Trust. In discharging these responsibilities I was assisted by the following
Directors during 2016/17:
The Director of Finance has delegated responsibility for co-ordinating the
management of financial and business related risk and assisted me in ensuring that the
Trust’s resources were managed efficiently, economically and effectively.
The Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Quality has delegated authority and
responsibility for the professional leadership of the Nursing and Allied Health
Professions. The role also has delegated responsibility for overall Quality Improvement,
to include being accountable to the CEO as the Director of Infection Prevention and
Control. The role has delegated responsibility for reporting to the HMC and Trust
Board on the achievement of quality and patient experience standards. The role also
has overall accountability for risk and incident management, patient and staff health
and safety, and complaints and claims management, with delegated responsibility
for managing the strategic development and implementation of organisational risk
management and governance. This included the establishment and monitoring of
assurance mechanisms and provision of associated reports to the HMC and Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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Board. This delegated authority and responsibility sits with the Director of Nursing,
Midwifery and Quality for the assessment and reporting of clinical risk and quality, and
the Chief Operating Officer for non-clinical risk issues.
The Medical Director has delegated responsibility for co-ordinating and monitoring
the Trust’s revalidation programme for Medical Staff in line with the ‘Maintaining High
Professional Standards’ system for the NHS. To that end the Medical Director also held
the title of ‘Responsible Officer’ until June 2016, where after the Responsible Officer
title was held by another Doctor reporting to the Medical Director. Since October
2015, the Medical Director has also held responsibility for complaints and claims
management, together with Inquests.
The Chief Operating Officer (COO) has delegated authority for managing the Trust’s
performance delivery both against national operating standards and key performance
indicators together with local contractual standards set by the Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG). The COO also has delegated responsibility that Information Governance
arrangements at the Trust are suitable and is the Trust’s Senior Information Risk Owner
(SIRO).
The role also has delegated authority and responsibility for coordinating the
management of organisational risk and had overall accountability for managing the
strategic development and implementation of organisational risk management and
governance for non-clinical risk issues. This included the establishment and monitoring
of assurance mechanisms and provision of associated reports to the HMC and Trust
Board.
The Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development has
delegated responsibility for overseeing all HR functions across the Trust including
recruitment, staff training and managing absence as well as developing the Workforce
and People Strategy.
The Estates and Facilities Director has delegated responsibility for managing the
Estates Strategy and the comprehensive Capital Programme for the Trust.
As Chief Executive I also hold responsibility for managing the strategic development
and leadership of the Trust’s quality improvement agenda; ensuring the implementation
of the quality management improvement agenda; and ensuring the safety and quality
of the care provided to our patients.

Information Governance
Information Governance within the Trust is managed and controlled within the
implementation of the Information Governance Policy & Information Governance
Framework. The IG Policy is owned by the Information Governance Steering Group
which meets quarterly. As at 29 March 2017, the Trust had an overall compliance score
of 82% (satisfactory) against a target score of 80% for Level 2 of version 13 of the
Information Governance Toolkit.
Information Governance training is mandatory for all our staff. All new staff to the
Trust undertake their IG training in a face-to-face setting, attending the Trust Induction.
Annual refresher training is undertaken by one of the following options:
• Intranet PowerPoint Presentation
• IG Workbook
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• e-Learning
• Face-to-face Team Sessions
An annual programme of information asset ownership across all the divisions is in
place with nominated Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Administrators
leading on information risk management and governance for their area. These areas
continue to collate information asset registers and identifying information flows. All
owners and administrators are offered dedicated training.

Statement of SI data loss or confidentiality breaches
In 2016/17, the Trust reported three Serious Incidents (SI) (Level 2 IGSIs must be
reported to the Information Commissioners Office (ICO), Department of Health and
other central bodies/regulators), which relate to failure to enforce/follow appropriate
organisational or technical safeguards to protect information. One was associated
with the loss of a ward handover sheet and inappropriate access to personal data. The
second was associated with a bag stolen from a car containing paperwork with patient
identifiable information, an encrypted laptop and work diary. The third incident related
to access levels concerning the Trust’s electronic handover tool. Whilst these three
incidents were regrettable, it represented a notable improvement compared to 2015/16
when 10 serious incidents were reported.
Work has continued throughout the year to remind staff of their responsibilities to
ensure the safe storage and disposal of confidential information. Trust induction
training, yearly mandatory training, regular electronic communications and computer
screensavers were just some of the successful methods we adopted to collaborate with
staff. Regular monitoring of ward handover sheets and the use of the confidential
waste bins was also closely monitored and fed back on a monthly basis to the
leadership teams of the Clinical Divisions. An updated communication campaign on
the importance of using confidential waste bins was also launched during November
2016. The Information Governance Team has recently thanked all staff trust-wide for
their focus and attention in using the confidential waste bins correctly to dispose of
confidential information at all exit areas of the Trust. There have been no Level 2 SIRIs
since November 2016.

Cyber Security Incidents
There was one Cyber Security Incident during 2016/17. The Department of Health
commissioned NHS Digital to develop a Care Computer Emergency Response Team
(CareCERT) who subsequently notified the Trust of a detection of a device on the
Hinchingbrooke site with a potential virus infection. The IT team investigated and
removed the virus from the network. No data was lost or compromised.
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4. The Risk and Control Framework
The Trust Board and Hospital Management Committee (HMC) are responsible for
ensuring an effective framework of processes, procedures and controls is in place
to enable risk to be assessed and managed effectively by the Trust. A range of risk
management training is provided to staff and there are policies in place which describe
the roles and responsibilities in relation to the identification, management and control
of risk. All relevant risk policies are available to staff through the Trust’s Intranet.
Board Committees, as described earlier in the AGS, have responsibility for elements of
the Risk Management System. NED Committee members play a key role in the internal
control assurance processes as part of their oversight, challenge and scrutiny role. The
Chairs of each Board Committee provide escalation reports to each public Trust Board
meeting.
In accordance with the Trust’s Risk Management and Assurance Strategy, the Trust
manages risk - including clinical, operational, financial, information and workforce
- through the risk management processes described in the Integrated Governance
Framework and the Risk Management and Assurance Strategy. Wherever possible,
risks are prevented from materialising through the consistent implementation
and application of policies. Performance outcomes are monitored through the
implementation of policies, monitoring practice and performance. The monitoring
of performance in relation to the key risk areas was delegated from the Trust Board
to the HMC and executed via its committees. The Assurance Framework and Risk
Management processes are subject to annual audit. The Risk and Control Framework
incorporates a range of policies to provide a structured and consistent approach to the
management of risk, including:
• Risk Management and Assurance Strategy
• Information Governance Policy and Information Governance Framework
• Duty of Candour Policy
• Freedom to Speak Up [Whistleblowing Policy]
• Serious Incident Procedure
• Responding to Feedback (including Complaints Management)
The Corporate Risk Register [CRR] is developed through a combination of ‘top down’
and ‘bottom up’ risk assessments, fed mainly by information received from risk
assessments and reported incidents/complaints and claims. All risks included within
the CRR are reviewed regularly to ensure controls and risk mitigation measures are
embedded within the activities of the Trust. There are also separate divisional and
departmental risk registers in place. Risks are assessed by Trust managers in accordance
with the Trust’s risk assessment procedure, supported by the Trust’s Governance and
Risk Team. After assessment, risks are incorporated onto the CRR if they score >
_15 and
compromise the achievement of one or more of the Trust’s Strategic objectives. The
CRR is reviewed monthly at HMC and receives quarterly scrutiny by the Audit and Risk
Committee. All risks within the CRR, bar newly identified risks, have mitigation plans
and include a mixture of infrastructure, resource and compliance risks.
As part of the review of the Trust’s Accountability Framework for 2016/17, an
Integrated Performance and Quality Report has been developed further which covers
key performance indicators and standards under the CQC domains of Caring, Effective,
Responsive, Safe and Well Led. The Trust’s Accountability Framework mirrors the NHSI
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Single Oversight Framework 2016/17. The Integrated Performance and Quality Report
facilitates improved triangulation of information across the areas of quality, safety,
finance, workforce and operational performance and is submitted to the Trust Board
and HMC on a monthly basis. The performance assessment criteria also include the
action being taken to address any identified weaknesses.
The Trust’s Patient Access Policy was updated during 2015/16 and endorsed by the
HMC at its March 2016 meeting. As part of this process the Access Policy was shared
with the CCG, and comments incorporated for implementation from 1 April 2016.
The NHS Intensive Support Team (IST) was invited by our Associate Director of
Operations (Surgery) to provide the Trust with dedicated support to improve the
overall management of Referral to Treatment (RTT) waiting times and to identify the
causes of the decline in performance experienced by the Trust during 2015/16. As a
result, the IST carried out a two-day diagnostic visit to the Trust in July 2016. The key
findings from this review were set out in a report and outlined a lack of a systematic
robust organisation wide approach to the management and delivery of RTT standards;
loss of RTT expertise from the organisation over the last two years leading to local
interpretation of RTT rules resulting in the under reporting of RTT waiting times. The
IST made a range of recommendations which the Trust has subsequently accepted
and formulated into a Recovery Action Plan which is reviewed and monitored regularly
through the Finance & Performance Committee of the Trust Board. In November 2016,
the Trust Board also held a Development Session which included a presentation from
the IST on the 18 Weeks RTT Pathway, patient rights under the NHS Constitution and
key 18 Weeks RTT Board Assurance Indicators.
The Audit & Risk Committee was pleased to note at its March 2017 meeting, that
the Local Counter Fraud Service (LCFS) Annual Report and Review Tool had been
completed with an overall RAG rating for the Trust against the NHS Protect Standards
for Providers for 2016/17 of ‘Green’ as opposed to ‘Amber’ for 2015/16. This reflects
the commitment the Trust has given to fraud deterrents and the positive progress and
engagement had been made by the Trust and its staff during the year with LCFS.
As referred to above, there are six formal committees of the Trust Board:

Audit and Risk Committee
In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and the NHS
Codes of Conduct and NHS Code of Accountability, the Audit and Risk Committee
provides the Trust Board with an independent and objective review of its financial
systems, financial information, system of internal control and compliance with laws,
guidance and regulations governing the NHS.
The primary role of the Audit & Risk Committee, which met at least quarterly during
2015/16, is to conclude upon the adequacy and effective operation of the Trust’s
overall internal control system. The Audit Committee provides independent monitoring
and scrutiny of the processes implemented in relation to governance, risk and internal
control.
The Audit & Risk Committee’s work focusses on the framework of risks, controls
and related assurances that underpin the delivery of the Trust’s objectives. The Audit
& Risk Committee has a crucial function in reviewing the Trust’s external reporting
disclosures in relation to finance and internal control, including the Annual Report and
Accounts together with the AGS. In addition, the Committee reviews progress with
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the production of the Annual Quality Account which was also subject to independent
review.
The Audit Committee’s membership is drawn exclusively from independent NonExecutive Directors of the Trust Board (two) and is supported by the work programmes
of Internal and External Audit. This ensures independence from executive and
operational management. The Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee reports key issues
to the public meeting of the Trust Board.
In addition to routine internal audits, the Audit Committee commissions assurance
reviews from Internal Audit on issues which the Trust had identified as requiring
strengthening and performance improvement or where new arrangements had been
implemented. As part of the Internal Audit Service delivered by BDO, a Local Counter
Fraud Service (LCFS) was provided which focusses on a proactive and reactive role to
deter fraud.
The Directors forming the Audit & Risk Committee in 2016/17 were:
• Ms H Daniels - Chair and Non-Executive Director
• Mr A Brown - Non Executive Director
• Mr L McCarthy - Chief Executive Officer
• Mr R Jackson - Director of Finance
• Ms Cara Charles-Barks - Deputy Chief Executive Officer/Chief Operating Officer/
(until July 2016)
• Ms Cara Charles-Barks - Deputy CEO (August 2016 - Dec 2016)
• Mr P Walmsley (PW) - Interim Chief Operating Officer
(July 2016 – 17 March 2017)

Quality and Safety Committee
The Quality and Safety Committee is the overarching committee of the Trust Board
with responsibility for clinical risk management, clinical governance, quality assurance
and learning from experience.
The Quality and Safety Committee is a multi-disciplinary committee whose remit
is to drive the quality improvement agenda across the three streams of patient
safety, experience and quality of care. During the year, the Committee has reviewed
and monitored progress with the Trust’s Quality Improvement Plan against the
recommendations made by the CQC. The Committee also oversees the production of
the annual Quality Account which gives details of previous quality performance and
outlines priorities for the year ahead. Clinical quality improvement is monitored through
the Trust’s operational Patient Safety Group. Exception reporting for clinical risk and
improvement is provided to the Quality & Safety Committee who provide non-executive
oversight and reporting to the Trust Board. The Committee also provides assurance
to the Board, that the supporting processes are embedded in Divisions, and that Trust
wide groups promote learning, best practice and compliance with all relevant statutory
duties.
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Workforce Committee
The Workforce Committee is the overarching committee of the Trust Board with
responsibility for the delivery and assurance of the People Strategy. In addition it has
responsibility for ensuring the mechanisms are in place to support the development
of leadership capacity and capability within the Trust. It also has responsibility for the
development and design of the workforce, to ensure that the Trust has productive
staff, with the skills, competencies and information to meet the required contractual
obligations.
The Workforce Committee also ensures that the mechanisms of improving how the
Trust engages with its workforce are in place, so that they are motivated to do the best
they can for the organisation and for the communities the Trust serves. The Workforce
Committee also has responsibility for Organisational Development and Change
Management.

Finance and Performance Committee
The Finance and Performance Committee provides assurance to the Board that the
financial strategy, financial policies and efficiency plans support effectively the Trust’s
organisational strategy. The Finance and Performance Committee also conducts
an independent and objective review of the Trust’s financial and investment policy,
financial risk and performance issues. The Committee has delegated powers to
scrutinise, on behalf of the Board, all high level financial matters and operational
related matters, providing assurance regarding reported results together with
compliance with NHS Improvement requirements.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a formal committee of the Trust Board with delegated
powers to determine arrangements on matters relating to remuneration, terms,
conditions and performance for Executive and Very Senior Manager (VSM) posts
including all Board level post holders. The Remuneration Committee will determine
for all staff, under delegated powers, arrangements for any non-contractual payment,
in line with Department of Health (DoH) and NHS Improvement guidance. It will also
agree any contracts that are not covered under nationally agreed terms and conditions.

Charitable Funds Committee
The Charitable Funds Committee has been formally constituted by the Board in
accordance with its standing orders, with delegated responsibility to make and
monitor arrangements for the control and management of the Trust’s charitable
funds. The purpose of this Committee is to oversee the management, investment
and disbursement of charitable funds within the regulations provided by the Charities
Commission and to ensure compliance with the laws governing charitable funds.
In addition to providing escalation reports to each public Trust Board meeting, the
Chairs of each Board Committee also complete an Annual Report which provides
assurance to the Board on the effectiveness of each Committee, and how the
Committee has complied with the duties delegated by the Board through its terms of
reference, and identifies key actions to address developments in the Committee’s role
and activities.
This has strengthened the governance and control environment.
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5. Review of the Effectiveness of Risk Management and
Internal Control
Risk management is taken into account in the organisation in a variety of ways. All
staff members are responsible for responding to incidents, hazards, complaints and
near misses in accordance with the appropriate policies and procedures. Clinical
Divisions, Directorates and Departmental Managers are responsible for developing
and maintaining local risk registers and overseeing the management of incidents.
These staff members are also responsible for reviewing risk action plans and ensuring
they are implemented through business planning and other established routes. Risk
processes are monitored and reviewed by the HMC and Audit & Risk Committee which
provides assurance to the Board on the process. Risk Registers are held at Department,
Directorate and Divisional level and there is an established escalation process that feeds
the CRR and BAF with clear thresholds for escalation. The Trust has fully implemented
the DATIX Patient Safety Incident Reporting System to strengthen incident reporting
processes.
Risks to the achievement of national operating standards and the Trust’s Strategic
Objectives are identified and mitigated through the monthly HMC, as well as via daily
escalation, weekly Divisional and Departmental meetings, speciality reviews to agree
priorities and clinical practice, clinical escalation processes and arrangements to work
with partners in primary and secondary care.
Incidents which identify a possible harm to one of our patients are reviewed in
greater detail to establish the extent of any harm and the factors behind that. Such
initial investigations will in cases where harm is suspected, lead to a SWARM being
convened. A SWARM is a multi-disciplinary meeting at which the events and the
circumstances are reviewed along with the outcome for our patient to identify whether
an avoidable serious harm has occurred. This process will review the cases against
the Serious Incident criteria and if appropriate a full root cause analysis investigation
will be undertaken. If the panel do not consider the criteria are met, a non-reportable
investigation may be carried out to ensure appropriate lessons and learning are
extracted from the case.
The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy is aligned to our vision and strategic goals. As
referred to above, the BAF is submitted to the Audit & Risk Committee on a quarterly
basis.

6. Significant ISSUES
Maintaining sustainable services at Hinchingbrooke Hospital that are safe and high
quality together with achieving a sustainable financial position for the Trust were key
issues facing the Trust in 2016/17.
These issues were aligned to the BAF and the three key strategic objectives for the Trust
in 2016/17, together with their associated key risks.
The Trust reported one ‘Never Event’ in 2016/17 (using the national definition) which
occurred in June 2016 following a wrong site shoulder anaesthetic block. A root
cause analysis investigation identified both clinical and organisational lessons to be
learned including a review of the WHO checklist content for local anaesthetic block
procedures. Completion of the action plan relating to this incident was shared with the
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG and was monitored by the Trust Board’s Quality
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and Safety Committee. The action plan has been completed and closed by both the
Trust and the CCG.
The Trust has reported a financial deficit position of £21.17m in 2016/17 against a
planned forecast deficit position of £9.8m. Within the variance of £11.37m is £3m
relating to non-attainment of sustainability and transformation funding (STF) income
of 2016/17. This position has been driven in the main by an increased reliance on high
cost locum agency medical and nursing staff to support the delivery of safe services
and the need to open contingency beds (above our funded establishment) to support
increases in demand and activity. The Trust has continued to see an increase in A&E
attendances compared to last year which has been exacerbated by an increase in the
number of frail elderly patients with complex health needs. We have also seen an
increase in the number of patients awaiting a delayed transfer of care (DTOC) with
a long length of stay. Like many other hospitals we also face the challenge of people
using our Emergency Department inappropriately for minor health problems which has
placed an additional strain on our resources.
Although the total locum bank and agency spend for 2016/17 continues to be
significantly below the levels experienced in 2015/16, it is substantively ahead of
the budget plan that was set. Despite the variance to plan, the Trust has delivered
efficiencies. Against the internal Cost Improvement Programme target for 2016/17
of £6.2m, the Trust delivered £5m (circa 85%). The proposed merger with PSHFT
and the early year STP discussions have had a material impact on our costs through
uncertainty impacting on recruitment and retention, and the consequent higher than
planned use of agency staff, and also our inability to deliver in-year savings related to
support services. The Merger on 1 April 2017 will enable these savings to be realised in
2017/18.
The Trust generally performed well against the mandatory performance indicators;
however, failed to deliver the A&E four hour waiting time standard for the year with
a full year performance of 79.78% against the target of 95%. System wide pressures
meant that we were not able to maintain performance consistently during the year.
The factors impacting on performance have, in the main, been bed pressures resulting
in the lack of capacity impacting on the ability to maintain capacity and flow in the
Emergency Department. There have also been fluctuations in major and ambulance
attendances, causing challenges with maintaining flow consistently through the
hospital.
Actions to improve performance include significant ongoing work with our external
partners to manage delays (including DTOCs). Daily escalation calls are now in
place with all partners, with a significant reduction in lost bed days. Adherence
to professional standards continues to improve. This is evidenced by an increasing
number of patients being seen by a senior clinician within 60 minutes of arrival in the
Emergency Department. A Turnaround Plan is in place to improve performance and
reduce capacity which is managed on a daily basis. Following discussions with NHS
Improvement and NHS England through the A&E Delivery Board, further plans are in
place, with a new Emergency Nurse Practitioner (ENP) starting recently and ENP cover
now provided seven days a week 10am to 10pm; additional overnight middle grades in
ED; and weekend Physicians to improve flow and capacity through increased weekend
discharges. I am pleased to report that these actions impacted on our performance
against the 95% A&E Waiting Time Standard with a month to date position in March
of 89.25% and full year performance of 79.78% against the target of 95%. With
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effect from 9 March 2017, we met the 95% standard for seven days in a row and on
22 March we achieved 100% performance.

Head of Internal Audit opinion
The Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion for 2016/17 is that, overall, “we provide limited
assurance over the governance, risk and control environment”. This is driven by the
Trust’s forecast financial deficit position of £21.7m in 2016/17, exceeding its target, and
perceived weaknesses in the system of internal controls. The opinion also recognises
the continued improvements made to the Trust’s governance arrangements.
Of the 11 Internal Audit Reports undertaken in 2016/17, two were designated as
‘Limited’ in terms of both the design of controls and operational effectiveness, and one
in terms of operational effectiveness.
The two reports that were designated ‘Limited’ in terms of both the design of controls
and operational effectiveness, covered Bank and Agency, and Emergency Preparedness,
Resilience and Response (EPRR). The one report that was designated ‘Limited’ in terms
of operational effectiveness covered Resource Planning (E-Rostering).
Significant progress was made with the implementation of Internal Audit
recommendations during the year. Of the 49 recommendations issued in the year, six
remain as outstanding. Five of these related to the Bank and Agency Audit Report
which were associated with the use of the e-rostering system. A significant investment
both in time and cost would be needed to address these and it had been agreed that
they would be better managed through North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust (NW
Anglia NHS FT) as the merged organisation from 1 April 2017.

Head of External Audit opinion
External Audit has provided the Trust with an unqualified opinion on its financial
statements in that the accounts present a true and fair view on the Trust’s financial
position for the 2016/17 financial year; however, External Audit has qualified its
conclusion on how the Trust has secured arrangements for economic, efficient and
effective use of resources due to the Trust’s current financial position. The Trust
reported a financial deficit position of £21.17m in 2016/17 and failed to deliver yearend financial performance in line with the planned financial deficit position agreed with
NHS Improvement.
The accounting policies of the Trust include a requirement to be a going concern. Due
to the merger of HHCT with PSHFT to form North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust
on 1 April 2017 this requirement is satisfied as part of the merger conversations and
financial agreement with NHSI. For this reason the accounts have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

64

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

7. Conclusion
The Trust has continued to make good progress this year with implementing improved
systems of governance and internal control to meet the Trust’s policies, aims and
objectives which have been applied on a consistent basis. The Trust takes seriously
the issues raised through the Head of Internal Audits ‘limited assurance’ opinion and
will ensure that the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual report is shared with North West
Anglia NHS Foundation Trust, as part of the handover/legacy handover arrangements
and documents.
Accountable Officer:
Stephen Graves
on behalf of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Signed
Dated: 18 May 2017
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B. Remuneration and Staff Report
Scope of the Remuneration Report
The Remuneration report summarises the Trust`s remuneration policy in connection
with those staff who are defined as very senior managers. For the purpose of this
report, very senior managers are defined as those persons who have served as
Executive, Non-Executive Directors, or Directors of the Trust Board during 2015/16. The
report also describes how the Trust applies the principles of good corporate governance
in relation to directors’ remuneration.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a formal committee of the Board. Meetings are
convened in accordance with the terms of reference for the Committee together with
the Trust’s standing orders and standing financial instructions.

Remuneration Policy
The Non-Executive Directors of the Trust Board were appointed by the Secretary of
State with effect from 1 April 2015 (onwards) and receive a fee determined by the
Secretary of State which was administered by the former NHS TDA.
Future appointments to the Trust Board will be determined by NHS Improvement on
behalf of the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State sets out the annual fee NonExecutive Directors receive. Executive Directors’ and Director salaries are kept under
review by the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee will also
take account of guidance from the Secretary of State for Health to NHS Chairs about
Executive pay. The remuneration structure does not include provision for performance
related pay, but in common with all Trust staff, Executive Directors are subject to
objective setting and their performance is reviewed against these targets.
Contracts of employment do not provide for any additional remuneration on
termination other than those terminated due to redundancy. All Executive Directors
may participate in the NHS Pension Scheme, which provides salary related pension
benefits on a defined benefit basis.
The Trust has not made any awards to past senior managers in 2016/17.
Details of directors’ remuneration and pension benefits are set out in the tables below.
The remuneration included relates only to the period in which they have held a senior
manager position at the Trust.
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Name and Title
2016-17

Benefits in
Kind
Salary (rounded to
(bands of the nearest
£5,000)
£100)

Clinical
All pensionExcellence
Other
related
Awards Remuneration
benefits
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£2,500)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£00

£000

£000

£000

£000

Alan Burns, Chairman to Dec 2016

20-25

0

0

0

0

20-25

Hilary Daniels, Non-Executive Director to
Dec 2016 and Chairman from Jan 2017

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Chris Welsh, Non Executive Director

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

Alan Brown, Non-Executive Director

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

Sarah Dixon, Non-Executive Director

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

140-145

0

0

0

37.5-40

180-185

0-5

0

0

20-25

0

25-30

130-135

0

0

0 192.5-195

325-330

Cara Charles-Barks,
Chief Operating Officer to Jul 16 and
Deputy CEO from Aug 16 to Dec 16

95-100

0

0

0

15-17.5

115-120

Phil Walmsley, Chief Operating Officer
to Jul 2016 to17 Mar 2017

80-85

0

0

0

40-42.5

125-130

0-5

0

0

85-90

62.5-65

155-160

Catherine Hubbard,
Medical Director to May 2016

10-15

0

0

90-95

0

100-105

Melanie Clements,
Medical Director, from 1 Jun 2016

70-75

0

15-20

0

35-37.5

125-130

Deirdre Fowler,
Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Quality

95-100

0

0

0

2.5-5

95-100

Joanna Cousins, Director of HR and
Organisational Development to Dec 2016

80-85

0

0

0

0

80-85

Peter Poynton, Director of HR and
Organisational Development from Jan 2017

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

210-215

0

0

0

15-17.5

225-230

Lance McCarthy, Chief Executive Director
Ian O’Connor, Director of Finance to Apr 16
Roy Jackson, Director of Finance to Apr 16

Phil Holland,
Chief Operating Officer from Mar 17

Mark Cammies,
Director of Estates and Facilities
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Name and Title
2015-16

Clinical
All pensionExcellence
Other
related
Awards Remuneration
benefits
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£2,500)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£00

£000

£000

£000

£000

30-35

0

0

0

0

30-35

Fiona Wilson,
Non-Executive Director from Apr15

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

Chris Welsh,
Non-Executive Director from Apr 15

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

Hilary Daniels,
Non-Executive Director from Apr 15

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

Sarah Dixon,
Non-Executive Director from Oct 15

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

Alan Brown,
Non-Executive Director from Oct 15

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

Mike Burrows,
Non-Executive Director to Sep 15

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

Lance McCarthy,
Chief Executive Officer from Sep 15

80-85

0

0

0

37.5-40

120-125

Hisham Abdul-Rahman,
Chief Executive Officer to Aug 15

70-75

0

0-5

0-5

2.5-5

80-85

Ian O’Connor,
Chief Finance Officer from Apr 15

140-145

0

0

0

0

140-145

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

115-120

0

0

0

0

115-120

60-65

0

5-10

50-55

0

120-125

95-100

0

0

0

0-2.5

95-100

Joanna Cousins,
Director of HR and Organisational
Development from Nov 15

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

Patricia Williamson,
Director of HR and Organisational
Development to Oct 15

165-170

0

0

0

0

165-170

Mark Cammies,
Director of Estates and Facilities

200-205

0

0

0

0

200-205

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

Alan Burns,
Chairman from April 15

Richard Eley,
Chief Finance Officer to Apr 15
Cara Charles Barks,
Chief Operating Officer
Catherine Hubbard,
Medical Director
Deirdre Fowler,
Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Quality

Frances Carey, Director of Governance
and Risk to Sept 15
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Name and Title

£000

Lance McCarthy, Chief Executive Director

2.5-5

Roy Jackson, Director of Finance to Apr 16

£00

£000

Employer’s contribution to
stakeholder pension

*Real increase (decrease) in Cash
Equivalent Transfer Value

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at
31 March 2016

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at
31 March 2017

Lump sum as at pension age
related to accrued pension at
31 March 2017 (bands of £5,000)

Total accrued pension as at
pension age at 31 March 2017
(bands of £5,000)

Real increase (decrease) in
pension lump sum as at pension
age (bands of £2,500)

Real increase (decrease) in
pension as at pension age (bands
of £2,500)

Pension Benefits

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

5-7.5 40-45 105-110

593

543

51

20

7.5-10 27.5-30 50-55 160-165 1,185

987

192

19

Cara Charles-Barks,
Chief Operating Officer to Jul 16 and Deputy
CEO from Aug 16 to Dec 16

0-2.5

(2.5)-0 10-15

30-35

203

173

25

14

Phil Walmsley, Chief Operating Officer
to Jul 2016 to17 Mar 2017

0-2.5

5-7.5 15-20

45-50

281

219

42

11

Phil Holland,
Chief Operating Officer from Mar 17

2.5-5

0-2.5 10-15

30-35

181

149

31

12

Melanie Clements,
Medical Director, from 1 Jun 2016

2.5-5

0-2.5 35-40

95-100

614

567

39

11

Deirdre Fowler,
Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Quality

0-2.5

0-2.5 20-25

70-75

441

416

25

13

(2.5)-0 (5)-(2.5) 20-25

55-60

315

409

(23)

2

0

16

0

16

11

Peter Poynton, Director of HR and
Organisational Development from Jan 2017
Mark Cammies,
Director of Estates and Facilities

0-2.5

0

0-5

NOTES:
1. Lance McCarthy was invoiced by North Middlesex University Hospital from Sept to Dec 2015
when he transferred to the Trust’s payroll
2. Ian O’Connor was not in the pension scheme.
3. Mark Cammies was not on the Trust payrolluntil 1 May 2016. His costs were invoiced
byTransition Development and it’s predecessor organisation
4. Catherine Hubbard opted out of the Pension scheme prior to the start of 2015/16.
5. Joanna Cousins was invoiced by Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals Foundation Trust.
6. Phil Walmsley was invoiced by University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust.
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Pay Multiples
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest paid Director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid Director in Hinchingbrooke Health Care
NHS Trust in the financial year 2016-17 was in the range of £210,000 - £215,000. This
was 8.25 times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £25,528.
The salary of the most-highly paid Director in the financial year 2015-16, was in the
range of £200,000-£205,000. This was 8.17 times the median remuneration of the
workforce which was £24,799k.
The total remuneration includes, where appropriate, salary, non-consolidated
performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not
include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of
pensions.

Staff Report
a. Number of senior civil service staff (or Senior Managers) by band.
Band 8c

Band 8d

Band 9

Director

Grand Total

6

6

2

6

20

b. Staff numbers in post as at the end of March 2017 (whole time equivalents).
Staff Group

Total (WTE)

Add Prof Scientific and Technic

74.33

Additional Clinical Services

251.83

Administrative and Clerical

333.80

Allied Health Professionals

58.39

Estates and Ancillary

114.52

Healthcare Scientists

17.47

Medical and Dental

208.46

Nursing and Midwifery Registered

494.77

Grand Total

1553.57

c. Staff Composition – gender
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Gender

Director

Senior
Managers

Other
Employees

Grand Total

Female

3

7

1398

1408

Male

3

7

345

355

Grand Total

6

14

1743

1763

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

d. Sickness absence data
Staff Group

YTD (%)

Add Prof Scientific and Technic

4.03%

Additional Clinical Services

6.40%

Administrative and Clerical

3.21%

Allied Health Professionals

3.66%

Estates and Ancillary

5.35%

Healthcare Scientists

2.08%

Medical and Dental

1.24%

Nursing and Midwifery Registered

4.79%

Trust total

4.20%

e. Staff Policies applied during the year
Policy in relation to disabled employees – In line with the Trust’s Disability procedure,
the Occupational Health Team, support managers to make reasonable adjustments for
staff that have, or develop, a disability. The Trust is committed to ensuring that staff
who have a disability are able to join and be retained by the organisation.
f. Expenditure on consultancy
The Trust has spent £73k on consultancy in 2016/17. This was chiefly around
organisational design values project and external support on the collaboration process.
g. Off payroll engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and
that last longer than six months
Number

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

2

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

0

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

1

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

1

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

Of the engagements between 3 and 4 years, one relates to Mark Cammies, Director of
Estates and Facilities.
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Table 2: New Off-payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for
more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months
Number

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017

0

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving
the Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust the right to request assurance
in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

0

Of which:
assurance has been received

0

assurance has not been received

0

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the
financial year (1)

1

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed
“board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should include both
on payroll and off-payroll engagements.(2)

1

Mark Cammies, Director of Estates and Facilities, was partially on payroll from May
2016, and previously was off payroll.
h. Exit packages
Exit package cost
band (including any
special payment
element)
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Number
of other
departures
agreed

Cost of other
departures
agreed

Total number
of exit
packages

Total cost
of exit
packages

Whole
numbers only

£s

Whole
numbers only

£s

0

1

767

1

767

0

0

0

0

0

0

>£25,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total

0

0

1

767

1

767

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Whole
numbers only

£s

Less than £10,000

0

£10,000-£25,000

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the
provisions of the appropriate NHS Scheme. Exit costs in this note are accounted for
in full in the year of departure. Where the Trust has agreed early retirements, the
additional costs are met by the Trust and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health
retirement costs are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the
table. There have been no special payments in the year.
This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages agreed in the year. Note:
the expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in
full in a previous period.
Analysis of Other Departures
Agreements
Number

Total Value of
Agreements
£’s

Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs

0

0

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs

0

0

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service
contractual costs

1

767

TOTAL

1

767

NHS Pension Scheme
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the
scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in
accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations.
For more information, please refer to the Trust’s full accounts and statements for
2016/17. A full set of these can be obtained from the Communications Team at North
West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust, Peterborough City Hospital,
Edith Cavell Campus, Bretton Gate, Peterborough PE3 9GZ
Telephone 01480 847464 or email communications.hinchingbrooke@nhs.net.
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5. Independent Auditors’ Statement
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of Governors
of North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust in respect of
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
We have audited the financial statements of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
(the Trust) for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Trust Statement of Comprehensive
Income, the Trust Statement of Financial Position, the Trust Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity, the Trust Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 36. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2016-17 Government Financial
Reporting Manual (the 2016-17 FReM) as contained in the Department of Health
Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 and the Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary
of State with the approval of HM Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service in
England (the Accounts Direction).
We have also audited the information in Section 4(b) of the Remuneration and Staff
Report that is subject to audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes;
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes;
• the tables of exit packages and related notes;
• the analysis of staff numbers and costs and related notes; and
• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes.
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of North West Anglia NHS
Foundation Trust, as a body responsible for the accounts of the Trust, in accordance
with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph
43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the Council of Governors of the Trust those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Governors, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of Directors, the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of
the Accounts, set out on page 68, the Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards also require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors.
As explained in the statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities, as the
Accountable Officer of the Trust, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the
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arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Trust’s
resources.
We are required under section 21(3)(c), as amended by schedule 13 paragraph 10(a),
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Trust has made
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that
our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements
are in place.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the
Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This
includes an assessment of:
• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual
report and accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based
on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General in November 2016, as to whether the Trust had proper arrangements to
ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned
and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor
General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the
Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
for the year ended 31 March 2017.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on
whether, in all significant respects, the Trust had put in place proper arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Hinchingbrooke Health Care
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NHS Trust as at 31 March 2017 and of its expenditure and income for the year then
ended; and
• have been prepared properly in accordance with the National Health Service Act
2006 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Accounts Direction made under the National
Health Service Act 2006; and
• the other information published together with the audited financial statements in
the annual report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters:
• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the NHS
Improvement’s guidance; or
• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the Trust, or an
officer of the Trust, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or
would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has
begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014; or
• we make a written recommendation to the Trust under section 24 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014.
In respect of the following we have matters to report by exception:
• Proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
We report to you, if we are not satisfied that the Trust has put in place proper
arrangements to secure economy efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Basis for qualified conclusion on reporting by exception
At the start of the year the Trust agreed a planned deficit for the year ended 31
March 2017 of £9.8 million with NHS Improvement. It has reported a deficit of £21.1
million in its financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2017. Therefore it has
breached its duty, under paragraph 2 (1) of Schedule 5 the National Health Service Act
2006, to break even.
This issue is evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for planning finances
effectively, financial control and monitoring to support the sustainable delivery of
strategic priorities and maintain statutory functions.
On 1 April 2017 the Trust was merged with Peterborough and Stamford NHS
Foundation Trust to form North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust. One aim of the
merger is to address the Trust’s underlying financial deficit.
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Qualified conclusion on reporting by exception
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General in November 2016, with the exception of the matter(s) reported in the
basis for qualified conclusion paragraph above, we are satisfied that, in all significant
respects, Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2017.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Suresh Patel
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP (Statutory Auditor)
One Cambridge Business Park,
Cowley Road,
Cambridge CB4 0WZ
Date: 23 May 2017
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the
accounts
The directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006 to prepare
accounts for each financial year. The Secretary of State, with the approval of the
Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Trust and of the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash
flows for the year. In preparing those accounts, directors are required to:
Apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of State with
the approval of the Treasury;
Make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;
State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts.
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the trust and to enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned
direction of the Secretary of State. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied
with the above requirements in preparing the accounts.
By order of the Board

78

Date: 18 May 2017

Stephen Graves
Chief Executive

Date: 18 May 2017

Caroline Walker
Deputy CEO/Finance Director
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Part 1 - Introduction
1.1 Chief Executive’s Statement on Quality
I am pleased to introduce Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust’s Annual Quality
Account. This report provides an overview of the quality of care delivered between April
2016 and March 2017. There are relevant sections in the report detailing these and
highlighting a selection of the many improvements made during the year as well as the
aspects of care that Hinchingbrooke Hospital will continue to develop in 2017/18.
Quality of care is and always has been a key focus for the Trust and is now central to
the first of our three strategic objectives; to embed our quality improvements across the
hospital for the direct benefit of our patients and local people.
The Trust Board and Executive Directors gain assurance around this work from the
systems and processes put in place throughout the Divisional and Clinical Teams. To
support this, within the governance structure of the Trust, a Patient Safety Group
reports to a Non-Executive Director chaired Quality and Safety Committee. This is a
formal committee of the Board which scrutinises regularly the results from the internal
monitoring of care quality and progress made in plans drawn up to improve patient
safety, experience and quality of care.
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In addition to the internal scrutiny, external scrutiny of care is very much welcomed and during the
year, the Trust has been reviewed by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG), NHS Improvement (NHSI) and the Care Quality Commission (CQC). Any concerns raised and areas
requiring improvement have been incorporated in to a single composite quality improvement plan to
ensure every aspect is addressed, actioned and progress is monitored.
Following a formal re-inspection visit in May 2016, the CQC Report, published in August 2016, confirmed
the Trust’s services are safe, effective, caring, responsive and well led, rating us ‘Good’ in all five of these
domains. I am deeply grateful to all our staff for their hard work and commitment to improving the quality
of care Hinchingbrooke Hospital provides as reflected in these results.
The Trust has worked hard to meet the challenges experienced during the year and to ensure the focus
on high quality care is maintained. The Trust has experienced demand pressures and associated pressures
on capacity for inpatients and diagnostics as well as financial pressures. Addressing our financial concerns
and ensuring value for money is an equal priority to the provision of high quality care. To ensure that any
proposed savings schemes do not and will not have a negative impact on the quality of care delivered we
have a clear quality impact assessment process is in place to review every proposed savings scheme.
There has also been a strong emphasis in year on ensuring positive and good patient experiences. To be
able to do this consistently, patients views are regularly sought and acted upon through a range of surveys
and questionnaires and details are given in Part 3 of this report.
That is why I am particularly pleased that the Trust won the ‘Outstanding Achievement Award’ at the
national Heath Business Award Ceremony in November 2016. This award is presented to the NHS
Organisation that has achieved success in its role and brought benefits to the wider NHS through the
dedication and expertise of its staff. In 2016, we became the second fastest Trust to come out of special
measures and the only one to do so with a ‘Good’ rating, as well as becoming the most improved Trust for
patient experience.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all the patients, relatives, carers and stakeholders who have
contributed to our quality improvement activities during the year. On behalf of the Board, I would also like
to thank all members of staff for their ongoing provision of compassionate and professional care to those
needing the Trust’s services and who continue to strive for improvements in the care we deliver.
Although the responsibility for the management of Hinchingbrooke Hospital moves to the newly
formed North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust from 1 April 2017, the focus will remain on improving
engagement and communication with patients, staff, and other stakeholders, listening to their concerns
and ideas as we improve care for the people of Huntingdonshire and beyond. The Trust has a strong and
proud history of staff commitment to delivering safe, quality services. Infection rates remain among the
best in the country, the Trust has a low mortality rate and patient experience results are good. The Trust
has excellent staff who are passionate about delivering services and a supportive community, who are also
passionate about services on the Hinchingbrooke site.
The information contained in this Quality Account is to the best of my knowledge an accurate account of
the quality of our services.

Lance McCarthy
Chief Executive
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
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1.2 What is a Quality Account?
What are the required elements of
the Quality Account?
The Health Act 2009 required all healthcare providers to produce a Quality Account
and the NHS (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 specified the requirements
for the reports produced. Our Quality Account is an annual report produced by
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust. It aims to give an overview of the quality of
services provided by our organisation. The report can be used by the public to support
them to make informed choices about where they receive care.

1.3 About the Trust
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust (HHCT) is a district general hospital, providing
health care for the people of Huntingdonshire and surrounding areas. More than
160,000 people rely on our full range of acute hospital services. Hinchingbrooke is
a member of Cambridgeshire University Health Partners supporting excellence in
healthcare, research and education for the people of Cambridgeshire and beyond.
Hinchingbrooke Hospital is a modern purpose-built building which opened in 1983. We
provide a wide range of acute secondary care services a number in conjunction with
other NHS providers, including Cambridgeshire University Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust (CUHFT), Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (PSHFT),
Cambridgeshire Community Services NHS Trust (CCS) and Papworth Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust.
We are an Acute Trust with 210 general and acute beds. In our dedicated Treatment
Centre, there are an additional 21 beds specifically for day cases alongside 25 cabins
in the procedure unit. The Trust also has an Emergency Department, Maternity Centre
with 40 beds and dedicated facilities for private patients, which contribute to our
income. The Special Baby Care Unit (SCBU) together with children’s services at the Trust
are operated by CCS.
The main purchaser of our Trust’s services is Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) and we also provide services to a range of CCGs across
Bedfordshire, Northamptonshire, Norfolk, Lincolnshire and Suffolk. An increasing
number of referrals come from family doctors in areas which traditionally have been
referred to other hospitals.
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Part 2 – Priorities for improvement and
statements of assurance from the Board
In the Quality Account for 2015/16, the Trust identified 17 key improvement priority
areas – 15 amber and 2 red - all of which were included in the Trust’s Quality
Improvement Plan [QIP], which was monitored internally on a weekly basis and
presented to a monthly Oversight Group during the time the Trust was in special
measures. The improvements were part of an overall total of 68 key improvements
identified by the CQC in September 2014 and reflected in the Trust’s Quality Account
for 2014/15.
The QIP provided details of the specific objectives and timelines for completion and
was published to the Trust’s website for open access by the public, and provides details
of the priority areas for improvement. Each element has a brief description of actions
taken and RAG rating of progress (i.e. green – achieved, amber – achieved but not
within initial timescale, and red – not achieved). Those RAG rated areas in red were
carried forward into 2016/17

Priorities for Quality Improvement during
2016/17
These priorities were identified through review during the preceding year of information
received from various sources including patient feedback, complaints, incident and
serious incident investigation and visits/inspections to clinical areas by both Trust
staff and external visitors; for example, colleagues from the Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), the former NHS Trust Development
Authority (now NHS Improvement) and the Care Quality Commission (CQC). The
priorities were discussed with internal stakeholders at a community engagement/
external stakeholder event in April 2016, and commented on by the agencies invited to
submit commentary on the Quality Account (see Part 4 of this report).
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Domain

Safety
Pri-rity

Reason for
prioritisation

Measure

Monitoring

NHS Outcomes Framework
Domain 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from
avoidable harm
Improve detection,
escalation and
management of the
deteriorating patient

SI investigations
External review

See separate detailed improvement
plan which includes milestones and
measures for achievement

Patient Safety
Group
Quality & Safety
Committee

Embed and evidence
improved learning from
the investigation of
serious incidents

CQC report

i) Implementation of policy
specifically for ensuring learning
from incidents
ii) Evidence trail of learning events
and activities
iii) Clinical Audit: new studies
registered to measure changes made
to practice

Patient Safety
Group
Quality & Safety
Committee
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Domain

Effectiveness
Priority

Reason for
prioritisation

Measure

Monitoring

NHS Outcomes Framework
Domain 1: Preventing people from dying prematurely
Domain 2: Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions
Domain 3: Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury
Embed the mortality
monitoring system and
evidence month to month
performance through
reporting mechanisms

Review and enhance the
care pathway for patients
who have had a stroke
(post hyper-acute phase)

External review
CQC report
NHSE guidance
re mortality
surveillance

Commissioning
of rehab pathway
post 10 days LOS
Specialty
workforce

Review and enhance
SIs
the care pathway for
DGH model for
patients who have cardiac specialty service
problems
Economies of
scale regarding
expertise
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i) Every death occurring in hospital
will be reviewed by the Responsible
Consultant, evidenced by submission
of standard proforma to the Clinical
Audit Department
ii) Detailed review (as required)
undertaken by a MDT, discussed in
governance meeting evidenced in
minutes

Mortality
Surveillance
Group

i) Review the commissioned pathway
with the CCG to determine the
appropriate setting for care delivery
for the post-acute rehabilitation
element
ii) Reduce the length of stay for
stroke patients by 10%

Acute Medicine
Directorate
meeting
Medicine
Divisional
meeting
Finance &
Performance and
Quality & Safety
Committees

i) All patients with acute chest pain
will be seen within 2 weeks
ii) Resources will be flexibly managed
to deal with peaks in demand
iii) Daily Consultant Ward rounds will
occur for all cardiology in-patients
from 1 May (Mon-Fri)

Acute Medicine
Directorate
meeting
Medicine
Divisional
meeting
Finance &
Performance and
Quality & Safety
Committees

Patient Safety
Group
Quality & Safety
Committee

Domain

Patient experience
Priority

Reason for
prioritisation

Measure

Monitoring

NHS Outcomes Framework Domain 4: Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care
Promote equality,
diversity and inclusion
in care delivery and
employment practice,
demonstrating
compliance with EDS2

Regulatory
requirement

i) Approve and implement EDI strategy
ii) Provide training and events for staff to
raise awareness of the needs of particular
groups of patients (e.g. travellers, patients
with learning disability)
iii) Implement an Accessible Information
Plan to enable disabled patients to receive
information in formats that they can
understand, and to receive appropriate
support to help them to communicate.
iv) Improve our understanding of the
needs of disadvantaged and minority
groups, e.g. through in-patient surveys,
Friends and Family Test, National and
local surveys.

Equality,
Diversity and
Inclusion
Committee
Quality & Safety
Committee

Enhance complainants
satisfaction through
improving the
timeliness of complaint
investigations and
responses, and
formally surveying
complainants
satisfaction levels

CQC report
CQC ‘Complaints
matters’
Performance
monitoring data

i) Number of complaints acknowledged
within 3 days
ii) Number of complaints responded to
within 10 days, 30 days and 60 days
(according to complexity)
iii) Number of face to face resolution
meetings
iv) Number of reopened complaints

Patient Safety
Group
Quality & Safety
Committee

As part of the 2015/6 Quality Account, three red RAG rated priorities for improvement were carried
forward into 2016/17:

Priority Area: Improvement Risk Management Metrics
• Graduated metrics for complaints response timelines by complexity
As part of the revised ‘Responding to Feedback’ Policy which the Trust published in October 2016,
graduated metrics for complaints responses were introduced based on the initial grading of the complexity
of the complaint.
• Capture of ‘Stop the Line’ events
Following the introduction of the new Incident Management Policy in May 2016, which included the
requirement for ‘Stop the Line’ activity to be incident reported, this was monitored to ensure the new
elements had been embedded Trust-wide. In September 2016, the Trust introduced a new Governance
& Risk Monthly Dashboard which included detail of the number and type of ‘Stop the Line’ incidents
recorded on the Trust’s Datix risk management system.
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Quality indicators

SHMI value and The latest data from NHS Digital
This figure falls within the ‘as expected’
banding
covers the period July 2015 – June range for the Trust.
2016 (published
The Trust holds a monthly Mortality
in December 2016)
Surveillance meeting to review their
mortality data and discuss specific cases
1.074 Band N/A
N/A
N/A and any required actions. This includes
2
a more detailed review of outlying SHMI
data, the outcome of which is tracked
and monitored by the group.

2014/15

Trust Statement

2015/16

Lowest
performer

2016/17

Highest
performer

Indicator

National
Average

In addition to the quality improvement priorities set by the Trust, a list of 12 quality
indicators set by NHS England is reported on in this prescribed format and in line
with the specific guidance issued relating to the source for data retrieval and required
narrative and explanation. For the majority of the Quality indicators the data is made
available to the NHS Trusts by NHS Digital (previously the Health and Social Care
Information Centre) for the reporting period 2016/17. NHS Digital was accessed on
20 April 2017 for the most recent data available. This is a National reporting database
which collates data for many different metrics. These are not always the figures that
the Trust uses to report data so data may appear in a different format to Trust reports.

1.074

0.97

SHMI data is presented by
representatives from Dr Foster with
appropriate question and challenge from
the group on the data.
Discussions with CCG colleagues given
difference in SHMI and HSMR (the SHMI
includes deaths occurring up to 30 days
post discharge from hospital)
Assurance is provided on a monthly basis
from the Medical Director via the Quality
& Safety Committee, a committee of the
Trust board.

Percentage of
patient deaths
with palliative
care coded at
either diagnosis
or specialty
level
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Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
The latest data from NHS Digital
covers the period July 2015 – June considers that the outcome scores are
2016
as described for the following reasons:
there is a very good palliative care team
40.25%
review process supported by an engaged 36.3%
clinical coding team who participate in
the Mortality Surveillance meeting.

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

33.8%

0.880

N/A

N/A

(EQ5D Index**)

(EQ5D
Index**)

(i) groin hernia
surgery

ii) varicose vein Not applicable to
surgery
HHCT

(iii) hip
replacement
surgery

Data suppressed
by NHS Digital
because response
rate too low

(iv) knee
replacement
surgery

Data suppressed
by NHS Digital
because response
rate too low

Trust Statement

Patient Related Outcome
Not
Measures (PROMs) are a tool known
used to evaluate the outcome
of the procedures outlined.
The patient is surveyed at preassessment and then again
three or six months later
depending on the procedure
undertaken. Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust
considers that the outcome
scores are as described for
the following reasons:
Not
known
Groin hernia repair surgery
PROMS outcomes are in line
with the national average, hip
replacement surgery, varicose
vein surgery and knee
replacement surgery data is
unavailable as suppressed by
NHS Digital

2014/15

0.897

2016/17

2015/16

Lowest
performer

Patient
reported
outcome
scores for:

National
Average

Highest
performer

Indicator

Not
known

Not
known

** EQ-5DTM Index (a combination of five key criteria concerning general health)
The
percentage of
patients aged

Most recent data available on HSCIC
website: 2011/12

(i) 0-15

Not available

(ii) 16 or over
readmitted
to a hospital
which forms
part of the
Trust within 28
days of being
discharged the
Trust

HSCIC website:
”please note that the
planned update of the
emergency readmissions
to hospital within
28 days of discharge
indicators has been
delayed whilst we review
the methodology”.

Hinchingbrooke Health Care
NHS Trust considers that
these percentages are as
described for the following
reasons:

>10.15

>6.8%

<16

<16

14.87% 14.7%

In common with many
Trusts a large number of
readmissions are unrelated to
the previous episode
Hinchingbrooke Health Care
NHS Trust has taken the
following actions to improve
this percentage, and so the
quality of its services, by:
individualised care pathway
management to effect timely,
safe and effective discharge.
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2016/17

The Trust’s
responsiveness to
the personal needs
of its patients

Most recent data available on NHS Digital
website 2015/16

The percentage of
staff employed by,
or under contract
to, the Trust who
would recommend
the Trust as a
provider of care
to their family or
friends.

80.9

77.3

88

70.6

63%

64%

100%

Data
unavailable

Data available on NHS Digital website
The percentage of
patients who were
admitted to hospital
and who were risk
98.48%
95.64% 100% 76.48%
assessed for venous
thromboembolism

The rate per
100,000 bed
days of cases of
C.difficile infection
reported within
the Trust amongst
patients aged 2 or
over
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Most recent data available on NHS Digital
website 2015/16

14.9
Data not
available from
NHS Digital
although
HHCT had
7 reportable
hospital
acquired
c.Difficile cases.

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

0

66

2014/15

Indicator

2015/16

Lowest
performer

Highest
performer

National
Average

Quality Account

Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust
considers that this data
is as described for the
following reasons: This
score is a composite of
five of the areas explored
in the inpatient survey
commissioned by the
CQC each year.

66.0

67.9

Hinchingbrooke Health
Care NHS Trust considers
that this percentage
is as described for the
following reasons: the
percentage of staff
from the survey sample
responding positively has
decreased.

72%

60.14%

Trust Statement

97.7%
Hinchingbrooke Health
Care NHS Trust considers
that this percentage
is as described for the
following reasons:
embedded practice which
is closely monitored and
followed up routinely
with clinical teams.
9.1
Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust
considers that this rate
is as described for the
following reasons:
embedded and consistent
practice which is closely
monitored and followed
up routinely with clinical
teams.

98%

19.2

4,733
Rate per
1,000 bed
days:
51.4
Incidents
resulting
in severe
harm or
death: 12
(0.3%)

Rate per
1,000
bed days:
39.45
Incidents
resulting
in severe
harm or
death:
272
(0.4%)

3,510

Trust Statement

23,990 The data below is for this
Trust and for the cluster
classified as ‘medium acute
Trusts’. Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust
considers that this rate is as
described for the following
reasons:
The Trust has undertaken
significant work to promote
an open reporting culture,
monitoring and reporting
on monthly incident
numbers, with an emphasis
on learning and quality
improvement. Incident
numbers per month are
reported via the Governance
& Risk dashboard which
feeds into the Patient
Safety Group and onto the
Quality & Safety committee
for assurance and scrutiny
purposes.

2014/15

Number of Number
incidents: of
3,512**
incidents:

2015/16

The number
and, where
available,
rate of
patient safety
incidents
reported
within the
Trust and the
number and
percentage
of such
patient safety
incidents that
resulted in
severe harm
or death.

Lowest
performer

2016/17

Highest
performer

National
Average

Indicator

Number of Number of
incidents: incidents:
2,036
2,259
Rate per
1000
bed days:
57.65

Rate per
1000
bed days:
67.54

Incidents
resulting
in severe
harm or
death: 17
(0.8%)

Incidents
resulting
in severe
harm or
death: 17
(0.7%)

** Based on local Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust data
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Priorities for Quality Improvement during
2017/18
With effect from 1 April 2017, Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust (HHCT) was acquired
by Peterborough & Stamford Hospitals NHS Hospital Foundation Trust (PSHFT). The two Trusts
merged to become North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust (NW Anglia NHS FT) in order
to create more sustainable services for residents of Huntingdonshire, Greater Peterborough
and South Lincolnshire. Responsibility for setting Quality Improvement objectives for 2017/18
will sit with the new organisation and form part of PSHFT’s Quality Account for 2016/17. The
vision for NW Anglia NHS FT is:

“Working together to be the best at providing outstanding
care for local communities”
Delivering
outstanding care
and experience
Working
together with
local health and
social care
providers

Delivering
financial
sustainability

Recruiting,
developing and
retaining our
workforce
Working
together to be
the best at providing
outstanding care
for local
communities
Improving
and developing
our services and
infrastructure

The vision of NW Anglia NHS FT was developed by the shadow Board prior to merger. Board
members, who were all board members of the predecessor Trusts, have set out their vision for
NW Anglia NHS FT and the strategic goals for the next five years and beyond will be delivered
through a suite of annual objectives.
The NW Anglia NHS FT overarching objective for Quality in 2017/18 is:-

Delivering Outstanding Care and Experience
The quality priorities for 2017/18 have been identified through the implementation of new
national initiatives together with areas of improvement that have been identified by reporting
trends during the previous financial year. These priorities have been discussed with the Board
of Directors, the Quality Assurance Committee, Governors and Clinical Commissioning
Groups throughout the year. Some objectives from 2016/17 still require improvement and
those that are not in the new priorities will continue to be monitored through the Matrons
Balanced Scorecard such as MUST and Safe Discharge.
The overarching objectives are both monitored and reviewed, in depth, by the Quality
Assurance Committee which is a formal Committee of the Board.
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1. Upper quartile mortality rate
Metric

Measures

Date

Monitoring

HSMR and SHMI

Measuring HSMR and SHMI
is a nationally standardised
process. Following the merger
policies and systems will be
aligned.

StartApr
2017

This may have to be phased
in accordance with nationally
published DFI data.

Scope process for measuring
HSMR and SHMI across all sites

We will continue to monitor
DFI reports and DFI alerts. DFI
reporting is monitored via
Hospital Mortality Review Group
bi-monthly.

Integrate HSMR and SHMI
Standardise mortality review
reports for local reporting in
line with National Quality Board process Trust wide (includes
primary and secondary
(NQB) requirements (2017)
reviews).

Align policies and processes to
provide equitable results

Introduce ‘lessons learnt’
process

Presentation of ‘avoidable’
deaths data in line with NQB
requirements
Align Trust mortality review
process and Policy to new
national requirements due to
be published early 2017/18

Q1
2017

Quarterly
Sept 2017

Changes to the mortality review
process and/or Policy will be
completed through liaison
with Trust wide mortality leads,
endorsed and ratified through
HMRG.

Aug 2017

Monthly

Apr 2017

Reports for CLAEP. QGOC and
the Board
Minutes of SI meetings
Data collection

On going

Monitored monthly on Quality
Dashboards for CCGs

On going

RCA training
Risk team as part of banded study
days
Recreate bimonthly Risky Times
newsletter to share lessons learnt

Summary report to HMRG and
QGOC

Serious Incidents (SIs)

Review SI processes and adopt
Align SI reporting to meet local best practice across all sites.
and commissioner requirements
Reporting to CCGs within
agreed timeframes:48hrs to report following
identifying the SI and
60 working days for the
investigation and written
report

On going

Inform and educate Trust
employees on processes

MEWS to NEWS

Mortality review reports are
presented to HMRG at every
meeting.

Share lessons learnt and report
in Quality Report to QAC

Ensure representation from Risk
Team at Divisional Meetings re
lessons learnt and actions to be
taken

Set up a Task and Finish Group Apr 2017

Task and Finish Group minutes

Transition to recording
physiological observations
using National Early Warning
Scores (NEWS), prior to the
introduction of e-observations
on the Hinchingbrooke site
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17
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2. Documentation meets professional and Trust standards
Metric

Measures

Date

Monitoring

Scope documentation to assess
best practice across sites

Collection and scoping work

Apr 2017

Comparison between
documents from all sites and all
departments

Education around the
Documentation Steering Group
(DSG) and its work

Use communication systems
Trust wide to inform all staff of
the processes

May 2017

Availability of information on
the intranet on all sites
Effective use of DSG

Discuss at senior nurse level to
gain support for any changes
necessary

All documentation to go
through:- DSG processes
NMAG
JWMM
Matrons Quality Forum

On going

Minutes from the meetings
Actions taken

Design and combine
documentation to create
unified process and practice

Use Trust standardised
documents that are suitable for
electronic scanning
Discuss with specialities
to formulate needs and
requirements

On going

Standards of Documentation
link to Trust policy

Work with wards and
departments to introduce new
documentation
Support from specialist nurses
and Practice Development in
support of change

On going

Educate and introduce new or
updated documentation where
applicable

Document created are fit for
purpose and clear to use
MBSC to review compliance
with completion of all
documentation
Documentation audit
compliance
To achieve 90% in Trust wide
audit in Q4

3. Meet Single Oversight Framework standards
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Metric

Measures

Date

Monitoring

c. Difficile
Align RCA and scrutiny process

Implement new documentation
and RCA tools.
Record compliance with
measures within the quality
dashboard agreed with the
CCG

May 2017

CCG Quality Dashboard
Infection control team meeting,
HICC and Board reporting

Maintain surveillance of cases
of c.diff and patients with
diarrhoea/potential c.diff

Daily side room check lists
On going
100% of cases ratified within
2 working days of result being
available
C.Difficile scrutiny panel to be
held within 30 working days of
the result
100% of RCAs provided to
CCG,
3 working days prior to meeting

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Exception reporting infection
control team meeting

C.Difficile scrutiny panel records
CCG
HICC

Metric

Measures

Date

Monitoring

Lab reports

May 2017

Infection control team meeting,
HICC

May 2018

Quality Report
QAC

...c. Difficile continued
Ensure timely testing and
reporting of stool samples
across all sites

c.Difficile target set nationally
at 29 cases for 2017/18 for
Peterborough and Stamford
Hospitals and 11 for
Hinchingbrooke Hospital. Aim
to report <10 for the year

Share lessons learnt

Patient Stories and reporting to
relevant meetings
Share action plans with ward
staff

On going

Minutes of NMAG. JWMM and
HICC
Action Plans

MRSA
Align policies from PCH and
HH

Ratified at September HICC
(PSHFT)

Sept 2017

HICC (Ongoing to become the
Trust Infection and Control
Committee – TIPCC)

Continue MRSA decolonisation Audit results to achieve >95%
audit
compliance for the MRSA
decolonisation care pathway of
cases

Sept 2017

CCG Quality Dashboard
Infection control team meeting,
HICC

Review decolonisation
prescription and align across all
three sites

Sept 2017

CCG Quality Dashboard
Infection control team meeting,
HICC

Cleaning
Cleaning scores to reach 95%
Ensure all sites are meeting PAS achievement standards
2011 standards, despite using
different cleaning contactors.

Jan
2018

CCG Quality Dashboard
HICC, Matrons’ Quality Forum

Complaints
To respond to 100% of
complaints within 30 working
days and acknowledgement
within 3 working days

Review and align processes
across the Trust.

Jun 2017

Communications -Intranet
Training

Ensure all departments know
how to access the complaints
team and understand the
process.

Jun 2017

Monthly KPI reports
CLEAP report

Teams are given 20 days to
respond to complaints leaving
10 days for quality monitoring

On going

Compliance with the local
antibiotic policy in line with the
CCG quality dashboard
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4. Continuous improvement in high quality across all sites
Metric

Measures

Date

Monitoring

Care Quality Commission
As part of CQC readiness the
Trust will work to the Quality
Improvement Plan, highlighting
risks and working with quality
improvement methodology to
provide Right Care First Time
every Time

Align the CQC self-assessments
across all three sites

Sept 2017

Matrons’ Quality Forum
Matrons’ CQC Action Plan

Ensure best practice is adopted
on all sites including:
Progress against action plans
addressing all CQC concerns,
including compliance with key
lines of enquiry (KLOEs)

On going

Quality Improvement plan (to
include actions to achieve the
national ambition to reduce
maternity associated deaths and
serious harm)
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Standardise quality
performance

Review and align MBSC
audits for all three sites and
standardise quality dashboard
(MBSC)

May 2017

MBSC
QAC

Ensure professional standards
across all sites

Standardisation of the Matron
role within the new structures
and working to the Chief Nurse

Aug 2017

Matrons’ Quality Forum
MBSC

Implement CREWS across the
Trust

Align the ward accreditation
schemes

Aug 2017

CREWS reports
Matrons’ Quality Forum

Roll out to all remaining areas

On going

QAC

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Statements of Assurance
This section includes mandatory statements within the Quality Account, as instructed
by the Department of Health. The aim of this is to provide information to the public
that is common to Quality Accounts across all Trusts. These statements demonstrate
whether the organisation is:
• Performing to essential standards
• Measuring clinical processes and performance
• Involved in national projects and initiatives aimed at improving quality
During the year April 2016 to March 2017 Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
provided 104 NHS services (see Appendix I for the list).

Participation in clinical audits
National clinical audits are largely funded by the Department of Health and
commissioned by the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP). Most
other national clinical audits are funded from subscriptions paid by the NHS provider
organisation. Priorities for the NCAPOP are set by the Department of Health with advice
from the National Clinical Audit Advisory Group (NCAAG).
During the year April 2016 to March 2017, 25 national clinical audits and five national
confidential enquiries covered NHS services that Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
(HHCT) provides.
During 2016/17, HHCT participated in 96% (24/25) national clinical audits and
100% (5/5) national confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in. National audits can be
divided into work streams or sections. HHCT did not participate in one working stream
of national clinical audit, which is detailed in the table below.
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that HHCT was eligible to
participate in during 2016/17 are detailed in column 3 of the table below.
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that HHCT participated in
during 2016/17 are detailed in column 4 of the table below.
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that HHCT participated
in, and for which data collection was completed during 2016/17, are listed below
alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of
the number of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.
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ID

Project Title

Eligible

Participated

Participation
Rate

Quality Account

1

Acute Coronary Syndrome or
Acute Myocardial Infarction
(MINAP)

Yes

Yes Report awaited as of May 2017

Rate
unavailable

2

Adult Asthma (BTS)

Yes

Yes Registered and data collection
ongoing
Report received and action plan
being formulated

100%

3

Asthma - paediatric and adult
Yes
(care in emergency departments)

Yes Registered and data collection
ongoing
Report Awaited as of May 2017

100%

4

Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP)

Yes

Yes December publication. Action plan
completed and disseminated to
specialty.

100%

5

Case mix Programme

Yes

Yes Ongoing registry

100%

6

Elective Surgery PROMS

Yes

Yes Ongoing data collection for 4
procedures (see section for PROMS
participation figures)

See detail
below

7

Fracture Liaison Service Database

Yes

No

N/A

Inpatient Falls

Yes

Yes Report awaited as of May 2017

100%

National Hip Fracture Database

Yes

Yes Report published September 2016.
Action plan for improvements with
the Specialist Falls Nurse

100%

Comments on Progress & Outcome

No fracture liaison service currently

8

Inflammatory Bowel Disease
(IBD) programme

Yes

Yes

Report awaited as of May 2017

100%

9

National Audit of Dementia

Yes

Yes

Report awaited as of May 2017

100%

10

National Cardiac Arrest Audit
(NCAA)

Yes

Yes

Reported quarterly, report with
Outreach Team

100%

11

National Chronic Obstructive
Yes
Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit
programme (Secondary Care)

Yes

Report received, action plan being
formulated

100%

12

Perinatal Mortality Surveillance

Yes

Yes

Ongoing data collection - registry

100%

Perinatal mortality and morbidity Yes
confidential enquiries (term
intrapartum related neonatal
deaths)

Yes

Report due November 2017

100%

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Participation
Rate

Participated

Project Title

Eligible

ID

Comments on Progress & Outcome

Maternal morbidity and mortality Yes
confidential enquiries (cardiac
(plus cardiac morbidity) early
pregnancy deaths and preeclampsia)

Yes

Report published December 2016.
100%
Saving lives Action plan with Head of
Midwifery

Maternal mortality surveillance

Yes

Yes

Report published December 2016.
100%
Saving lives Action plan with Head of
Midwifery

Use of blood in Haematology

Yes

Yes

Audit of Patient Blood
Management in Scheduled
Surgery - Re-audit September
2016

Yes

Yes

Data collection ongoing

100%

Audit of the use of blood in
Lower GI bleeding

Yes

Yes

Action plan completed with Surgery
and Blood Transfusion

100%

National Foot Care Audit (Part of Yes
CCS)

Yes

Service provided by another
healthcare provider

National Inpatient Audit (only
reporting data on services in
England only)

Yes

Yes

Report received, action plan on-going 100%

National Pregnancy in Diabetes
Audit

Yes

Yes

Report awaited as of May 2017

National Diabetes Transition

Yes

Yes

Report received, action plan on-going 100%

National Core

Yes

Yes

Report awaited as of May 2017

100%

Knee replacement (National Joint Yes
Registry)

Yes

Ongoing registry reported quarterly
to Specialty and Board

Data
unavailable

Hip replacement
(National Joint Registry)

Yes

Yes

Ongoing registry

Data
unavailable

16

National Emergency Laparotomy
Audit (NELA)

Yes

Yes

Data collection completed January
2017. Difficulties with identifying all
Laparotomies.

Data
unavailable

17

National Lung Cancer Audit
(NLCA)

Yes

Yes

Report received, action plan on-going 100%

18

National Ophthalmology Audit

Yes

Yes

Report awaited

19

Oesophago-gastric Cancer
(NAOGC)

Yes

Yes

13

14

15

100%

Data
unavailable
100%
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ID

Project Title

Eligible

Participated

Participation
Rate

Quality Account

20

National Prostate Cancer Audit

Yes

Yes

Report expected December 2017

100%

21

Rheumatoid and Early
Inflammatory Arthritis Clinician/
Patient Follow-up

Yes

Yes

Reported May 2016 Action plan
completed, with Specialty

100%

Rheumatoid and Early
Inflammatory Arthritis Clinician/
Patient Baseline

Yes

Yes

Reported May 2016 Action plan
completed, with Specialty

100%

22

Sentinel Stroke National Audit
programme (SSNAP)

Yes

Yes

Report received, action plan on-going Data
unavailable

23

Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock
Yes
(care in emergency departments)
Registered

Yes

Report awaited as of May 2017

100%

24

National Heart Failure Audit

Yes

Yes

Report expected July 2017

Data
unavailable

25

Head and Neck Cancer

Yes

No

After more than ten years, the
provision, development and
management of the National Head
and Neck Audit has moved from the
Health and Social Care Information
Centre to Saving Faces - The Facial
Surgery Research Foundation.
Methodology has since changed and
this audit is now applicable to HHCT.
This was only realised late on this
year

Not eligible

Adult Cardiac Surgery

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

Learning Disability Mortality
Review Programme (LeDeR)

Yes

N/A Delayed nationally. Reviews due to
N/A
start in April 2017. The Trust has
sent the Learning disability Nurse for
reviewing training and the Clinical
Audit officer has attended the course
for expectations of the process.

Cardiac Rhythm Management
(CRM)

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

N/A

Congenital Heart Disease (CHD)
N/A

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

N/A

Coronary Angioplasty/National
Audit of Percutaneous Coronary
Interventions (PCI)

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Comments on Progress & Outcome

N/A

Comments on Progress & Outcome

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA)

No

N/A Paediatric services run by another
healthcare provider

Endocrine and Thyroid National
Audit Not applicable

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

Major Trauma Audit

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

Neurosurgical National Audit
Programme

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

National Vascular Registry

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

National Neonatal Audit
Programme - Neonatal Intensive
and Special Care (NNAP)

No

N/A Paediatric services run by another
healthcare provider

Nephrectomy audit1 Dec

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

Paediatric Intensive Care
(PICANet)

No

N/A Paediatric services run by another
healthcare provider

Paediatric Pneumonia N/A

No

N/A Paediatric services run by another
healthcare provider

Percutaneous Nephrolithotomy
(PCNL)

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

Radical Prostatectomy Audit

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

Renal Replacement Therapy
(Renal Registry) N/A

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry

No

N/A Service not offered at HHCT

Participation
Rate

Participated

Project Title

Eligible

ID
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During 2016/17 HHCT participated in the following studies
as confirmed by NCEPOD.
National Confidential
Enquiry title

Eligible

Participated

Sample
requested

Sample
Submitted

Participation

Chronic Neurodisability

Yes

Yes

1

1 excl

100%

Young People’s Mental Health

Yes

Yes

4

3/3
(1 excl)

100%

Physical and mental health care
of mental health patients in
acute hospitals

Yes

Yes

5

4/4
(1 excl)

100%

Non-invasive ventilation

Yes

Yes

5

2/2
(3 excl)

100%

Cancer in children

No

No eligible patients

Reviewing reports of national clinical audits
The reports of 20* national clinical audits and 2 national confidential enquiry reports were reviewed by the
provider in 2016/17 and HHCT intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare
provided. Examples of national clinical audits completed are given below.
*A number of national reports are still waiting publication for the work submitted for 2016/17, therefore unable to action these.

National Clinical Audit and
Confidential Enquiries

Actions Taken during 2016/17

National Clinical Audit
• Hinchingbrooke has implemented a telephone helpline service which is
part of the services core departmental activity.
for Rheumatoid and Early
Inflammatory Arthritis 2nd Annual • Dedicated practitioner to assist with an educational framework for all
Report 2016
patients
End Of Life Audit Report 2016

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
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Nursing documentation revised and updated to action the following
A place to document if discussion around patient dying.
Holistic, and spiritual needs of patients
Nutrition and hydration
The Preferred Priorities of care document is available on the Palliative care
section of the Intranet for use by Health care professionals.
The End of Life Care Strategy advocates the discussion of patients’ needs
and preferences about future care with a health care professional. This has
been highlighted in the divisional action plans related to the End of Life
Care Strategy.
Nursing staff have undertaken specialist training for communication skills
via St Johns hospice.
Bereaved survey has been completed and actioned
Clinical audit plans are in place for 16/17

National Clinical Audit and
Confidential Enquiries

Actions Taken during 2016/17

National Clinical Audit
• Actions have been addressed to establish the following;
for Rheumatoid and Early
• Therapist involvement.
Inflammatory Arthritis 2nd Annual • Information leaflets on medications
Report 2016
• Information about driving
• Communication between professionals and invitations for PD nurses to
clinics.
UK Parkinson’s Audit Reported
2016

• The nursing admission booklet has been reviewed and revised to
incorporate a section for a diabetic foot assessment within 24 hours of
admission.
• To ensure training is completed as appropriate with the clinicians
• To report large bleeds to the Mortality and Morbidity meetings, as well as
current practice to the transfusion committee.

National Diabetes Audit Reported
2016

• The nursing admission booklet has been reviewed and revised to
incorporate a section for a diabetic foot assessment within 24 hours of
admission.

National Comparative Audit of
Lower Gastrointestinal Bleeding
and the Use of Blood

• To ensure training is completed as appropriate with the clinicians
• To report large bleeds to the Mortality and Morbidity meetings, as well as
current practice to the transfusion committee.

National Emergency Laparotomy
Audit

• A local lead for anaesthetics has been appointed for this audit, to work
alongside the surgical lead.

Reviewing reports of local clinical audits
The reports of 70 (update this figure with completed audits seen from Feb and March) local clinical audits
were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17 and HHCT intends to take actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided as detailed in a document available from the Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Team. All
Completed reports are reviewed by the Clinical Audit Department on a weekly basis. Certificates are given
to clinicians once a completed report, action plan and a dissemination of report has been undertaken.
All audit reports are summarised and included in the Trusts Quality reports for each division, which are
presented at the Clinical Governance Meetings
Examples of some local clinical audits are given below
Local audit title

Key findings and Actions implemented

Management of Spontaneous
Pneumothorax in Adults
Emergency Department

• All patients had a repeat CXR on discharge except for the patient who self
discharged.
• None of the patients were given written information sheet regarding
pneumothorax.
• 64.7% of cases in total were managed as per guidelines.
• Pneumothorax management flow charts have been placed in the
resuscitation areas.
• Developed an information leaflet for patients who are being discharged
after a pneumothorax
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Local audit title

Key findings and Actions implemented

Compliance with Documentation
Audit

• Individualised care plans – all areas achieved 100% compliance in the
month of March 16 apart from Walnut ward (70%). This was due to a lack
of patient specific care plans being implemented for 3 patients out of the
10 audited.

No7A215

• The compliance with the completion of the Mental Capacity Assessments
will be represented in a separate report in conjunction with the Trust’s
Adult Safeguarding Lead.
• Action included the following;
• Support, training and guidance to be offered to all staff to ensure that the
Documentation audit standards are embedded.

Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock
Quarterly
Audit (Oct – Dec 2015)
CC01AZ15
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• We saw a marked increase in the numbers of patients admitted with
severe sepsis or septic shock, which is consistent with the time of year
this quarterly audit was conducted (23 patients), and 100% compliance
was only achieved in one area compared to four last quarter (8 patients).
There was an improvement in IV antibiotic administration, however it is
still falling short of our 87% Sepsis CQUIN target as well as the 100%
compliance required for this audit. The drop from 100% to only 70% for
fluid resuscitation is concerning and education of Sepsis Six is continuing
through mandatory training sessions, ALS, ILS and ADP.
• Sepsis posters for all wards / units
• Education on Sepsis Six on all acute training courses
• Sepsis Trolley for ED – to contain all the equipment for sepsis including
unprepared Tazocin
• Quarterly Sepsis News letters

Ward Medicine Security, Storage
and Availability

• Overall there has been an improvement in most of the wards audit
standards. All standards are based on safe handling and secure storage
of medicines or safety aspects of medicines. It has allowed checking of
compliance the medicine policies and procedures as well as NPSA alerts.
• Frequent shorter audits have proved a successful way of improving audit
results in a shorter timeframe

Rheumatoid arthritis – drugs for
treatment after failure of a TNF
inhibitor

• An audit of the management of patients with rheumatoid arthritis on
drugs after a failure of a TNF inhibitor at Hinchingbrooke Hospital.
• NICE TA195 guidelines, Adalimumab, Etanercept, Infliximab, Rituximab,
and Abatacept for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis after the failure of
a TNF inhibitor.
• 23 patients, average age 64.6 years.
• 100% compliant with NICE guidelines for starting Rituximab.
• 100% compliant for continuation of treatment.
• 100% compliant for time scale of treatment, i.e. no more frequent than
every 6 months.
• 100% compliant for discontinuation of treatment for those patients who
did not fulfil criteria at 6 months.

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Local audit title

Key findings and Actions implemented

Referral when Fetal anomaly is
suspected

• Overall MDAU has performed well achieving the required standard of 75%
and above for the criteria within the guideline and audit standard 4.5

WS19a09

• It has been identified that the women had very comprehensive care plans
but that it is not documented that leaflets were given. This may in some
cases be that there were none that were relevant but it highlights issues of
documentation at stressful times.
• Paediatric documentation was noted to be excellent.
• Audit this time reflects the rising uptake of the NIPT

Blood transfusion request form
audit February 2016

• The extra time taken for laboratory staff to find the answers to the
questions that arise from incomplete form filling can be reduced
significantly. This includes chasing up operation dates and specifics,
sending out reports with no identifying wards/clinicians on them.

Compliance with MRSA Care
Pathway IPC001z16

• Marked improvement in compliance over the last 6 months from 60% to
92%
• Increased awareness of process and documentation
• Need for ongoing measures to maintain improvement
• Continuation of reminder processes
• Ongoing ward based training
• Focus on completion of care pathway

Antibiotic Audit – September
2016
SS-PH006z16

Conclusions
• 85% documented ‘allergy checked’ boxes completed (82% in March
2016)
• 91% of indications were documented in the medical notes and on the
drug charts (89% in March 2016)
• 94% of documentation complied with hospital guidelines (80% in March
2016)
• 84% documented stop/review dates (82% in March 2016)
Recommendations:
• Junior doctor antimicrobial stewardship champions to feedback results to
junior doctors
• Consultants to enforce message of good antibiotic stewardship to junior
doctors during ward rounds
• Nurses to prompt doctors to document allergy checks, stop/review dates
and indications on the drug charts
• Consultants to remind junior doctors to add the indication, stop/review
date and allergy check to all antimicrobial prescriptions on the new
electronic prescribing system on ITU
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Local audit title

Key findings and Actions implemented

MSK-TO08a16 Femoral and fascia
iliaca nerve blocks for neck of
femur fractures

• 20% of patients admitted with a neck of femur fracture were offered a
nerve block.
• NICE guidelines suggests consideration of a block, not a requirement.
• Limitations of this study
• No documentation assumes non compliance
• No clear area to document nerve block procedure.
• Action for this audit was to design a sticker to add to the clinical notes.
This is in the process of being implemented after approval was given at the
medical records committed in January 2017. A re-audit is scheduled for
2017/18.

Surveys are also used to improve the quality of the service Hinchingbrooke provides in
relation to the views expressed by patients. Some of these surveys are:

•

Audiology Patient Experience

This audit is a rolling audit and as the same results pattern has been achieved over the
past few cycles, the next cycle will be run over 6 months. The next cycle will be for Sept
16-Feb 17 and the report will follow.
The Data Quality audit highlighted 3 questions that the Audiology Reception Team
continually omit to ask:
• ask the patient to confirm his/her address and postcode
• ask the patient their title
• ask the patient for their GP & Practice
Action needed (Identified
remedial action)

Issue (Identified need)
Not continually asking the patient
their title, GP, address/postcode or
asking the patient for their phone
numbers

•

• Retrain reception to ensure that
the questions are asked and
provide a script/checklist to each
receptionist

Evidence of actions
• The script/checklist being
used
• Next audit results

Rapid Access Clinic Patient Satisfaction Survey

Waiting times of less than 20 minutes are below 100% standard expected although
improved from 90% in 2015 to 96% in 2016
No patients waited over 40 minutes compared to 5% in 2015
Adequacy of written information and questions being answered clearly increased from
90% in 2015 to 100% in 2016
The survey indicated that patient’s felt involved in care decisions although this fell from
95% in 2015 to 92% in 2016
100% would be ‘very likely’ to recommend us to family and friends, against a 90%
standard
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•

Patient Reported Outcome Measures (cross reference with
information on Quality Indicators pages 9,10, 11 and 12)

The patient reported outcome measures (PROMS) are a national means for patients to
feed back their views about the success of the procedure. A pre and post procedure
questionnaire is provided to the patient and consent gathered. Analysis is carried out
to determine if the surgical procedure has improved the patient’s quality of life.
Below is the Trusts participation figure for the pre-operative questionnaire, which is
distributed by our staff. The percentage return rates over 100% results from dates of
operations, dates of questionnaires being filled in and the monthly courier collection.
In some cases the questionnaires can be completed by the patient months before
the operation while others are very soon before which may place the receipt if these
questionnaires so that the tally does not match the timing of the operations effectively.

PARTICIPATION (using latest full HES dataset as
denominator 2014/15)

GROIN

HIP

KNEE

VARICOSE
VEINS

April

93%

147%

108%

0%

May

51%

61%

115%

0%

June

51%

160%

92%

0%

July

72%

106%

118%

0%

August

30%

118%

141%

0%

September

42%

125%

197%

0%

October

98%

157%

108%

0%

November

26%

116%

135%

92%

December

71%

116%

135%

28%

January

17%

149%

126%

0%

February

81%

71%

49%

0%

*March 2017 data is currently unavailable

The low participation for varicose veins can be explained by the process in which the
operation is funded and at the time when the questionnaire is issued.
NHS Digital/HSCIC data published this year includes data on the patients’ health gain
following the procedures. These questions are listed below;
• EQ-5DTM Index (a combination of five key criteria concerning general health)
• EQ VAS (current state of the patient’s general health marked on a visual analogue
scale
• Condition Specific Measures (a series of questions specific to the patient’s
condition)
This year has seen a deep dive into the area of Hip replacement following the
publication of the health scores being slightly below the national average, but within
control limits. This investigation did not highlight any concern, but is being closely
monitored. Data provided for Knee and groin all reported better than national average,
with varicose veins numbers being too low to generate this analysis.
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Eligible
hospital
procedures

Pre-operative
questionnaires
completed

Participation
Rate

Pre-operative
questionnaires
linked

Linkage Rate

All Procedures

1,108

963

86.9%

739

76.7%

Groin Hernia

283

225

79.5%

143

63.6%

Hip Replacement

375

360

96.0%

298

82.8%

Knee Replacement

365

365

100.0%

288

78.9%

Varicose Vein

85

13

15.3%

10

76.9%

Pre-operative
questionnaires
completed

Post-operative
questionnaires
sent out

Issue Rate

Post-operative
questionnaires
returned

Response
Rate

All Procedures

963

956

99.3%

713

74.6%

Groin Hernia

225

223

99.1%

141

63.2%

Hip Replacement

360

357

99.2%

287

80.4%

Knee Replacement

365

363

99.5%

277

76.3%

Varicose Vein

13

13

100.0%

8

61.5%

Research and development (R&D)
During 2016/17, 539 patients were recruited into 37 National Institute for Health
Research (NIHR) portfolio studies.
The latest NIHR league table shows Hinchingbrooke has had the second largest increase
in number of research studies (24%) of all acute trusts in the Clinical Research Network
(CRN) Eastern region and a recruitment increase of nearly 200% in 2015/16 compared
to the previous year. The Trust also increased the number of commercial studies by
67% and participants who take part in these studies by 52% in 2015/16 compared to
the previous year.
NIHR CRN funding awarded to the Trust for 2016/17 was £478,231.36. Additional
commercial income to the Trust was £130,000. NIHR research capability funding was
also awarded to the Trust for the first time in 2016/17 as the Trust has exceeded 500
recruits in the preceding year. R & D wasshortlisted and nominated for the Outstanding
Team Award for the NHS East of England Leadership Recognition Awards in November
2016 by Health Education England at Duxford in Cambridge.
The charts below show the breakdown of recruited patients across the different
specialties with Ophthalmology the strongest recruiting specialty. Reproductive health
is a new and emerging area of growth for the Trust. The spilt of commercial studies is
also shown by specialty.
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CRN:Eastern Uploaded Recruitment in Hinchingbrooke Health Care
CRN:Eastern Uploaded Recruitment in Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
NHS Trust by Specialty, 2016/17
by Specialty, 2016/17

Ageing_ 0
Anaesthesia, perioperative medicine and pain management_

15

Cancer_

58

Cardiovascular disease_ 0
Children_ 0
Critical care_ 0
Dementias and neurodegeneration_ 0
Dermatology_ 0
Diabetes_

7

Ear, nose and throat_ 0
Gastroenterology_ 0
Genetics_ 0
Haematology_ 3
Health services and delivery research_

54

Hepatology_ 1
Infectious diseases and microbiology_ 0
Injuries and emergencies_ 1
Mental Health_ 0
Metabolic and Endocrine disorders_ 0
Musculoskeletal disorders_

25

Neurological disorders_ 0
Ophthalmology_

271

Oral and dental health_ 0
Primary Care_ 1
Public Health_ 0
Renal disorders_ 0
Reproductive health and childbirth_
Respiratory disorders_

58
29

Stroke_ 0
Surgery_ 16
0
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200
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CRN:Eastern
Uploaded Recruitment in Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust by Specialty, 2016/17
CRN:Eastern Uploaded Recruitment in Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
by Specialty, 2016/17

Commercial
Non-Commercial
Ageing_0
Anaesthesia, perioperative medicine and pain management_0 15
Cancer_0

58

Cardiovascular disease_0 0
Children_0 0
Critical care_0 0
Dementias and neurodegeneration_0 0
Dermatology_0 0
Diabetes_0 7
Ear, nose and throat_0
Gastroenterology_0
Genetics_0
Haematology_0 3
Health services and delivery research_0

54

Hepatology_0 1
Infectious diseases and microbiology_0 0
Injuries and emergencies_0 1
Mental Health_0 0
Metabolic and Endocrine disorders_0 0
Musculoskeletal disorders_0 25
Neurological disorders_0 0
Ophthalmology_

22

249

Oral and dental health_0 0
Primary Care_0 1
Public Health_0 0
Renal disorders_ 0
Reproductive health and childbirth_ 4
Respiratory disorders_ 1

54
28

Stroke_0
Surgery_0 16
0
50
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Key Achievements:
• 29 April 2016 the R&D departmental staff attended the Clinical Research Network (CRN) Eastern
Celebration Event. The patient research ambassador initiative was modelled as an exemplar site.
• 11 May 2016 radio interview on Hunts local radio by R&D staff to promote International Clinical Trials
day at the Trust.
• 18 May 2016 International Clinical Trials day successfully celebrated at the Trust with a chocolate and
coke trial for patients and the public
• Two members of staff achieved MSc in Clinical Research success having been supported by R&D
through their continuing professional development
• Hinchingbrooke is the only UK hospital site to have randomised a patient to the Tristar Respiratory
Study.
• In June 2016, R & D Director and R & D Manager commenced the first workshop of the NIHR award
winning leadership programme for the R&D function within the NHS at Ashridge Business School,
Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire.
• Four members of the R & D team to include the patient research ambassador attended the Annual NHS
R&D Forum which is a 2 day event for those involved in leading, supporting, managing and delivering
research & innovation in health and care. This is one of the largest gatherings of R&D management
professionals in the UK and the event brings together the UK-wide health and care R&D community
with key stakeholders. Discussions included good practice, new policy and strategic insights into
research.
• R&D awarded £25,000 research grant from the International Glaucoma Association which will help
to develop a tool to predict the patients most at risk of symptoms of discomfort when using their
glaucoma eye drops, leading to medication non-adherence.
• additional research nurse joined our R&D team making a total of five research nurses working on
studies cross divisionally
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• R&D lead at Hinchingbrooke spearheaded the world’s largest survey of eye health,
centering on the UK. The survey aims to examine the sight of 250,000 people
across the country, a sample large enough to show the incidence of different eye
conditions and how age, ethnicity, gender, where you live and how well-off you are
affect the chances of getting them. An article regarding this appeared in the Sunday
Times newspaper on 18 September 2016
• EAGLE Study: Congratulations to our Ophthalmology team who have had an article
published in The Lancet following this study, looking into the treatment of Primary
Angle Closure Glaucoma.
• Furlong evolution hip trial - 60 patients recruited to this 10 year surveillance study.
100% recruitment to time and target (RTT).
• Clinfield conference on ‘building clinical careers in research’. Poster presentation
selected out of 35 others presented in London on the 17th November 2016.
• On 27th October 2016, R&D Lead gave a keynote speech for the International
Agency for the Prevention of Blindness (IAPB) Tenth General Assembly. This is the
premier global event discussing public health topics related to blindness and visual
impairment.
• R & D team at Hinchingbrooke Hospital joined forces with their Trust diabetes team
and the charity Diabetes UK, to help mark diabetes day on 14 November 2016.
• Bio Resource Day Symposium on 18th November 2016, to celebrate and promote
the developing specialty of research nursing.
• Hinchingbrooke R&D was represented at an event in the Masonic Hall, Cambridge
on 30th November 2016 to celebrate NHS Research in Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough on ‘Research Activity in a DGH’.
• Princes Trust
• An R&D administrative apprentice was welcomed from the Princes Trust in
November 2016.
• NHS East of England Leadership Recognition Awards November 2016 by Health
Education England 2016- Duxford Awards Evening - R & D shortlisted and
nominated for the Outstanding Team Award. Emerging Leader of the Year award
won by member of R&D team
• DPharmE Conference in London on 08th February 2017 – patient research
ambassadors (PRA) praised for initiative to raise awareness of research to general
public and importance of role as PRA
• Clinical Trial Assistant Inaugural Event at Southampton District General Hospital on
2nd March 2017 Hinchingbrooke represented with a poster entitled “Clinical Trials
Assistant: It’s not a Monkey Business” which details the journey of a Clinical Trial
Assistant at the Trust.

Use of the CQUIN payment framework
A proportion of the HHCT’s income in 2016/17 was conditional on achieving quality
improvement and innovation goals agreed between HHCT and its commissioners
through the CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) payment framework.
For 2016/17 the baseline value of CQUIN was 2.5% of the Trust’s contract value with
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payment being conditional on achieving the milestones for improvement agreed
with the commissioners. The Trust has received sign-off for Quarters 1 to 4 for the
milestones delivered for 2016/17.
The schemes agreed for 2016/17 are summarised in the table below together with the
key objectives and value associated with completion.

Report detail: Summary of CQUIN value achieved for 2016/17
TYPE CCG – National
SCHEME 1a - Introduction of health and wellbeing initiatives
Description of CQUIN scheme actions

Full year value Value achieved

The introduction of health and wellbeing initiatives covering physical
activity, mental health and improving access to physiotherapy for people
with MSK issues.

210,000

210,000

210,000

210,000

Providers should develop a plan and ensure the implementation against
this plan. This plan will be subject to peer review (further guidance will be
issue on the peer review aspect in the next 4-6 weeks). This should cover
the following three areas;
Introducing a range of physical activity schemes for staff. Providers would
be expected to offer physical activity schemes with an emphasis on
promoting active travel, building physical activity into working hours and
reducing sedentary behaviour. They could also introduce physical activity
sessions for staff which could include a range of physical activities such
as; team sports, fitness classes, running clubs and team challenges.
Improving access to physiotherapy services for staff. A fast track
physiotherapy service for staff suffering from musculoskeletal (MSK)
issues to ensure staff who are referred via GPs or Occupational Health
can access it in a timely manner without delay; and
Introducing a range of mental health initiatives for staff. Providers would
be expected to offer support to staff such as, but not restricted to; stress
management courses, line management training, mindfulness courses,
counselling services including sleep counselling and mental health first
aid training;

TYPE CCG – National
SCHEME 1a - 1b - Healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients
Part a
Providers will be expected achieve a step-change in the health of the
food offered on their premises in 2016/17, including:
a. The banning of price promotions on sugary drinks and foods high
in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS) . The majority of HFSS fall within the
five product categories: pre-sugared breakfast cereals, soft drinks,
confectionery, savoury snacks and fast food outlets;
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Description of CQUIN scheme actions
b. The banning of advertisement on NHS premises of sugary drinks and
foods high in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS);

Full year value Value achieved
210,000

210,000

c. The banning of sugary drinks and foods high in fat, sugar and salt
(HFSS) from checkouts; and
d. Ensuring that healthy options are available at any point including for
those staff working night shifts.
CQUIN funds will be paid on delivering the four outcomes above.
In many cases providers will be able to achieve these objectives by
renegotiating or adjusting existing contracts.
Part b
Providers will also be expected to submit national data collection returns
by July based on existing contracts with food and drink suppliers. This
will cover any contracts covering restaurants, cafés, shops, food trolleys
and vending machines or any other outlet that serves food and drink.
The data collected will include the following; the name of the franchise
holder, food supplier, type of outlet, start and end dates of existing
contracts, remaining length of time on existing contract, value of
contract and any other relevant contract clauses. It should also include
any available data on sales volumes of sugar sweetened beverages
(SSBs).

TYPE CCG – National
SCHEME 1c - Improving the uptake of flu vaccinations for front line staff within Providers
Achieving an uptake of flu vaccinations by frontline clinical staff of 75%

210,000

210,000

TYPE CCG – National
SCHEME 2a - Timely identification and treatment for sepsis in emergency departments
There are two parts to this indicator:
The percentage of patients who met the criteria for sepsis screening
and were screened for sepsis
The percentage of patients who present with severe sepsis, Red Flag
Sepsis or septic shock and were administered intravenous antibiotics
within the appropriate timeframe and had an empiric review within
three days of the prescribing of antibiotics.
The two indicators apply to adults and child patients arriving in the
hospital via the Emergency Department (ED) or by direct emergency
admission to any other unit (e.g. Medical Assessment Unit) or acute
ward.
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105,000

105,000

TYPE CCG – National
SCHEME 2b - Timely identification and treatment for sepsis in acute inpatient settings
Description of CQUIN scheme actions
There are two parts to this indicator:

Full year value Value achieved
105,000

105,000

The percentage of patients who met the criteria for sepsis screening
and were screened for sepsis
The percentage of patients who present with severe sepsis, Red Flag
Sepsis or septic shock and were administered intravenous antibiotics
within the appropriate timeframe and had an empiric review within
three days of the prescribing of antibiotics.
The two indicators apply to adults and child patients who are acute
hospital inpatients

TYPE CCG – National
SCHEME 4a - Reduction in antibiotic consumption per 1,000 admissions
There are three parts to this indicator.

168,000

168,000

1. Total antibiotic consumption per 1,000 admissions
2. Total consumption of carbapenem per 1,000 admissions
3. Total consumption of piperacillin-tazobactam per 1,000 admissions

TYPE CCG – National
SCHEME 4b - Empiric review of antibiotic prescriptions
Percentage of antibiotic prescriptions reviewed within 72 hours

42,000

42,000

TYPE CCG – Local
SCHEME STP Involvement
Active and on-going participation and engagement by system leaders
(clinical and non-clinical) in the preparation of the Sustainability and
Transformation Plan and the on-going work of the STP Clinical Working
Groups.

420,000

420,000

TYPE CCG – Local
SCHEME Dementia Discharge Summary
Improving discharge summaries with follow-up recommendations for
people with dementia or delirium.
CCG Total Value

315,000

315,000

2,100,000

2,100,000
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Statements from the Care Quality Commission
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust is required to register with the Care Quality
Commission and its current registration status is unconditional for all regulated
activities.
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust during 2016/17.
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust has not participated in any special reviews or
investigations by the Care Quality Commission during 2016/17.

The comprehensive inspections result in a Trust being assigned a rating of
‘outstanding’, ‘good’, ‘requires improvement’ or ‘inadequate’. Each section of the
service receives an individual rating, which, in turn, informs an overall trust rating. The
inspection found that overall the trust has a rating of ‘Good’.
Several areas of outstanding practice were noted:
• The Trust employed an Admiral Nurse to support people living with dementia, their
relatives and carers as well as staff. This was one of only five Admiral Nurses in acute
trusts in England.
• Staff worked with a local prison where consultants review patients that are at the
end of their lives and work with prison and hospital staff to ensure that patients
were safely admitted to the hospital or referred to the local hospice.
Action the hospital MUST take to improve (Need to expand and link to TQUIP)
– Ensure that there are sufficient numbers of suitably qualified, skilled and
experienced medical staff on duty in the emergency department. Also ensuring
that there are robust contingency plans and which forecast shortages and ensure
that sufficient cover is provided.
– Ensure that the time to treatment from a clinician in the emergency department
is reviewed and times to treatment are improved.
– Ensure that the triage process for ambulance arrivals is received to ensure that
the pathway for patients is safely and times of assessment accurately recorded.
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– Ensure that infection control practices within the emergency department are
improved.
– Ensure that the processes for the checking of equipment, particularly blood
glucose and anaphylaxis boxes, in the emergency department is improved and
safe for patients.

Data Quality
Good quality information underpins the effective delivery of safe patient care and is
essential to improvements in the quality of care provided. Data that is timely accurate
and relevant supports effective patient care and can contribute to a reduction in clinical
risk. Reliable information on all aspects of performance means the planning of future
services can be carried out with confidence.
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust submitted records during 2016/17 to the
Secondary Uses Services (SUS) for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES)
which are included in the latest published data.
The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid NHS
Number is shown below:
100
100
99
99
98
98
97
97
96
96
95

Admitted patient care

Outpatient care

Accident & Emergency care

95

Admitted
patient
careofinrecords
Outpatient
care
Accident
&code
Emergency
Percentage
including
the
patient’s
valid
The percentage
of records
the published
data
which
included
the GP
patient’s
valid care
100.0
General Medical Practice Code was:
Percentage of records including the patient’s valid GP code
99.8
100.0
99.6
99.8
99.4
99.6
99.2
99.4
99.0
99.2
98.8
99.0
98.6
98.8
98.4
98.6
98.4

Admitted patient care
Admitted patient care

Outpatient care

Accident & Emergency care

Trust
National
Outpatient care
Trust

Accident & Emergency care

National

Data source: NHS Digital SUS Data Quality Dashboard – Provider View; downloaded 07/04/2017 period
April 2016 to February 2017 (Month 11)
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Information Governance
Information Governance within the Trust is managed and controlled within the
implementation of the Information Governance Policy & Information Governance
Framework. The IG Policy is owned by the Information Governance Steering Group
which meets quarterly. For 2016/17, the Trust had an overall compliance score of 82%
(satisfactory) against a target score of 80% for Level 2 of version 14 of the Information
Governance Toolkit.
Information Governance training is mandatory for all our staff. All new staff to the
Trust undertake their IG training in a face-to-face setting, attending the Trust Induction.
Annual refresher training is undertaken by one of the following options:
• Intranet PowerPoint Presentation
• IG Workbook
• e-Learning
• Face-to-face Team Sessions
The Trust’s overall compliance with statutory and mandatory IG training for 2016/17
was 90.4%.
In 2016/17, the Trust reported three Serious Incidents relating to breaches in (Level 2
IG SIs must be reported to the Information Commissioners Office (ICO), Department
of Health and other central bodies/regulators) which relate to failure to enforce/follow
appropriate organisational or technical safeguards to protect information.
One was associated with the loss of a ward handover sheet and inappropriate access
to personal data. The second was associated with a bag stolen from a car containing
paperwork with patient identifiable information, an encrypted laptop and work
diary. The third incident related to access levels concerning the Trust’s electronic
handover tool. Whilst these three incidents were regrettable, it represented a notable
improvement compared to 2015/16 when 10 serious incidents were reported.
Work has continued throughout the year to remind staff of their responsibilities to
ensure the safe storage and disposal of confidential information. Trust induction
training, yearly mandatory training, regular electronic communications and computer
screensavers were just some of the successful methods we adopted to collaborate
with staff. Regular monitoring of ward handover sheets and the use of the confidential
waste bins was also closely monitored and fed back on a monthly basis to the
leadership teams of the Clinical Divisions. An updated communication campaign on
the importance of using confidential waste bins was also launched during November
2016. The Information Governance Team has recently thanked all staff trust-wide for
their focus and attention in using the confidential waste bins correctly to dispose of
confidential information at all exit areas of the Trust. There have been no Level 2 SIRIs
since November 2016.
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Clinical coding error rate
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust was not subject to the Payment by Results
clinical coding audit during 2016/17 by the Audit Commission. The Trust did undertake
a mixed speciality internal clinical coding audit in-year, with the following findings:

Trust Coding %

IG Toolkit recommended accuracy
targets, Level 2 %

Primary Diagnosis

90.00

>=90

Secondary Diagnosis

91.07

>=80

Primary Procedure

87.13

>=90

Secondary Procedure

81.16

>=80

The above table shows that the primary and secondary diagnosis and recordings were
good and all above the IG Toolkit Level 2 recommended accuracy targets. The primary
procedure score fell short of the recommended accuracy target. The samples tested
were small (30 sets of case notes each) and were different specialties were audited
compared to those studied last year. Coders are made aware both individually and as a
group of any errors found and how to avoid them. Short term monthly monitors have
been introduced to target specific errors and to ensure that they are not repeated.
Further audits will assess the robustness and effectiveness of this approach
It should be noted that these results should not be extrapolated further than the actual
sample that was audited (i.e. 200 episode audit).

Board Assurance/ Data Quality within the Trust
The Trust’s Integrated Performance Report has been strengthened with a broader range
of quality metrics within the five CQC domains – safe, effective, caring, responsive, and
well led. The data goes through a more robust process of assurance and alignment to
other data sources before being reported on the IPR. It aligns to the Governance & Risk
monthly dashboard and quality reports.
The Quality & Safety Committee provide the Board with a means of independent
and objective review and assurance of the delivery of these metrics along with high
quality care, clinical risk management and workforce arrangements and to support the
organisation in its delivery of care.
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Part 3 – Review of quality performance
3.1 Patient Safety
Incidents
The Trust implemented a new electronic incident reporting system in November 2015
(DATIX) with a training programme to support rollout. By April 2016, the Trust had
fully implemented the rollout with all areas reporting incidents on DATIX, increased
functionality, reports and analysis of data.
During 2016/17, there were 3,725 reported incidents across the Trust.
Incidents by severity
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Incidents which identify a possible harm to one of our patients are reviewed in
greater detail to establish the extent of any harm and the factors behind that. Such
initial investigations will in cases where harm is suspected, lead to a SWARM being
convened. A SWARM is a multi-disciplinary meeting at which the events and the
circumstances are reviewed along with the outcome for our patient to identify whether
an avoidable serious harm has occurred. This process will review the cases against
the Serious Incident criteria and if appropriate a full root cause analysis investigation
will be undertaken. If the panel do not consider the criterion is met, a non-reportable
investigation may be carried out to ensure appropriate lessons and learning are
extracted from the case.

Serious Incidents
Serious Incidents reported - year on year comparison
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The number
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Incidents has
decreased by
17% compared
to 2015/16
Apr May Jun

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2015/16

9

3

5

8

1

2

6

3

2

1

4

3

2016/17

4

4

4

2

1

2

3

4

6

5

2

2

Serious Incident Categories 2016/17
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A “deep-dive” report into the Serious Incidents reported in relation to diagnostic
incidents was carried out in December in conjunction with the local Clinical
Commissioning Group.
Although no significant themes or trends were identified, the Trust made a number of
improvements/adjustments, some of which are listed below:
• Introduction of joint clinical governance sessions between the ED & the orthopaedic
team to improve learning & communication
• Creation of a glaucoma database to track and manage patients
• New standard operating procedures for consenting glaucoma patients,
standardising reviews in echocardiography
• Updating the diabetic drug chart with prompt information and further guidance
• Updating the Trust’s guideline relating to the management of Hyperglycaemia
• Reviewing the process for the SBAR communication tool completion and use in
ward to ward handover
A well-attended Trust-wide learning event was held on 30 November 2016 which
included a presentation on Never Events and the specific ways in which Human Factors
can influence how we behave. The Trust is also reviewing options for Human Factors
training to be rolled out to clinical teams to enable them to understand how these can
have an impact on the standard of care we provide for our patients.

Duty of Candour
The statutory duty of candour regulations (Regulation 20 Health and Social Care Act
2008) came into force on 27th November 2014 for NHS bodies and 1st April 2015 for
all other health care providers regulated by the Care Quality Commission. The intention
of the regulation is to ensure that providers are open and transparent with relevant
persons in relation to care and treatment provided which mirrors our own desire to
be entirely open and transparent to the patient and public we serve. It also sets out
specific requirements to ensure patients and their families are told about ‘notifiable
patient safety’ incidents that affect them. They receive appropriate explanations and
apologies and are kept informed of any further investigations/actions if appropriate.
Of the 39 serious incidents reported in 2016/17, Duty of Candour was attempted in
100% of cases and carried out in full in 81% of cases. For the cases where Duty of
Candour was not performed or concluded, the following are applicable:
• The patient did not have capacity
• Infection Control outbreak investigations
• Trust wide Information Governance investigations with no specific patient breaches
• Initial duty of candour performed but patient’s declined a copy of the final report
• The Trust could not identify a next of kin
• Trust wide IT issues with no specific breach in confidentiality

124

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Safety thermometer
The NHS Safety Thermometer is a point of care survey that is carried out on 100% of patients on
one day each month by all Trusts. One of its most unique aspects is the concept of ‘harm free care’: it
records the proportion of patients who are free from any of the harm measured. Using a composite
measure such as this provides us with a more positive view of the care we deliver, and ensures that we
move away from thinking about harms in a siloed way.
Harm free care is defined by the absence of pressure ulcers, harm from a fall, urinary tract infection (in
patients with a catheter) and new venous thrombo-embolism (VTE). The report that is generated details
the number of patients ‘with harm’ on the specified audit date across all the in-patient wards. Harm
may not have occurred on the ward that it is captured on and therefore it is encouraged that all wards
discuss the root cause analysis of all harms across the Trust’s Medical and Surgical Divisions.
The harms reported are reviewed by the ward managers, quality matrons, falls specialist nurse and
tissue viability nurse. The report is circulated widely through the operational teams for discussion at the
Divisional Clinical Governance meetings as well as the Patient Safety Group and the Quality and Safety
Committee.
In addition, from March 2016, a review of harms acquired prior to admission (old harms) has started to
identify any trends or lessons to be learnt which can be shared with colleagues in primary care.
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Infection Prevention and Control
Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) remained a focus for improvement activity during
the year. Whilst our infection rates remained static, we are continually challenged to
evidence practice through documentation. This year we have achieved a reduction in
Catheter Associated Urinary Tract Infections (CAUTIs) of 15% on the previous year.
On another very positive note the Trust has not generated any cases of Carbapenem
Resistant Organisms in contrast to other NHS organisations in the East of England.
The number of Clostridium difficile infections reported for the year was 7, against a
trajectory of no more than 11 cases for the full year. Following post infection review
processes 4 cases were judged to be unavoidable and therefore non-attributable to the
Trust. The Trust did report 7 cases of Methicillin Sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA)
bacteraemia. These cases all occurred in the first quarter of the year.
During the year, the IPC team has focused on reducing MSSA bacteraemia. Workshops
were held monthly resulting in no further cases since October 2016. 9 cases of
Escherichia coli (E-Coli Bacteraemia) were reported which represents a 23% reduction
on the previous year. This may be linked to the reduction in CAUTIs. There is no
Department of Health target to reduce either of these infections at present. Three
outbreaks of Norovirus were managed in December 2016, and February and March
2017. In each case the outbreaks were contained within the wards where they were
identified. In December 2016 there were 6 positive patients on Apple Tree Ward, 19
symptomatic patients and 11 staff cases were identified. The ward was closed for 11
days from 10 – 22 December. In February 2017, there were 10 positive patients on
Apple Tree Ward, 25 symptomatic patients and 1 staff case. The ward was closed for
9 days from 13 - 22 February 2017. In March 2017, there were 6 positive patients on
MSSU, 11 symptomatic patients and 1 symptomatic staff case. The ward was closed for
3 days from the 7 to 10 March 2017.
A CQC action plan focusing on Hand Hygiene and the environment in the Emergency
Department was successfully implemented following improved practice.
As a result of the announced assurance visit by the CCG to 5 HHCT Wards in February
2017, the CCG issued a letter to the Trust CEO in March 2017 indicating that the
Quality Surveillance Group surveillance rating would be lifted to ‘enhanced’. This
followed quality concerns which had been discussed at the Contract and Clinical
Quality Review (CCQR) meeting between the Trust and the CCG which identified that
that the three high impact interventions had not been met on a sustained basis against
the 95% threshold. This covered Peripheral Venous Cannula, Ventilator Associated
Pneumonia, Urinary Catheter and MRSA Decolonisation throughout the year. It should
be noted, however, that in 2016/17 the Trust reduced the rate of Catheter Associated
Urinary Tract Infections by 15% which is very positive. The IPC team also supported the
Influenza Vaccination Project led by Occupational Health which achieved 76.5% uptake
the highest in the East of England.

Falls prevention
This remains a major focus for safety improvement activity. Falls metrics looking at the
numbers and associated harms are included as part of the Governance & Risk monthly
dashboard. These are discussed at the monthly Patient Safety Group with any concerns
around specific safety issues escalated to the Quality & Safety Committee. There were
no falls resulting in moderate harm to our patients over the last six months.
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Additional falls equipment has been ordered to be stored in the Medical Equipment
Library so that it is accessible for all wards. An education and training program to
identify Falls Champions in each clinical area is to be rolled out in Spring 2017. Badges
have been purchased to identify the link falls champion for each area.
The Trust provides falls training for our international nurses and care certificate
candidates.
The falls care plan documentation has been updated and is now in place. The care plan
has been adjusted to identify patients who may not have capacity to use their call bell
as this had been identified as a complication in a previous Trust Serious Incident.
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Pressure ulcers
The Tissue Viability Nurses (TVNs) review all hospital acquired pressure ulcers recorded
as Grade 2-4. Their investigation includes the completion of a route cause analysis
(RCA), a meeting with the Ward Sister and a decision made regarding whether it
was avoidable or unavoidable. Following these investigations the Trust has reported
12 that were deemed avoidable during 2016/17, of these 10 were Grade 2 ulcers
and two were Grade 3. On review of the hospital acquired pressure ulcers there
were eight Grade 1 ulcers; 37 Grade 2; four Grade 3; and 15 suspected deep tissue
injuries reported via DATIX within 2016/17. Monthly reports are distributed on ward
dashboards and discussions held at Governance meetings.
The TVNs completed spot checks of documentation on wards between January and
March 2017, the results of which were shared within the monthly ward meetings.
Ongoing ward based teaching sessions continue across the hospital focusing on the
Trusts “Stop the Pressure” campaign and the use of the SSKIN bundle.
As part of the ongoing target to eliminate all avoidable Grade 2- 4 pressure ulcers
the TVN’s have worked in partnership with the medical equipment library staff
and representatives from Frontier Medical to review Repose products and increase
appropriate through Trust wide training and education. This education process
continues.
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The TVN’s have also continued teaching on Induction/mandatory training days,
partnership days and ward training days. These sessions are designed to highlight
pressure ulcer prevention and accurate grading. Education sessions have also been
designed and carried out for the first time within Midwifery.
Education leaflets continue to be distributed to all patients’ at risk of developing a
pressure ulcer within the trust.

Medication error reporting
2016/17 has seen continued improvement in the management of the medication
error reporting system in the Trust. The introduction of DATIX has facilitated significant
improvements in the capability of medication errors to be appropriately graded and
investigated. This has had the beneficial result of improving organization wide learning
through the Medication Safety Committee, medication safety bulletins and quality
dashboards. The percentage of medicine errors rated as causing harm to patients has
reduced consistently through the year from 13% in April 2016 to 6% in Mar 2017.
Through the last 12 months the Trust has taken active steps to improve medicine safety
to all patients by updating the medicine chart and piloting a new diabetes chart. These
developments will now be taken forward into the design and production of combined
charts as part of NW Anglia NHS FT. The Trust continues to successfully implement all
national medicine patient safety alerts in-line with identified timeframes and promote
this work to all clinical staff in the Trust. In the last quarter of this year the Drugs and
Therapeutic Committees across both the former HHCT and PSHFT combined their
agendas and now hold a joint meeting going into 2017/18. Discussions are underway
with regards to the role of the Medication Safety Officer within the new Trust and the
format of the Medication Safety Committee.

Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences
Regulations [RIDDOR]
These regulations require the Trust to report to the Health and Safety Executive certain
designated accidents connected with work. This applies to employees, patients and
visitors.
During 2016/17, the Trust has continued to learn from reportable incidents and to
review systems where appropriate in order to reduce the number of incidents requiring
external reporting. With the introduction of DATIX, the Trust has seen an improvement
in the reporting, assessment and identification of any necessary remedial action for
potential RIDDOR reportable incidents. Year to date, the Trust has reported 9 incidents
with none expected to result in claims against the Trust. As at 17 March, there has
been no litigation intended for 2016/17 (year to date) with no claims submitted. For
2014/15, 1 x case resulted in a claim but was closed without damages. For 2015/16,
2 claims had been made. One of which is still open with £10k of damages agreed
but costs yet to be agreed. The remaining case for 2015/16, remains open with no
damages or costs agreed. A settlement has not been reached.
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Adult Safeguarding
The Trust employs a Designated Adult Safeguarding MCA &DOLs Lead and a Learning
Disability Liaison Nurse. The table below shows compliance with mandatory Adult
Safeguarding training requirements.
Trust compliance
April 2016-December 2016

Quarter 1

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Quarter 4

Adult Safeguarding

96%

95%

95%

94%

Mental Capacity Act- MCA &Deprivation of
90%
Liberty Safeguards - DOLS

89%

89%

89%

PREVENT Basic Awareness *

61%

61%

70%

86%

PREVENT WRAP *

29%

29%

35%

70%

*NB The contractual arrangements with the CCG are to reach compliance by 31st March 2017

Adult safeguarding referrals in relation to the Trust’s care or treatment of a patient
are monitored and outcomes from investigations are reviewed to ensure lessons
are learned. Of the 2 cases referred about care provided by the Trust, both were
investigated and were found to be unsubstantiated. There has been a significant
decrease in the number of concerns the Trust are being asked to investigate by the
local authority; this may be in part due to the way the referrals are being processed
following the implementation of the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) .There
has also been a decrease in the referrals relating to patients discharge that in previous
years were referred inappropriately as safeguarding rather than a concern or complaint.
In 2016/17, 35 formal referrals have been made by the Trust about care provided to
the patient in the community; Trust staff receive feedback about appropriateness of
referrals from the Designated Adult Safeguarding Lead. The number of enquiries to the
safeguarding lead are not recorded unless the enquiry leads to a formal referral.
During 2016-17, seven referrals have been made to the Independent Mental
Capacity Advocacy Service (IMCA) for decisions relating to serious medical treatment
and 44 applications have been made for urgent Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
authorisations. Requests to the Supervisory Body (Cambridgeshire County Council) for
a seven day extension is made for all urgent DOLS authorisations; this is the maximum
time legally allowed prior to assessments being completed by the supervisory Body.

Safeguarding children (see also Part 2 of this report)
The Trust has a fully established team of Named Nurse, Midwife and Doctor. The
Emergency Department has 5.0 whole time equivalent (WTE) paediatric nurses working
including a Paediatric sister leading the team. The recruitment process is underway for
another 0.5 WTE nurse to complete a full establishment of paediatric nurses in ED.
HHCT are reporting the percentage of paediatric nursing cover in ED in a quarterly
report which is monitored through the joint safeguarding committee. The last 12
months compliance percentages have all remained above 95% with occasional cover
through regular paediatric bank staff to ensure 24/7 shift cover.
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Training on safeguarding children continues; the table below shows compliance across
the three levels of training required:
Training level

Number of staff
requiring

Number of staff
completed

Compliance
percentage %

Safeguarding children Level 1

1757

1624

92%

Safeguarding children Level 2

968

839

86%

Safeguarding children Level 3

142

130

91%

There is a trajectory, risk assessment and action plan in place to increase the level 2
safeguarding percentage across the trust to achieve above 90%. Safeguarding level 2
training is delivered to all clinical staff face to face as 2-3 sessions per month and is also
delivered at induction to all new staff commencing in the trust. There is monthly face to
face level 3 safeguarding training which is available to all staff requiring the training as
indicated in the intercollegiate document. The level 3 training is delivered collaboratively
with the CCS trainer and is available to all CCS staff ensuring a diverse multi-agency
mix attendance.
Further training is also provided: two paediatric nurses have completed Emergency
Paediatric Life Support (EPLS) with a plan to send other members of the paediatric team
and the band 6 sisters from the Emergency Department. All Emergency Department
staff nurses and Sisters have completed Paediatric Intermediate Life Support (PILs)
training, with data recorded in a local database and ESR records to reflect training
compliance. In addition, Emergency Department staffs have completed a 2 day IMPS
(initial management paediatric skills) course which is run in house in collaboration
with Cambridge Community Services. All ED including the paediatric nurse have the
opportunity to attend ‘in-house’ paediatric development days which includes external
speakers and clinical supervision for the staff. In addition to this all staff have to
complete a competency pack which includes a section for paediatric competencies.
These are reviewed and monitored through staff appraisals.
The Trust completes a non–accidental injury (NAI) screening tool on all paediatric
patients attending the Emergency Department; this is a mandatory field and highlights
any safeguarding issues. There is a clear process of escalation and actions to be taken
if any safeguarding issues are raised. The NAI screening tool is audited on a monthly
basis to monitor compliance and identify training needs to safeguard children. There is
a robust process to share information with Health Visitors and School Nurses and social
care if necessary. This is communicated through Emergency Department staff training
and a referral criteria list which is featured on the children’s safeguarding board. These
referrals can be made by staff for any child who they think would benefit from early
help or additional support. All paediatric patients are regularly reviewed to ensure
referrals are made for any children that meet the criteria.
There is a clear pathway for all staff to make referrals to social care. The referral process
is included in both induction and mandatory training. Referrals to Social Care continue
to be predominantly made by the Emergency Department and these are reviewed
quarterly through audit. All referrers are given feedback on the quality of referral and
on outcome of their referral from social care. This provides staff with assurance that
their referral has been received and gives guidance on Social Care thresholds to guide
and improve practice for future. Social care have been delivering training at the level
3 safeguarding children training sessions on the ‘referral process’ to ensure staff are
making good referrals to safeguard children.
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Quarterly safeguarding reports are completed, reviewed and monitored through joint
safeguarding committee before submission to the CCG. Relevant action plans are
submitted with this report to provide progress assurance.
There are currently 13 paediatric pathways which have been developed collaboratively
with CCS and are used in ED and on the paediatric ward. These pathways have been
developed in accordance with NICE guidelines and ensure children are safely managed
when attending the Emergency Department.
Current actions plans being reviewed and monitored through joint safeguarding
committee:
• Safeguarding children action log
• Lampard review action plan
• Veritas action plan
• CQC safeguarding action plan
• Section 11 action plan
Plan to complete Goddard inquiry action plan by May 2017
The following internal governance meetings occur for paediatrics in HHCT:
• ED liaison meeting – monitors ED performance, incidents, complaints, training and
breaches (attended by HHCT and CCS)
• CAMH liaison meeting – monitors the CAMH pathway between ED and the
paediatric ward, other issues discussed include incidents, CAMH risk assessment
tool, and breaches (attended by HHCT, CCS, CPFT)
• PPL (Paediatric perioperative liaison meeting) Monitors any paediatric surgical issues,
incidents, complaints, training and surgical pathways (attended by HHCT and CCS)
• Joint safeguarding committee – chaired by director of nursing, discusses both adult
and children’s safeguarding issues which are escalated to the Quality and Safety
Meeting or Hospital Management Committee as required.
• Outpatients liaison meeting group – new meeting set up, attended by HHCT
outpatient leads to discuss incidents, complaints, DNA pathway and DNA
percentages, staff training, current national guidelines

Staff Survey results
The annual NHS Staff Survey results provide the Trust with evidence of our staff work
experience and are a reflection of our organisation’s governance and culture. It is also
an important way of ensuring we focus our efforts in those areas where our staff tell
us they want to see the biggest improvements in staff experience. The 2016 NHS
Staff Survey has 32 key findings and our results in comparison to 2015 showed the
following variations in categories:
Improvement:

2

Remained the Same:

29

Decreased:

1
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When compared to the national average for acute trusts, the key areas for
Hinchingbrooke were split as follows:
HHCT performance
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The five key findings for which our staff experiences compares most favourably with
other acute trusts in England:
• Staff satisfaction with quality of work and care they are able to deliver (KF2)
• Staff motivation at work (KF4)
• % of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the
public in last 12 months (KF25)
• % of staff experiencing physical violence from patients, relatives or the public in last
12 months (KF22)
• % of staff/colleagues reporting most recent experience of harassment, bullying or
abuse (KF27)
The 2016 results also showed some areas where our Trust compares less favourably
with other acute trusts and these form the starting point for local action plans to drive
improvement as an employer. These were:
• % of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in last 12 months
(KF26)
• % of staff reporting good communication between senior management and staff
(KF6)
• % of staff attending work in the last 3 months despite feeling unwell because they
felt pressure from their manager, colleagues or themselves (KF18)
• Support from immediate managers (KF10)
• Fairness and effectiveness of procedures for reporting errors, near misses and
incidents (KF30)
• % of staff believing that the Trust provides equal opportunities for career
progression or promotion (KF21)
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In line with the guidance received from NHS England in January 2017, the Trust is
required to report on two specific Indicators – KF26 and KF21.
KF 26 - % of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in last
12 months shows a slight increase of 4% from 28% in 2015 to 32% in 2016. The
average for NHS Acute Trusts from the 2016 Survey is 24%
KF21 - % of staff believing that the Trust provides equal opportunities for career
progression or promotion shows a slight improvement for white staff of 2% from 89%
in 2015 to 91% in 2016, although a slight deterioration for Black and Minority Ethnic
(BME) Staff of 3% from 68% in 2015 to 65% in 2016. The average for NHS Acute
Trusts from the 2016 Survey is 88% for White Staff and 68% for BME.

3.2 Clinical Effectiveness
Monitoring in-patient care
Every month, the quality and risk management dashboards are discussed in the relevant
divisions. As part of this, ward performance is reviewed covering such areas as:
• Compliance with hand hygiene standards
• Compliance with sharps
• Compliance with outcome eight standards
• Compliance with saving lives urinary catheter care bundle
• VTE assessment score
• Prophylaxis score
• Documentation standards
• Central venous catheter – insertion and on-going care
• Peripheral lines
• Surgical site infections
• Urinary catheter insertion and on-going care
• • Ventilated patients

Monitoring mortality
Following several national reviews carried out to examine the relationship between
excess and avoidable mortality a case note review process was implemented. The Trust
has implemented divisional Mortality and Morbidity meetings and has a mortality
surveillance group (MSG) with multi-disciplinary and multi professional membership.
The role of the MSG is to provide assurance to the Trust Board on mortality. Assurance
is based on review of care received by those who die as well as understanding the
statistics provided by the Dr Foster data and alerts.
It is the expectation of the Trust for all inpatient deaths to receive a standard screening
of care and is classified using the NCEPOD classification scale of care.
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A

Good Practice

A standard that you accept for yourself, your trainees and your institution

B

Room for
Improvement

Aspects of clinical care that could have been better

C

Room for
Improvement

Aspects of organisational care that could have been better

D

Room for
Improvement

Aspects of both clinical and organisational care that could have been better

E Less than

Several aspects of clinical and/or organisational care that were well below
satisfactory
PLEASE REPORT A CLINICAL ADVERSE EVENT

Satisfactory

Outcome

A

B

C

Med
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Med

Sur

Med

Apr 16

29

2

6

2

1

May 16

31

2

9

1
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5

5

Jul 16
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5

Aug 16

28

3

6

Sep 16
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5

3

Oct 16

28

4

2

Nov 16

19

4

7

Dec 16

23

1

2

3

Jan 17

23

6

4

Feb 17

24

Mar 17

15

2

D
Sur

Med

E
Sur

Med

Unknown

Sur

2

38

4

42

42

100%

1

42

2

44

44

100%

27

7

34

35

97%

6

37

10

47

48

98%

2

36

3

39

40

98%

22

7

29

36

81%

36

5

41

45

91%

27

5

32

40

80%

29

1

30

40

75%

41

3

44

49

90%

1

25

2

27

43

63%

2

17

0

17

53

32%

3

1

1

2

Sur

1

1
1

1

1

Med

Total
Total
deaths reviewed

Med

2

Sur

Grand
total

Total

1

4

1
1
3

5

3

Completed mortality reviews is currently 83% for the rolling 12 months ending
March 2017.
The organisation held two Trust-wide mortality learning events over the last 12 months
which included the following presentations:
• Review of Fracture Neck of Femur Deaths
• Dr Foster Mortality Data
• How well are HHCT doing with Mortality reviews
• Pancreatitis Death
• Care of the Dying
• Saving Babies Lives (Video)
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Dr Foster report
(12 month rolling data)
- Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR)
The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) is the ratio of observed deaths to
expected deaths for a basket of 56 diagnosis groups, which represent approximately
80% of in hospital deaths. The Trust has seen a consistent decrease in the Hospital
Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR), falling from 90.99 to 85.6 and being in the
category of “better than expected” for the hospital’s case mix. The Trust is 1 of 4 (out
of 17) who sit within the ‘lower than expected’ range. The Trust’s crude rate for the
HSMR basket is 2.8% (Peer group Crude rate = 3.70%)
Diagnoses - HSMR | Mortality (in-hospital) | Jan 2016 - Dec 2016 | Trend (rolling 12 months)
Diagnoses - HSMR | Mortality (in-hospital) | Jan 2016 - Dec 2016 | Trend (rolling 12 months)
95% Confidence interval
As expected
Low
High
95% Confidence interval
As expected
High
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Period Rolling 12 months
Model Month: Sep 2016
Period Rolling 12 months
Model Month: Sep 2016
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There is no significant difference between the weekday and weekend HSMR for
emergency admissions. Both are ‘lower than expected’
Diagnoses - HSMR | Mortality (in-hospital) | Nov 2015 - October 2016 | Trend (rolling 12 months)
Diagnoses - HSMR | Mortality (in-hospital) | Nov 2015 - October 2016 | Trend (rolling 12 months)
Admission type: Non-elective
Admission type: Non-elective
Period Rolling 12 months
Period Rolling 12 months

Analyse by Weekend/weekday admis
Analyse by Weekend/weekday admis

Measure Relative risk
Measure Relative risk
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Weekday
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- Standard Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI)
The SHMI is the ratio between the actual number of patients who die following
hospitalisation at the Trust and the number that would be expected to die on the basis
of average England figures, given the characteristics of the patients treated there.
• All diagnosis SMR = 84.4 ‘lower than expected’ range
• Crude rate within All diagnosis basket = 1.2% (East of England Peer group rate =
1.5%)
• There are 2 significant outliers within the ‘All diagnosis’ SMR basket for this time
period:
– Other perinatal conditions (same as last report)
– Abdominal pain
Diagnoses | Mortality (in-hospital) | Jan 2016 - Dec 2016 | Trend (month)
Diagnoses | Mortality (in-hospital) | Jan 2016 - Dec 2016 | Trend (month)
As expected

High

Low

95% Confidence interval
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Dementia Care
Significant work was been undertaken in 2015/16 to develop the care pathway for
patients with dementia. The Trust’s Dementia Steering Group led the implementation
of the Dementia Strategy. The group also developed the Admiral Nurse role and
in February 2016 the Trust was proud to announce the appointment of their own
Admiral Nurse – Angela Moore - only the fifth in the country and the first in the
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough area. The post holder is the first point of contact for
carers of patients with dementia and for community teams ensuring effective liaison.
The post holder also works closely with the Psychiatric Liaison Team with a focus on
effectiveness for acute episodes of care for dementia patients. The Admiral Nurse sees
all patients admitted with a known diagnosis of dementia and those where this is being
considered. She also sees patients with delirium.
A key area for improving effectiveness in this important aspect of patient care is
training. Level 1 training is provided for all staff at induction and for mandatory update
days. Level 2 training is a full day and was rolled out from April 2016. The use of a
blue butterfly displayed at patients bedsides and in ward information boards is in place
to assist staff in recognising those patients with dementia care needs. Audit of this
symbol demonstrates the need for reinforcement of the use of the butterfly and of the
booklets ‘This is me’.
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With the help of charitable funds, three interactive trollies have been provided to assist
those staff allocated to provide one-to-one care. These include a television screen, films
and music to provide reminiscence therapy and also have an information leaflet to
assist staff in providing such care. Sensory bands are also available for patient use.
The Trust has collaborated with the national ‘John’s Campaign’ (with a focus on
encouraging carers to support their loved ones while in hospital including outside
visiting hours, and on carer support) and with the Tommy Whitelaw initiative (with a
focus on his experiences of caring for his mother who had dementia). There is also
close working with colleagues in neighbouring Trusts and with a local school around art
work.
During 2016/17, practical training sessions have been established to raise awareness
of person centred care. With the support of the Friends of Hinchingbrooke Hospital,
the day room on our Acute Trauma and Orthopaedic Ward has been upgraded which
has been welcomed by staff and the Ward Manager . The day room on Cherry Ward
has also been moved to improve access for patients which has proved successful and
often hosts afternoon teas and music sessions. During 2016/17, we have also increased
our number of dementia champions which now includes ancillary staff and volunteers.
We have put in place three full day training sessions a year and have recently, with the
additional support of charitable funding, given staff the opportunity to experience the
virtual dementia tour. Feedback from staff has been very positive; most feel that all staff
should undertake this experience as part of mandatory training.
Our volunteers continue to grow and enjoy the dementia champion role; most
have had personal experience of dementia in their lives so are able to share their
lived experience with staff. We continue to work closely with Carers Trust, our local
Dementia Action Alliance, and Women’s Institute. We have recently been gifted
carers packs to support carers visiting the Trust. In November 2016, our Admiral Nurse
hosted our first dementia conference. Our key note speaker was Chris Mason and
his wife Jane on living with young onset dementia. We were also able to welcome
back again Tommy Whitelaw. We are working closely with local organisations sharing
best practice in dementia care. There has been increased Training for staff to support
recognition of delirium which has seen a significant increase in diagnosis whilst still
reducing length of stay.

Maternity services
Breastfeeding Friendly Initiative assessment.
This is a worldwide programme of the World Health Organisation and UNICEF. It was
established in 1992 to encourage maternity services to provide parents with the best
possible care to build close and loving relationships with their baby and to feed their
baby in ways which will support optimum health and development.
The Trust performed well against all the standards assessed in 2015 for level two
and have been preparing for the next stage Level three assessment which is being
undertaken on 31 May 2017.
Inductions of Labour
The Maternity Services monitors the rates of induction of labour (IOL). Currently over
the last year the IOL rate has been between 34-37%. The rate is compared against
national average rates which is 26%. A detailed review has been undertaken the
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results of which were reviewed by the Trust’s Patient Safety Group and the Quality &
Safety Committee (Board Committee). Lessons identified from the review of the data,
together with the detection of any patterns or trends, were captured and included in
an action plan to address the high rate of IOL (concern due to patient experience not
outcome of labour).
Stillbirths
We had a cluster of stillbirths in 2016/17 which was over the expected incidence
rate for the Trust. Prior to this, the Trust had a lower than national average rate for
stillbirths. As a result of this, the Trust took the following actions:
• We undertook an internal review, implemented SCOR (Standardised Clinical
Outcome Review), a tool for measuring perinatal and early neonatal mortality for
themes and outcomes and began undertaking RCAs into all stillbirths as a minimum
requirement for learning.
• We commissioned an external review which did not identify any shared themes
amongst the cases, and highlighted issues that the service was already aware of
from the RCA/SI processes and already working on improvement and development
through an action plan (i.e. competency assessment in customised growth charts).
Sustaining Resilience at Work (STRAW)
The Department signed up to the Royal College of Midwives ‘Caring for you Charter’,
which involved a signed commitment towards staff wellbeing. This for example
involved the development of STRAW practitioners (peer support for those staff in
psychological distress) and the commencement of resilience workshops. The ‘Caring
for you Charter’ involves an action plan being developed to explore events and
developments concerned solely with staff wellbeing.
Training Initiatives
The Department was successful in obtaining a national Maternity Safety Training
bid from the Department of Health for £54,000 to explore additional safety focused
training; i.e. Labour ward leadership; communication skills; higher dependency care;
perinatal mental health; Birth rights; bereavement training; and for two new temporary
midwifery posts with a safety focus i.e. CTG (cardiotocography) interpretation and
GROW (fetal growth). In addition, the Trust was successful in winning a Maternity
Safety Innovation bid for £10,000 to develop a midwifery led AMBER service around
advocacy and birth afterthoughts for women with additional needs i.e. previous
stillbirth, perinatal mental health issues, VBAC (Vaginal Birth after Caesarean) etc.
Supervision of Midwifery
Supervision of Midwifery was removed from statute on 31 March 2017. There is to
be an expectation some type of midwifery supervision as per amended NHS standard
contract. The A-EQUIP model of supervision is being suggested by NHS England
although not mandated. Any model chosen will be purely employer led.
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End of life care
In August 2016 the CQC rated End of Life Care as “Good” in all five inspection
domains; safe, effective, caring, responsive and well-led. This was a big achievement
since the previous report in January 2016, after an inspection in October 2015. The
work of our Palliative Medicine Consultant, enabling prisoners at local Littlehey prison
to access palliative care services, was highlighted as an area of outstanding practice by
the CQC.
In February 2016 a Macmillan Practice Development Nurse was appointed to support
the education of staff around end of life care. This has seen the compliance in end
of life training increase from 41% to 73%. It is now mandatory for all medical staff
to receive end of life care training. This post has also enabled ongoing audit and
development of the Palliative care service across the hospital.
End-of-life care is provided by all our staff, with approximately 500 adult deaths
occurring at Hinchingbrooke Hospital each year. The Chaplaincy Team and
Bereavement services continue to provide a consistent high quality service to patients
and their families. In January-March 2016 we undertook our first Bereaved Relative’s
Survey. This showed that 78% of respondents said there was enough help to meet
personal care needs and 100% of respondents said the healthcare team dealt with
them in a sensitive manner after their relative had died. This information is now
collected routinely during relatives visit to Bereavement Services to provide real time
feedback about the care received in Hinchingbrooke.
The hospital participated in the National Care of the Dying in Hospitals audit. Data
published in 2016 showed that Hinchingbrooke scored higher than the national
average at recognising a patient was likely to die in the coming days or hours (90%
compared to 83% nationally) and in communicating this recognition to the patient or
relative (90% compared to 79% nationally).
During 2016/17 the Palliative Care Team introduced an electronic referral system.
A recent audit has shown that 94% of patients were seen within the time frame
requested by the referrer. From September 2015 the Palliative Care Team has operated
a seven-day-a-week face-to-face service. This was reduced to a six day service due to
staff shortages from January 2017 but a seven day service was re-instated in Easter
2017.

3.3 Patient Experience
Responsiveness to national targets around waiting times
Formally reported patient experience indicators per month include a range of waiting
times, long lengths of hospital stay, complaints and compliments received and results
from the national programme of Friends and Family Test. The Trust is required to
achieve a number of key national targets and priorities, as outlined within the NHSI
Single Oversight Framework which was introduced in 2016/17. The Annual Report
gives further details about the Trust’s performance against national access standards
and indicators (see Section 3 – Performance Report).
The Trust generally performed well against the mandatory performance indicators;
however, failed to deliver the A&E four hour waiting time standard for the year with
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a full year performance of 79.78% against the target of 95%. System wide pressures
meant that we were not able to maintain performance consistently during the year.
The factors impacting on performance have, in the main, been bed pressures resulting
in the lack of capacity impacting on the ability to maintain capacity and flow in the
Emergency Department. There have also been fluctuations in major and ambulance
attendances, causing challenges with maintaining flow consistently through the
hospital.
Actions to improve performance include significant ongoing work with our external
partners to manage delays (including Delayed Transfers of Care). Daily escalation
calls are now in place with all partners, with a significant reduction in lost bed days.
Adherence to professional standards continues to improve. This is evidenced by an
increasing number of patients being seen by a senior clinician within 60 minutes
of arrival in the Emergency Department. A Turnaround Plan is in place to improve
performance and capacity which is managed on a daily basis. Following discussions
with NHS Improvement and NHS England through the A&E Delivery Board, further
plans are in place, with a new Emergency Nurse Practitioner (ENP) starting recently
and ENP cover now provided seven days a week 10am to 10pm; additional overnight
middle grades in ED; and weekend Physicians to improve flow and capacity through
increased weekend discharges. These actions have impacted on our performance in
March with our performance against the 95% A&E Waiting Time Standard in month
of 89.25%. With effect from 9 March 2017, the Trust met the 95% standard for seven
days in a row and on 22 March we achieved 100% performance.

Mixed sex accommodation breaches
The Trust aims to care for all in-patients in single sex accommodation in order to protect
their privacy and dignity. During 2016/17, the Trust did not report any mixed sex
accommodation breaches.

Complaints
As a Trust we are committed to working with our patients and their families/carers to
ensure that they are engaged in all aspects of their care, that their experiences are as
positive as possible and that their feedback informs continuous service improvements.
The Governance & Risk complaints team continued to work closely with the Patient
Advice & Liaison Service (PALS) to try to resolve any concerns raised and support
patients and relatives informally. Complaints leaflets are available throughout the Trust
and online, supported by the Trust’s Responding to Feedback Policy on complaints
handling which was revised in October 2016.
Significant work has been undertaken to review and revise the process for managing
formal complaints. Progress against key metrics is tracked on a monthly basis in
the Governance & Risk dashboard, which was introduced in September 2016. This
identifies hot spots for improvement. A more detailed quarterly analysis of the
complaint numbers, themes and lessons is provided as part of the Governance & Risk
quarterly report.
When considering the improvements required in managing formal complaints, the Trust
identified the following hot spots which required attention:
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• Numbers of new complaints received each month leading to focus on specific areas
if identified
• Re-opened complaints each month
• Closed complaint numbers by month
• The number of open complaints by division each month
In September 2016, the Trust commenced work on a divisionally led investigation
& response process as part of the revised responding to Feedback policy. This has
shown improvements in the number of open complaints. The Trust finished the year
in 2015/16 with 57 open complaints. As of 10 March 2017, the Trust had 29 open
complaints.
The Trust received 172 complaints from April 2016 to March 2017 (compared to 210 in
2014/15). The top 10 issues raised by category are shown in the table below:
Complaints by subject (Top 10)
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For all of the complaints received since 1 April 2016, all complainants received
an acknowledgement within 3 working days (100%). This is in line with the NHS
complaints regulations.
Year on year comparison of complaints received
2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

242

247

210

172

The Trust shows an 18% decrease on the number of complaints received when
compared to the previous year. All enquiries are reviewed and discussed with the
complainant and an invitation to discuss concerns at a local resolution meeting is also
made.
There have been 27 complaints local resolution meetings held during 2016/17.
Closed Complaints
Number Upheld

Number Partially Upheld

Number Not Upheld

43

100

65
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PHSO
The Trust is aware of five cases which have been referred to the Parliamentary & Health
Service Ombudsman (PHSO) since 1 April 2016.
Three investigations have been concluded and final reports issued. None of the three
cases were upheld by the PHSO as the investigator did not identify any unaddressed
deficiencies in the care or treatment provided and no concerns with the management
of the formal complaint. The outcome of the two remaining cases is awaited.
In addition to the countless verbal ‘thank you’ messages and cards given to staff, 203
formal compliments were forwarded to corporate teams for recording purposes.

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
The PALS service is situated at the front entrance of the main hospital and is available
to assist patients, relatives and staff with on-the-spot advice and facilitate meetings
with clinical teams or support services on their behalf.
Communicating with PALS via the telephone or email is the preferred method of
contact.
During the 12 months from April 2016 to March 2017, PALS had a total of 935
contacts, 556 of which required PALS investigations together with a further 379
requests for general information or signposting to other departments and services.

1.1 PALS enquiries by Category Type:
Category Type

2016 / 2017

2015/ 2016

Information

0

208

Quality of care

79

104

Communication

140

72

Waiting

14

70

Attitude of staff

59

19

Environment

4

0

Access

11

5

Total

307

340

Total PALS contacts 2016/2017
120
98

100

82

89
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77
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67

61

64
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1.2 Areas of Learning :
• Communication
I. Demarcation lines of responsibility between surgical and medical staff being
reviewed by both associate medical directors to avoid unnecessary delays in
writing up basic medications.
II. Not being clear when discussing probable waiting times for surgical
procedures raises patient expectations as to how quickly they will be seen.
III. Informing patients and relatives why there is a delay in performing a
diagnostic test will reduce anxiety.
IV. Including relatives and carers in discussions at all times, especially when
discharge is imminent, will avoid complaints to the Trust about lack of
information or short notice of discharge.
• Systems/Knowledge
I. New staff having full knowledge of services offered at the Trust and
procedures around checking if a bed is available for a patient will avoid the
frustration of having to send the patient home and delays for treatment when
referred to the wrong hospital.
II. Consistency in usage of symbols across the patch will assist new medical staff
to recognise patients with dementia or at risk of falling.
• Nurses not providing the level of care that a patient of relative expects. Incidents
have been raised with the senior nurse on the wards to discuss with their staff.
• Assuming that the treatment we provide is consistent with what a patient from
abroad would expect has caused anxiety in some patients when treatment has
differed from their expectations.
• Lack of privacy in Ambulatory Care makes relatives uncomfortable with patients
being treated and conversations easily overhead nearby.
• Attitudes of staff not always appropriate and empathetic.

Friends and Family Test
We monitor and measure patient experience and satisfaction in a range of ways,
including PALs enquiries, national Surveys, local surveys, the Friends and Family Test
(FFT), social media and on-line patient feedback.
Since April 2013, and in line with the Department of Health Guidance, the Trust has
been gathering patient feedback via the national Friends and Family Test. Patients are
asked at the point of discharge whether they would recommend a friend or family
member to be treated at our Trust. FFT is collected across the Trust and grouped into
3 key reporting work-streams Accident and Emergency Departments (ED), Maternity
Services and Inpatients. The survey results help the Trust to identify both good and
bad areas of performance plus key themes regarding the quality of service. Patient’s
comments are available for all Trust team members to access ‘live’ through our internal
portal and are displayed in most areas. The Trust’s Quality and Safety Committee,
Divisional Performance meeting and Patient Experience Group (PEG) monitor both Trust
and divisional performance in relation to FFT results and reports are presented and
discussed at the Trust’s Hospital Management Committee (HMC).
Across all areas of the Trust we collect FFT data using a postcard, and inpatients and
maternity response rates remain above the national average; however, like many Trusts
of a similar size and nationally we struggle to FFT feedback from patients in A&E.
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2016

TARGET
%

Apr May Jun
%
%
%

Jul
%

2017

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan
%
%
%
%
% %

Feb
%

Mar Year
%
end
%

National
average year
end result %

A&E
Hinchingbrooke >=15%
Response Rate

9

7

6

7

9

6

11

13

7

8

7

6

8

13%

Inpatients
Hinchingbrooke >=40%
Response Rate

41

38

43

33

41

35

39

46

47

50

46

44

42

25%

Maternity
Hinchingbrooke >=20%
Response Rate

23

17

22

30

24

19

24

35

34

34

21

28

26

23%

Response rates for inpatients and Maternity have consistently exceeded the national
average and the Trust is one of the top performing Trusts within its benchmarking
group (those of a similar size). However in the spirit of getting to ‘good and beyond’,
we continue to aspire to improve our response rates and enhance patient feedback.
Since October 2014 the previous method of calculating Trust satisfaction scores (FFT),
using the net promoter score, was discontinued. The score is now calculated by
percentage of patients who would recommend the Trust compared with those who
would not.
2016

2017

Apr May Jun
%
%
%

Jul
%

A&E
Hinchingbrooke
>=95%
Satisfaction
Score

94

93

92

93

94

93

95

96

97

99

94

98

95

86

Inpatients
Hinchingbrooke
>=95%
Satisfaction
Score

95

98

98

98

98

97

97

99

99

98

99

98

98

96

Maternity
Hinchingbrooke
>=95%
Satisfaction
Score

100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

98

100

100

100

97

TARGET
%

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan
%
%
%
%
% %

Feb
%

Mar Year
%
end
%

National
average year
end result %

Year end results; Inpatients recommended rate is 98% compared to a national average
of 96%, Maternity touch point 2 is 100% against a national average of 97% and
Accident and Emergency is 95% compared to a national average of 86%. The 3 key
divisions consistently exceed the national average and appear in the top performing
Trusts both nationally and compared with our benchmarking group. The scores
collected are published on our website and individual wards and department scores are
displayed on the ward “ward huddle boards” for both staff and patients.
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National Survey Programme 2015 survey results
The national survey is used as a key to measure patient experience and perceptions
across the NHS and the Trust. The 70 questions presented to the patients asked them
to consider their experience and needs whilst at the Trust, including areas such as
privacy and dignity, cleanliness of ward and bathrooms, information and involvement
with decisions about their care. This patient experience measure affords the Trust
with feedback about what service users think about their care and treatment whilst in
hospital, and in comparison to the national average and previous years.
The 2015 survey results were published in June 2016. The postal survey co-ordinated
and distributed by Quality Health of 70 questions 8 key areas of the patient’s journey
through hospital from admission to discharge:
1. Admission to hospital, including admission by the A&E pathway
2. Hospital and Ward
3. Doctors – Behaviour, the relational aspects of care
4. Nurses – Behaviour, the relational aspects of care
5. Care and Treatment
6. Operations and Procedures
7. Leaving hospital (discharge process)
8. Overall Experience
Four new questions were added in 2015 covering the relational aspects of care:
• Q31. In your opinion, did the members of staff caring for you work well together?
• Q56. Where did you go after leaving hospital?
• Q57. After leaving hospital, did you get enough support from health or social care
professionals to help you recover and manage your condition?
• Q58. When you transferred to another hospital or went to a nursing or residential
home was there a plan in place for continuing your care?
Comparisons with National Data
75%
17%

> 2014 HHCT & National comparator 2015
= 2014 HHCT & National comparator 2015
< 2014 HHCT & National comparator 2015

8%
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HHCT results 2015 vs HHCT results 2015 and National comparator 2015
Of the 65 questions that relate directly to the patient’s experience whilst in hospital
from admission to discharge the trust results were as follows:
• 75% (49 questions) of the responses were positive, with an improvement year on
year and against the National comparator
• 17% (11 questions) for the HHCT are static year on year and against national
comparator.
• 8% (5 questions) for the HHCT scored below the national comparator and year on
year
• Overall 79% of all respondents marked their overall experience as an inpatient
between 8 – 10 out of 10 compared to the national average of 76% which resulted
in HHCT preforming in the top 20% overall. 5% positive increase year in year.

8.4

8.9

Waiting list planned admissions, (answered by those referred to
hospital)

9.1

9.1 ➞

Waiting to get a bed on a ward

7.9

8.6

The hospital and ward

8.2

8.7

Doctors

8.4

8.8

Nurses

8.0

8.6

Care and treatment

7.5

8.1

Operations and procedures (answered by patients who had an
operation or procedure

8.6

8.6

➞

Leaving hospital

6.9

7.5

Overall views care and services

5.8

5.8 ➞

Overall experience

7.9

8.4

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

➞

➞

The emergency/A&E department (answered by emergency patients
only)

➞

➞

2015

➞
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2014 (scored out of 10)

➞ ➞ ➞

Section Heading

Of the 58 questions only 4 tracked back year on year however they reflected a similar
movement of the national average.

2014 % for
HHCT

2015 % for
HHCT

Threshold
for lowest
scoring of
all Trusts

Q44: Before the operation staff explained the
risks and benefits in an understandable way

90%

89%

89%

91%

Q47: Patients were told beforehand how they
would feel after the operation

76%

75%

70%

76%

Q73: Patients were asked to give their views on
the quality of care during their stay in hospital

30%

22%

16%

22%

Q74: Patients received information on how to
complain to the hospital about the care they
received

28%

27%

22%

28%

Question

Threshold
for highest
scoring of
all Trusts

Operations & Procedures

Overall Patient Experience

The survey data has been shared across the trust and action plans developed with
divisions focusing on the lowest scoring questions areas where improvements were
not achieved. Progress on these action plans are monitored by the Quality and Safety
Committee, Divisional Performance meeting and Patient Experience Group (PEG).
As a result of the improvements made in the national inpatient survey which included
information provided in accident and emergency departments, waiting times for beds
on the wards, involvement of patients in discussions about treatment, and treating
patients with respect and dignity, Hinchingbrooke Health Care Trust came top of in
list of most improved trusts nationally and was awarded an outstanding achievement
award at the 2016 Health Business Awards.

Local Surveys
During 2016/17, as part of our Patient Experience strategy and accompanying action
plan, a wide programme of patient feedback exercises were planned across all areas of
the trust. Whilst national surveys ask our patients to comment and score our services
based on overall experience on discharge, local surveys are time sensitive and produce
real-time data. Being in hospital is a very anxious time for our patients and their
loved ones. Feeling safe and cared for at such a vulnerable time is paramount to their
recovery.

Patient Experience at Night
In 2015, as a result of a CQC compliance action relating to the 2014 inspection, we
undertook a survey to establish if the needs of our patients were being meet at night.
This is now part of the annual patient experience feedback programme.
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A survey took place August and September 2016, across 9 wards collecting feedback
for 90 patients. Questions included environment, nursing care, food choice, pain relief
and assistance with personal care. Key finding included
Score

Summary

4

Cleanliness levels within the ward areas and bathrooms met patient’s
expectations with 98% of those able to use the bathrooms stating they
were clean.

4

Choice and quality of food rated high, with only 3 (3%) of the 88
respondents stating that the food choice was poor. 75% of patients
overall rated it Very good to good, 15% fair and the final

4

89% of the sample group felt that nursing/ward team communicated
with them in an effective way.

4

91% felt there emotional needs were met.

8

Of the patients requiring pain relief during the evening/night, 100%
(combined response yes definitely and yes to some extent) felt their
needs were met.

8

48% (31 out of 64) of those using call bells were responded to after
3> minutes, which failed to meet the Trust benchmark of 2minutes.

8

26% of patients (9 out of 35) who required help with eating their
evening meal felt staff availability was limited.

8

51% of patients across 8 of the 9 wards surveyed were unaware of their
named nurse during the evening/night shift.

The survey data has been shared across the trust and action plans developed with
divisions focusing on the lowest scoring questions areas where improvements were
not achieved. Progress on these action plans are monitored by the Quality and Safety
Committee, Divisional Performance meeting and Patient Experience Group (PEG).

Community engagement
The Patient Experience Group is a representation of our patients and the community
and was relaunched in early 2015. In a bid to build and reflected a broader
representation of the local demographic in the 1st quarter of 2016 the hospital
engaged in a robust and transparent selection process for new members. The group
has met monthly during the year and holds to account the divisions in relation to
patient experience through the monthly Patient Experience (PE) report, national
surveys, PALs and complaints data.

Paediatric Satisfaction
The Hospital offers children a child friendly way of giving feedback about their
experience in the hospital. This consists of smiley face feedback cards which they can
post in a children’s post box. The feedback is entered onto the hospital database and
all feedback is actioned according to themes. This feedback is included in the paediatric
newsletter and also given to staff in local departments.
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Patient Stories
Each month a patient story is delivered to the public Trust Board meeting. This powerful
feedback tool allows patients to discuss the impact of the patient experience on their
journey of care. Patient stories have included, I Love Hinchingbrooke- One family’s,
across 3 generations story of care: the good and the bad; the importance of good
communication “the way you make me feel”; as well as covering national agendas
such as stress and living with prostate cancer. Patients and carers are also encouraged
and supported to attend and relay their experiences of care whilst in the Trust.

Equality, Diversity & Inclusion
Our vision and is to deliver the best care by the best people, and to be inclusive and
accessible across our diverse community. Our strategy, which is published on our
website, describes our approach to achieving this. We want to become a leader in the
field of promoting equality, valuing diversity and tackling health inequalities, whilst
building strong and sustainable partnerships with local stakeholders.
Our patients and workforce represent a vast array of people from diverse cultures,
backgrounds and experiences. Our objective is to improve services and experiences for
everyone, but particularly those who belong to vulnerable and protected groups.
We aim to achieve this by assessing health inequalities, and providing an inclusive,
accessible environment, which is free from discrimination and where diversity is valued,
for people who use and work in the Trust.
Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Committee, which directly reports to our Quality
and Safety Committee, brings together service users and staff, including people who
are experts in inclusive practices and people who represent specific equality groups.
Measuring our Performance EDS2. In November 2016, the Trust hosted its first EDS2
grading event. At the event, we presented evidence and asked our local stakeholders
(patients & staff) to grade how well we are complying with the Equality Act and Public
Sector Equality Duty.
EDS2 is a generic tool designed to measure NHS equality performance against four
broad goals:
1. Better health outcomes
2. Improved patient access & experience
3. Representative and supported workforce
4. Inclusive leadership
These four goals encompass 18 preferred outcomes that relate to issues that matter to
people who use, and work in, the NHS. For most outcomes the key question is: how
well do people from protected groups fare compared with people overall?
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OUTCOME

RATING

GOAL 1: Better health outcomes for all
1.1

Services are commissioned, procured, designed and delivered to meet the
health needs of local communities

ACHIEVING

1.2

Individual people’s health needs are assessed and met in appropriate and
effective ways

ACHIEVING

1.3

Transitions from one service to another, for people on care pathways, are
made smoothly with everyone well-informed

DEVELOPING

1.4

When people use NHS services their safety is prioritised and they are free from
mistakes, mistreatment

ACHIEVING

1.5

Screening, vaccination and other health promotion services reach and benefit
all local communities

DEVELOPING

GOAL 2: Improved patient access and experience
2.1

People, carers and communities can readily access hospital, community health
or primary care services and should not be denied access on unreasonable
grounds

ACHIEVING

2.2

People are informed and supported to be as involved as they wish to be in
decisions about their care

ACHIEVING

2.3

People report positive experiences of the NHS

EXCELLING

2.4

People’s complaints about services are handled respectfully and efficiently

ACHIEVING

GOAL 3: A representative and supported workforce
3.1

Fair NHS recruitment and selection processes lead to a more representative
workforce at all levels

ACHIEVING

3.2

The NHS is committed to equal pay for work of equal value and expects
employers to use equal pay audits to help fulfil their legal obligations

ACHIEVING

3.3

Training and development opportunities are taken up and positively evaluated
by all staff

ACHIEVING

3.4

When at work, staff are free from abuse, harassment, bullying and violence
from any source

DEVELOPING

3.5

Flexible working options are available to all staff consistent with the needs of
the service and the way people lead their lives

ACHIEVING

3.6

Staff report positive experiences of their membership of the workforce

DEVELOPING

GOAL 4: Inclusive leadership
4.1

Boards and senior leaders routinely demonstrate their commitment to
promoting equality within and beyond their organisations

ACHIEVING

4.2

Papers that come before the Board and other major Committees identify
equality-related impacts including risks, and say how these risks are to be
managed

ACHIEVING

Middle managers and other line managers support their staff to work in
culturally competent ways within a work environment free from discrimination

ACHIEVING

4.3
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Undeveloped

Developing

People from all protected groups fare
poorly overall OR evidence is not available

People from only some protected
groups fare as well as people overall

Achieving

Excelling

People from most protected groups fare as
well as people overall

People from all protected groups fare as
well as people overall

Our patients
The Trust consistently engages with a broad range of organisations and individuals who
represent people from the 9 protected groups in order to gain a better understanding
of their needs, how our services could be improved and whether we are accessible and
inclusive.
Such organisations include: Carers Trust; Encompass Network; Voicability; Disability
Huntingdonshire; Huntingdonshire Society for the Blind; Headspace; Alzheimer’s
Society; Dementia UK Care Network Cambridgeshire; the local Dementia Action
Alliance; Science Technology Engineering & Maths (STEM) Disability Advisory
Committee.
We recognise that equality monitoring is an important way of assessing our progress.
We collect and record the following information about our patients: age, comparative
level of deprivation, ethnicity (race); gender (sex); disability or long term health
condition. We compare this information with the demographics of our community to
identify groups who may be experiencing unintentional barriers when accessing our
services.

Our staff
Our detailed Annual EDI report, which is published on our website, uses data taken
from the Trust’s Electronic Staff Record (ESR) and identifies possible trends/ patterns
for further action. Some of the recruitment monitoring data from NHS Jobs suggests
patterns of difference in the performance of ethnic groups within our Recruitment
& Selection processes. This has been identified in our diversity action plan. We
acknowledge that there is lower representation of staff from some protected groups
in roles at band 8A and above. In order to try to reduce the differential all shortlists are
anonymous. Also the recruitment process has changed to include more focus groups
and greater independence on interview panels.
The Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) also identified disproportionally
low representation of Black and Minority Ethnic staff at senior levels within the
organisation. The changes to recruitment processes will be monitored to identify any
impacts. The Trust holds the Job Centre Plus two tick symbol.
The Apprenticeship and Widening Participation lead works with schools and other
organisations to promote apprenticeships across the trust. We have apprenticeships
across 14 departments: Including clinical healthcare support, business administration
and facilities. We continue to improve the accessibility of our volunteering opportunities
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to enable all people from the community to be involved in our work. An increasing
understanding of the demographic of our volunteer team enables a targeted
recruitment approach to increase diversity and, therefore, the quality of support within
the Trust.

Volunteers
The HHCT Trust Board recognise the significant impact of volunteering and the benefits
this brings to the Trust. A well organised Volunteer Services team engages the local
community to complement the work of our paid staff and enhance the patient’s
experience.
2016-17 has seen a full redevelopment of its Voluntary Services with a more
structured approach adopted by the Trust to ensure Volunteering is fit for purpose as
recommended in the Kate Lampard enquiry. The initial aims of Volunteering was to
increase the numbers to ensure the Trust is supported by an appropriate number of
Volunteers, to achieve this a new volunteers policy was adopted and work began on a
full evaluation of Volunteering.
During this period HHCT has been accredited with the ‘Five Star Focus’ award after
external audit by the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Volunteer Centre which
recognises excellence in Volunteer Management. The Trust has seen an increase in
active volunteer numbers from 92 up to 150 providing over 1600 hours of support
monthly.
A focus on the quality of our Volunteer Services has enabled the Trust to recruit
and retain Volunteers who offer support in various roles where a need has been
identified within a ward or department. New volunteer roles within the Trust have
included additional volunteer support in Audiology, X-ray, Medical Records, Cancer
Information Volunteers, Bereavement and a Pharmacy round to support the patient
discharge process. A more accessible volunteer programme has increased the diversity
of our Volunteer team and seen active involvement of Volunteers from Community
partnerships supporting volunteers with disabilities and the introduction of Young
Volunteers from local colleges.
Ward Volunteers have had a significant impact on the patient experience providing
1:1 support to patients with feeding difficulties and carrying out activities to include
singing, tea parties, knitting and art. Volunteers are invaluable to the Trust and make a
meaningful difference to so many, their support extends to various roles including
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Chaplaincy
Catering
Ward Support
Bereavement
Cancer Support
Reception/Meet & Greet
Information Volunteers
Maternity
Office/Administration/Committee
ENT
Eye Clinic
Gardening
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Volunteers are embedded into the culture of Hinchingbrooke Hospital with volunteer
roles centred on the patient’s needs, one patient’s feedback sums up the impact
volunteers have on the wards “I can’t thank the volunteers enough for the way I have
been looked after they were so friendly & supportive with nothing too much trouble”.
Volunteers also support the meal times offering further resources to ensure all patients
needing additional help with food have the 1:1 support they need “I managed to get
a patient to eat her meal after she had not eaten for 3 days by spending time with her
and offering her encouragement” said one volunteer from Apple Tree Ward.
As well as the vital support volunteers give they also arrange additional activities and
encourage social interaction away from their beds, a volunteer from our Cherry Ward
said “I managed to get 3 ladies sitting at the table with the table laid up for lunch
including a pretty table cloth. They loved it. I left them to it but kept checking on them.
They were talking and really enjoying themselves. They thanked me afterwards and it
made it all worthwhile”
In carrying out ward activities volunteers assist in the recovery of patients by reducing
boredom, stress, anxiety, increasing stimulation and getting patients actively
participating in their care plans.
Volunteers support completion of various Trust audits and surveys to actively participate
in ensuring that wards and patient areas meet with the high expectations and safety
regulations stipulated in the policies, recent ward deep cleans were made all the more
bearable for patients and staff when volunteers arrived to ensure their move to another
ward had minimal impact on them with one HCA saying “It went really well and with
their help I was free to help in other ways. It is always a pleasure to have volunteers on
our ward”.
With the introduction of Young Volunteers in our Apple Tree Ward we have been
able to offer patients the chance to meet and be supported by a younger generation
of volunteers looking to develop a career in the Health & Social Care sector, we have
been proud to support their learning whilst at the same time enhance our patient
experience. Young Volunteers really make a difference and our patients enjoy their
company, the Senior Ward Sister commenting “I love having the young volunteers
they are making such a difference and the patient’s they speak to love them”.
Hinchingbrooke recognises the NHS England pledge to the #iwill campaign to increase
young people involved in health and social care and sees the involvement of young
volunteers key to the successes of volunteering.
Hinchingbrooke Volunteer team increases the opportunity for patients to voice their
concerns appropriately and through the involvement of patient advocate volunteers we
are able to provide a visible presence on the wards, advising patients on how to raise
concerns or feedback on their care, this reduces the escalation and enables issues to
be resolved at the earliest opportunity or to receive support from PALS if required. An
open communication with patients can encourage a culture where we can learn from
our actions and change behaviours if identified to inform future practice. This has an
impact on the quality of care and enables the Trust to continuously meet the demands
of patients in a pressured environment.
We are proud as a volunteer team to support the fabulous work of our Research
and Development team where our Patient Research Ambassadors represent the Trust
to promote the trust research programme and awareness events having become
recognised in our region as a success story for the PRA volunteer role.
Thanks to the kind donations of the Huntingdon Community to our charitable funds
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we have been able to provide a uniform for our volunteer team to raise their profile
and make them clearly identifiable within the Trust; this makes them feel valued and
recognises the importance of their contribution. In addition an agreed key role of
Volunteer Coordinator was recruited from a successful approach to the Charitable
Funds Committee, this role supports the volunteers and coordinates the recruitment
to ensure volunteers meet all the safety requirements/checks and have completed the
intensive mandatory training needs. The Volunteer Team is able to actively engage with
the community and was recently awarded £3000 to develop the hospital gardens,
Tesco also supported our volunteers and wards at Christmas to provide gifts and a new
Amazon wish list has received gifts for wards and patients to benefit from.
The Volunteer services team also coordinate external organisations volunteering
within the Trust offering vital services to our patients, one volunteer who is a trained
counsellor provides voluntary group support to our cancer nurses in the Woodlands
Centre where the staff really benefits from the additional support, this has a positive
effect on patient care, a nurse from the Woodlands Centre said of the service “Your
sessions give us insight into our behaviours and values and I am sure allow us to
examine what we do and ways we could do it more effectively “. Other organisations
include Huntingdon Radio, Cornerstone, NADFAS, Friends of Hinchingbrooke and local
Car Schemes who transport our patients to and from the Trust for appointments.

Call Bell Review
In 2016 the Trust as a results of Patient Feedback and results from an independent
audit set its benchmark target for call bell response time at 2 minutes. This is in
comparison to other local organisations that set their aspirational target at 5 minutes.
Results published in the National Inpatients Survey (2015) details that this target is
achievable and sustainable with 54% of call bells being answered within 0- 2minutes
compared to the national comparator of 53%.
On a monthly basis the Trust senior nursing team carry out a spot checks on the wards
as part of the ‘Matrons Balance Score Card’ to audit call bell responses. To support
these findings in 2016/2017 independent volunteer auditors undertook a call bell
review across the main hospital wards to review the 2 minute target during a one
month period February – March 2017. These visits were announced.
Call bell response times by ward - one month period 2017
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The following graph shows call bell response times by ward for February – March 2017
Our independent internal surveys delved deeper and highlighted that on the survey
sample call bells were answered 90% of the time within 2 minutes as the respondent
was based in the bay/ward area. This was a result of an implemented Trust initiative of
having team members based in each bay, a named nurse where practicably possible.

Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE)
Audit
On 17th March 2016 our PLACE assessment took place, whereby for the first time,
all assessment teams were made up of patient representatives. This approach has
provided further motivation for improvement by providing a clear message, directly
from patients, about how the environment or services might be enhanced, focusing
specifically on privacy and dignity, food, cleanliness and general building maintenance,
i.e. the care environment.
This year’s inspection has highlighted the Trust nationally in the upper quartile for
performance, with some recommendations in a number of patient facing themes, in
particular:
• Ward Entrances – the assessors identified areas for improvement, in particular ‘first
impressions’ a number of wards received low ratings in this area, however, the
assessors rated the wards highly on ‘lasting impressions’ therefore, emphasising the
need for improvements on arrival.
• Staff providing incorrect information to the accessors, e.g. the extent to which
patient entertainment is available, the type of facilities available, (e.g. channel
access) and in some cases the assessors were advised the entertainment units were
chargeable.
• The evidence produced by the PLACE accessors identified that their ‘first
impressions’ (Privacy, Dignity and Wellbeing) were not representative of services
and standards evident on the ward; overall the standards were low with a rating of
79.97% (against a previous score of 93.01%).
• The fabric of the wards (Condition, Appearance and Maintenance) has highlighted
the need to undertake improvements to decoration, flooring and signage. The Trust
was rated at 87.5% (against a previous rating of 93% for 2015).
• Dementia awareness – there were highlighted areas for improvement in standards
and build environment for dementia patients, whilst the Trust was rated in the
upper quartile nationally; the level of compliance was 70.05% (against a national
average (2015) of 74.51%).
During 2016 the Trust has made significant steps to improve the care environment,
targeting our main clinical ward areas which were refurbished to include dementia
friendly environs. These changes have significantly improved the patient perceptions.
The issues that arose in the assessment, specifically relating to patient hospitality and
first impressions, by reinforcing the 15 step challenge programme within all wards and
patient and visitor areas.
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999 Club
Hinchingbrooke hospital engages with the local community by running a monthly 999
club. This allows local school children to visit the hospital as a field trip. They get to go
on a behind the scenes tour and partake in various activities such as a health station,
hospital equipment station and hand washing activities.
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Part 4
4.1 Statements from External Organisations
We continue to work with local patient
representatives and commissioners to ensure
we provide a quality service tailored to our local
population and we are grateful to be able to include
in the Quality Account for 2016/2017 independent
statements from local stakeholders, including
the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical
Commissioning Group; the Cambridgeshire County
Council’s Health Committee; and Healthwatch,
Cambridgeshire.
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Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) have reviewed the
Quality Account produced by Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust (HHCT) for 2016/17.
The CCG and HHCT work closely together to review performance against quality indicators and
ensure any concerns are addressed. There is a structure of regular oversight meetings in place
between the CCG, HHCT and other appropriate stakeholders to ensure the quality of HHCT
services is reviewed continuously with the commissioner throughout the year. In addition, the
CCG has carried out visits to HHCT to observe practice and talk to staff and patients about
quality of care, feeding back any concerns so the Trust can take action where required.
2016/17 was a successful year for HHCT as following a CQC re-inspection in May 2016 the
Trust was rated ‘Good’; acknowledging the ongoing commitment of the organisation and staff
in the Caring domain and the improvements achieved in the Safe, Effective, Responsive and
Well-led domains. This was reflected in the CCG’s quality review process which showed that
patient experience was continuing to improve and that care and treatment remained of high
quality. HHCT have also been working with the CCG, and NHS England to ensure that key
quality standards are maintained during transition to North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust
(NWAFT) and have supported the implementation of a wider Quality Improvement Plan.
HHCT’s Patient Safety Group, under new leadership, made significant progress reviewing and
closing Serious Incident (SI) investigations, including some that dated back to 2015. At the end
of 2016/17 HHCT had reported one Never Event and 39 SIs, a 17% reduction when compared
with 2015/16. The CCG noted that SIs, in the categories ‘deterioration of patient’ and
‘diagnostics’ was a theme coming through. A deep dive was undertaken to establish whether
trends could be identified and the Trust made a number improvements to processes to ensure
learning was put in place. A well-attended learning event was held together with the CCG to
raise awareness of the human factors that may influence care and outcomes.
In February 2017, in response to the SI investigations the CCG visited HHCT. It was noted that
patient documentation did not always meet the required standards and the organisation has
taken action to improve this which will have an impact on improved patient care and safety
through better communication between clinicians. In future, patient documentation will be
reviewed to ensure it meets best practice, processes of documenting care and treatment will be
improved and electronic systems introduced where appropriate as part of the 2017/18 Quality
Improvement Plan.
HHCT have key areas where they have to be constantly vigilant and strive to ensure that they
are meeting the needs of the patients. The Trust was challenged with regards to infection
prevention and control where national High Impact Intervention standards were not always
met. A clear plan of action and challenging targets are set out in the HHCT’s quality priorities to
reduce Clostridium Difficile and MRSA bacteraemia infection rates as well as improve infection
prevention processes. It should be noted that in 2016/17 the Trust reduced the rate of Catheter
Associated Urinary Tract Infections by 15% which is very positive.
HHCT, as with many other NHS organisations, did not meet the 4-hour waiting target in A&E
consistently as demand outstripped capacity and patient flow through the hospital was affected
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by delays to the discharge of medically fit patients. The Trust has worked on improving internal
processes and engaged with the system-wide group to collaboratively address these challenges.
This was compounded by an ongoing shortage of medical staff in key areas, such as the
Emergency Department. HHCT has made some good progress to recruit medical staff, but
key vacancies remain. The Trust collaborated with Peterborough City Hospital to co-ordinate
recruitment activity for both Trusts focusing particularly on the hard to recruit specialties.
Following the merger in April 2017 HH will be benefiting from the Integrated Medical
Recruitment and Sustainability Project team which will be sourcing candidates through a variety
of initiatives including working with international recruitment agencies and local targeted
recruitment. To support this work North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust has developed a
suite of marketing materials which will also be adaptable for all recruitment activities. This will
also benefit the nursing recruitment by attracting nursing staff from overseas, nationally and
newly qualified nurses from the UK.
The Trust is also to be commended as mortality is lower than expected. To maintain the good
quality of care and treatment the Trust embraces quality improvement processes such as the
safety thermometer, improving end of life care, national and local audit programmes. This
is complemented by monthly review of the quality and risk management dashboard in the
relevant divisions to ensure that issues are recognised and addressed. In its latest re-inspection
report the CQC highlighted in particular the palliative care provided by HHCT at the Littlehey
Prison as innovative and outstanding.
The 2016 National Staff Survey demonstrated that the Trust is providing a supportive and
motivating environment for staff to work in and to deliver a quality of care that staff are
satisfied with. This is a credit to the focus on staff engagement, strategic direction and
embedding values across the organisation. The 2016 National Staff Survey also showed that the
Trust is in the top 20 percent nationally for staff motivation and staff not experiencing bullying,
harassment, abuse or violence from patients, relatives or the public.
Patient feedback is one of the key sources to drive quality improvements at this Trust. In 2016
the Trust revised its Responding to Feedback Policy, maintaining strong links between the
Patient Advice and Liaison Team (PALS) and the Complaints Team. The changes in process have
reduced the number of open complaints as well as ensured that 100% of complaints were
acknowledged within 3 working days. This revised process and good collaboration between the
teams reduced the number of complaints by 18% in 2016/17.
Other ways to monitor patient experience are monthly patient stories presented to the
Trust Board, PALS enquiries and results from national patient experience surveys. Innovative
approaches to collating patient feedback are ‘Patient Experience at Night’ Survey, questionnaires
suitable for children, social media and on-line patient feedback. The Friends and Family Test data
indicate a very high satisfaction score for inpatients, maternity services and the A&E department.
This is a credit to the hard work and commitment of all staff to ensure that patients receive the
best possible care.
We would also like to congratulate the organisation on the ‘Outstanding Achievement Award’
at the national Health Business Award Ceremony in November 2016 and the accreditation of the
‘Five Star Focus’ award by the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Volunteer Centre which recognises
excellence in Volunteer Management. It is also a testament to the Trust and the support from the
local community that the number of active volunteers has increased from 92 to 150. The volunteers
providing invaluable support in areas such as chaplaincy, cancer support and bereavement,
supporting patients, relatives and the public on the wards, at reception and in clinics.
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Cambridgeshire County Council Health Committee

The Health Committee within its scrutiny capacity has examined the following issues with
Hinchingbrooke Hospital over the past year:
• Planned Consultation on Colloboration Between Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
(HHCT) and Peterborough & Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (PSHFT) - 14 July 2016
• Proposal to form a Joint Committee to scrutinise the proposed merger of PHSFT with HHCT 8 Sept 2016)
Minutes of these discussions can be found following the link below:
https://cmis.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/ccc_live/Committees/tabid/62/ctl/ViewCMIS_
CommitteeDetails/mid/381/id/6/Default.aspx
The Committee’s focus this year has been reviewing the progress made to move Hinchingbrooke
Hospital from special measures. The committee’s Chair was extended an invitation to the
Trusts Quality Summit following the CQC inspection in August 2016 and was pleased to see
the Trusts services are safe, effective, caring, responsive and well led, rating as “good”. The
Health Committee welcomed the Trusts identified quality indicators around safety and patient
experience for 2016/17, addressing issues identified in previous CQC inspections and noted the
Trusts achievements against these.
The Committee has established good communication mechanisms with the Trust where the
Chair has met with both Chief Executive and the Chairman and continued to meet with
representatives from the Trust through the quarterly liaison meetings. These have provided
members with an oversight of issues the Trust is handling which is helpful as background to
support formal scrutiny.
Members of the Health Committee have also participated in a Joint Health Scrutiny Committee
with Peterborough City Council to review the proposals to merge with PSHFT. As the
management of Hinchingbrooke Hospital now moves to North West Anglia NHS Foundation
Trust with effect from 1 April 2017, the Health Committee will continue to scrutinise the
implementation of the merger and hopes to continue the open and transparent communication
with the new management.
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Healthwatch Cambridgeshire

Summary and comment on responsiveness
The management and staff of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust (HHCT) worked
hard to achieve the change required following recent CQC inspections and Healthwatch
Cambridgeshire was pleased that the Trust has been subsequently rated ‘good’ in five domains.
We recognise that the challenges have continued for the Trust, faced with significant pressures
on clinical staffing, high level of demand and the subsequent decision to merge the trust with
Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (PSHFT).
We urged the Trust last year to ensure that it recognised and listened to local concerns about
the Trust’s future and we are pleased that they worked alongside us to ensure that local people
had opportunities to voice their concerns. Throughout the year, the Trust has been mostly
responsive to concerns raised by Healthwatch Cambridgeshire, and positive and constructive
relationships with the Trust have continued to develop. Our offers to provide feedback on
services through several site visits were warmly accepted, our staff and volunteers were
welcomed and the feedback we provided was mostly embraced by the Trust.
We are pleased that patient experience continues to be included in the Trust’s organisational
priorities. The response we experience from PALS continues to be excellent; however, we
continue to hear about unsatisfactory time scales and responses to complaints from patients.
We welcome the interest in diversity shown by the patient experience team and diversity
and equality leads throughout the year, and staff commitment to look beyond the physical
confines of the hospital for feedback and support. We look forward to seeing the impact of this
commitment in the feedback we get from local people.
Anticipated challenges for the coming year
We understand the significant challenges posed by the consolidation of services into the newly
formed North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust from 1 April 2017; however, local people
and Healthwatch Cambridgeshire will be anticipating that the hospital will deliver on the
commitments made by the new Trust to service improvements following the merger of the
Trusts. We also reiterate the CQC requirement for further improvement in the Trust’s urgent care
provision.
We welcome the Trust’s continuing commitment to maintaining and improving the focus on
patient engagement and communication. We have seen significant improvement in recent
years and hope that Hinchingbrooke Hospital will maintains its investment in patient experience
including through its development of the role of the hospital’s volunteers and the commitment
to diversity and equality, within the new Trust.
We are aware that the Trust continues to fall short of its commitment to responding to
complaints in an appropriately timely fashion and welcome the Trust’s target in its Quality
Improvement Plan for 2017/18 to respond to 90% of complaints within 30 working days and
acknowledgement within 3 working days. We will be anticipating an improvement in the
handling of complaints in the feedback we hear from local people. Healthwatch Cambridgeshire
recognises the significant pressures on the local health economy. We are aware that the hospital
is fully committed to playing its part in the close partnership work that systems will require, to
ensure change.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF NORTH WEST
ANGLIA NHS FOUNDATION TRUST IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL QUALITY ACCOUNT FOR
HINCHINGBROOKE HEALTH CARE NHS TRUST
We are required to perform an independent
assurance engagement in respect of Hinchingbrooke
Heath Care NHS Trust’s Quality Account for the year
ended 31 March 2017 (“the Quality Account”) and
certain performance indicators contained therein
as part of our work. NHS trusts are required by
section 8 of the Health Act 2009 to publish a quality
account which must include prescribed information
set out in The National Health Service (Quality
Account) Regulations 2010, the National Health
Service (Quality Account) Amendment Regulations
2011 and the National Health Service (Quality
Account) Amendment Regulations 2012 (“the
Regulations”).

performance reported in the Quality Account is
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data
quality standards and prescribed definitions, and
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and
• the Quality Account has been prepared in
accordance with Department of Health guidance.

Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2017
subject to limited assurance consist of the following
indicators:

• the Quality Account is not prepared in all material
respects in line with the criteria set out in the
Regulations;
• the Quality Account is not consistent in all
material respects with the sources specified in the
NHS Quality Accounts Auditor Guidance 2014-15
published on the NHS Choices website in March
2015 (“the Guidance”); and
• the indicators in the Quality Account identified
as having been the subject of limited assurance
in the Quality Account are not reasonably stated
in all material respects in accordance with the
Regulations and the six dimensions of data
quality set out in the Guidance.

• Percentage of patient safety incidents resulting in
severe harm or death; and
• Rate of clostridium difficile infections;
We refer to these two indicators collectively as “the
indicators”.
Respective responsibilities of Directors and
auditors
The Directors are required under the Health Act
2009 to prepare a Quality Account for each financial
year. The Department of Health has issued guidance
on the form and content of annual Quality Accounts
(which incorporates the legal requirements in the
Health Act 2009 and the Regulations).
In preparing the Quality Account, the Directors are
required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:
• the Quality Account presents a balanced picture
of the trust’s performance over the period
covered;
• the performance information reported in the
Quality Account is reliable and accurate;
• there are proper internal controls over the
collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Account,
and these controls are subject to review to
confirm that they are working effectively in
practice;
• the data underpinning the measures of
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The Directors are required to confirm compliance
with these requirements in a statement of directors’
responsibilities within the Quality Account.
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on
limited assurance procedures, on whether anything
has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that:

We read the Quality Account and conclude
whether it is consistent with the requirements of
the Regulations and to consider the implications
for our report if we become aware of any material
omissions.
We read the other information contained in the
Quality Account and consider whether it is materially
inconsistent with:
• Board minutes for the period April 2016 to April
2017;
• papers relating to quality reported to the Board
over the period April 2016 to April 2017;
• feedback from the Commissioners dated May
2017;
• feedback from Local Healthwatch dated May
2017;
• feedback from other named stakeholder(s)
involved in the sign off of the Quality Account;

• the latest national patient survey dated June
2016;
• the latest national staff survey dated March 2017;
• the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over
the trust’s control environment dated May 2017;
• the annual governance statement dated May
2017;
• the Care Quality Commission’s quality and risk
profiles dated August 2016;
We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements
or material inconsistencies with these documents
(collectively the “documents”). Our responsibilities
do not extend to any other information.
This report, including the conclusion, is made solely
to the Board of Directors of North West Anglia NHS
Foundation Trust in respect of the Quality Accounts
for Hinchingbrooke Heath Care NHS Trust. We
permit the disclosure of this report to enable the
Board of Directors to demonstrate that they have
discharged their governance responsibilities by
commissioning an independent assurance report in
connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent
permissible by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Board of
Directors as a body and North West Anglia NHS
Foundation Trust for our work or this report save
where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior
consent in writing.
Assurance work performed
We conducted this limited assurance engagement
under the terms of the Guidance. Our limited
assurance procedures included:
• evaluating the design and implementation of the
key processes and controls for managing and
reporting the indicators;
• making enquiries of management;
• limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data
used to calculate the indicator back to supporting
documentation;
• comparing the content of the Quality Account to
the requirements of the Regulations; and
• reading the documents.
A limited assurance engagement is narrower in
scope than a reasonable assurance engagement.
The nature, timing and extent of procedures for
gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are
deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance
engagement.

Limitations
Non-financial performance information is subject to
more inherent limitations than financial information,
given the characteristics of the subject matter and
the methods used for determining such information.
The absence of a significant body of established
practice on which to draw allows for the selection
of different but acceptable measurement
techniques which can result in materially different
measurements and can impact comparability. The
precision of different measurement techniques may
also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods
used to determine such information, as well as the
measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may
change over time. It is important to read the Quality
Account in the context of the criteria set out in the
Regulations.
The nature, form and content required of Quality
Accounts are determined by the Department
of Health. This may result in the omission of
information relevant to other users, for example for
the purpose of comparing the results of different
NHS organisations.
In addition, the scope of our assurance work has not
included governance over quality or non-mandated
indicators which have been determined locally by
Hinchingbrooke Heath Care NHS Trust.
Conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures nothing has
come to our attention that causes us to believe that,
for the year ended 31 March 2017:
• the Quality Account is not prepared in all material
respects in line with the criteria set out in the
Regulations;
• the Quality Account is not consistent in all material
respects with the sources specified in the Guidance;
and
• the indicators in the Quality Account subject to
limited assurance have not been reasonably stated
in all material respects in accordance with the
Regulations and the six dimensions of data quality
set out in the Guidance.

Suresh Patel
Executive Director
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young
Cambridge
28 June 2017
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4.2 Changes made to the final
Quality Account after receipt of statements:
Page

Change
Various changes were made to the Quality Account
following comments and feedback received from
the CCG during May 2017. These have been fully
incorporated and reflected in the final statement
issued by the CCG.
No changes were required to be made to the Quality
Account following receipt of statements from
Healthwatch Cambridgeshire or the Cambridgeshire
County Council Health Committee.
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Date

4.3 Thank you
We would like to thank you for taking the time to read our Quality Account and hope
you found it informative, interesting and that, most importantly, it has enabled you to
have a better understanding of the Trust, of our goals for quality and our commitment
to the delivery of safe, effective and high quality care.
If you would like to provide feedback on the content of this report and/or suggest
improvements for future Quality Accounts please write to the Communications
Team at North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust, Peterborough City Hospital, Edith
Cavell Campus, Bretton Gate, Peterborough PE3 9GZ or email: communications.
hinchingbrooke@nhs.net

Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

165

Quality Account

4.4 Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the Quality Account
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 to prepare a Quality Account for
each financial year. The Department of Health [DoH] has issued guidance on the form
and content of annual Quality Accounts, which incorporates the legal requirements in
the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service [Quality Accounts] Regulations
2010 [as amended by the National Health Service [Quality Accounts] Amendment
Regulation 2011].
In preparing the Quality Account, Directors are required to take steps to satisfy
themselves that;
• The Quality Account present a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the
period covered;
• The performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and
accurate;
• There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures
of performance included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to
review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice;
• The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality
Account is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and
prescribed definitions, and is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and
• The Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with the DOH’s guidance.
The Chief Executive, as the Accountable Officer of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS
Trust, and the Executive Directors, have confirmed previously that, to the best of their
knowledge and belief, they have complied with the above requirements in preparing
the Quality Accounts. The Trust Board in fulfilling its public accountability obligations
confirm to the best of its knowledge and belief that the Quality Account complies with
the above requirements.
The Quality Account was received by the Board of the Trust’s successor organisation on
27 June 2017 and signed on its behalf by the Chairman and Chief Executive of North
West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust:
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Dated: 27 June 2017

Rob Hughes
Chairman

Dated: 27 June 2017

Stephen Graves
Chief Executive
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Appendix 1: services registered and provided by
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
• 2ww -Breast Care Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• 2ww Breast Service Surgeon Led -Hinchingbrooke
Hospital,
• 2WW Clinical Haematology Service, Woodlands
Centre, Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• 2WW Endoscopy Service, Hinchingbrooke
• 2WW-Haematuria Rapid Access Investigation
Service Hinchingbrooke
• 2WW Head and Neck Service, (ENT)
Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• 2WW HepatoPancreatoBiliary, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital,
• 2WW Lower GI Service, Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• 2WW Lower GI Service Male Only Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• 2WW Lung Service, Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• 2WW - Penile Service Cambridge & Huntingdon
Urology Network, Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• 2WW Raised PSA/Prostate Service-Cambridge &
Huntingdon Urology Network-Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• 2ww-Rapid Access Gynaecology- Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• 2WW Renal Service Cambridge & Huntingdon
Urology Network, Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• 2WW Skin Plastic Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• 2WW Testicular Service, Cambs & Huntingdon
Urology Network, Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• 2WW Upper GI Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Acute Urology Service - Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Ante Natal 1st (Nuchal Translucency) Scan,
Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Back Service - Orthopaedics, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital ls
• Bone Densitometry (DEXA), Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Breast Care Service-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Breast Reduction and Enlargement Service- Plastic
Surgery-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Breast Service Surgeon Led, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital

• Cardiology Service-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Clinical Haematology Service, Woodlands Centre,
Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Colorectal Service-General SurgeryHinchingbrooke Hospital
• Colorectal Service Male Only-General SurgeryHinchingbrooke
• Colposcopy Service-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Community Echo Service- Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Corneal and External Eye DisordersOphthalmology-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Direct Access ECG Holter Service Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Dyspepsia Without Alarm Features (Non FastTrack), Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Endocrinology General Medicine ServiceHinchingbrooke Hospital
• ENT General GPSI Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• ENT General-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• ENT General (Paediatric)-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Erectile Dysfunction-Cambridge& Huntingdon
Urology Network-Hinchingbrooke Hospital-RQQ
Details
• Eye Service (Paediatric) (Consultant led)Ophthalmology-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Fields Testing (linked to Glaucoma Service)Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Foot & Ankle Service, OrthopaedicsHinchingbrooke Hospital
• Gastroenterology Service-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• General Diabetic Medicine Service,
Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• General Medicine Service One - Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• General Medicine Service Two -Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• General Surgery Service One, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• General Surgery Service Two, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Geriatric Medicine Service -Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
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• Glaucoma Service-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Gynaecology General-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Gynaecology - Infertility Service - Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Gynaecology Perineal Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Gynaecology - Urogynaecology ServiceHinchingbrooke Hospital
• Hand Service Complex patients OrthopaedicsHinchingbrooke
• Hand Surgery Minor Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Hip & Knee Service- Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Knee & Soft Tissue Service OrthopaedicsHinchingbrooke
• Lid, Orbit and Lacrimal-Ophthalmology,
Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Lipids and Metabolic Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Lumps & Bumps- Clinical Assessment Service -NO
PATIENT ATTENDANCE-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Lung Function Test Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Maternal Medicine Service-Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Medical Retinal Eye Service-Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Metabolic Stones Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Neurology General - Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Ophthalmology Adult Ocular MotilityHinchingbrooke Hospital
• Ophthalmology Triage Service NO PATIENT
ATTENDANCE REQUIRED - Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Ortho-Geriatrician Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Orthopaedic General Paediatric, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Orthopaedics General Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Ortho/Plastic Hand Complex Service,
Hinchingbrooke Hospital,
• Orthoptics (Paediatric)-OphthalmologyHinchingbrooke Hospital
• Paediatric General Surgery, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Plastic Surgery Service One, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
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• Plastic Surgery Service Two, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Pregnancy Advisory Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• RAC ACUTE Rheumatology ServiceHinchingbrooke Hospital
• Rapid Access Chest Pain - Cardiology Service,
Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Rheumatology Service-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Ring Pessary Clinic Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Shoulder and Elbow Service OrthopaedicsHinchingbrooke Hospital
• Spinal and Back Pain Service Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Thoracic Medicine Service-Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Upgraded Hysteroscopy Service, Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Upper Gastro Intestinal General Service-General
Surgery-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Urology General-Cambridge & Huntingdon
Urology Network-Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Vascular Service-General Surgery-Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Audiology – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Clinical Physiology – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Private Patients – Inpatient and Outpatient –
Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Radiology – CT – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Radiology MRI – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Radiology – Nuclear Medicine – Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Radiology – X-Ray – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Radiology – Ultrasound – Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Radiology – Interventional Radiology –
Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Ophthalmology – Cataract – Hinchingbrooke
Hospital
• Pain Service – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• General Surgery – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Critical Care – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Oncology – Hinchingbrooke Hospital
• Acute Oncology – Hinchingbrooke Hospital

Appendix 2
NHS England ‘Sign Up to Safety’ HHCT ACTION PLAN
Pledge 1 - Put Safety First
Commit to reduce avoidable harm in the NHS by half and make public the
goals and plans developed locally.
• Undertake a case multidisciplinary review of every patient death through
implementation of mortality review meetings in all clinical Directorates using an agreed
tool as identified by the Royal College of Physicians
• Safer Medicines Management including storage and prescribing
• Improve recognition and management of acutely ill patients including avoidance of
acute kidney injury (AKI)
• Follow the Sepsis Six care bundle to improve the management, diagnosis and treatment
of sepsis on our wards and in our emergency care area

Pledge 2 - Continually Learn
Make our organisation more resilient to risks, by acting on the feedback from
patients and by constantly measuring and monitoring how safe our services
are through;
• Executive Safety Walkrounds ask patients and staff about their day to day experience of
safety
• Annual survey of organisational safety culture
• Proactively use feedback from patients including friends and family test narrative
comments, surveys and complaints to improve safety of the patients’ journey
• Standardising care through use of care bundles to minimise variation
• Use data for improvement and develop the knowledge base of our staff about
measurement and learning from themes and concerns raised through incidents,
complaints, Patient Advocacy Liaison Service (PALS) and Serious Incidents (SI’s) with the
implementation of DATIX

Pledge 3 - Honesty
Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient safety issues
and support staff to be candid with patients and their families if something
goes wrong.
• Duty of Candour – any moderate or serious incident is notified to and discussed
with the patient and their carers offering them an opportunity to shape the terms of
reference for investigation. A copy of the investigation report offered to them
• All serious incidents are reviewed by a multi-professional committee, which includes
Non Executive Directors (NED’s)/Executive oversight Expand patients involvement in
governance activities –clinical audits, patient surveys, policy and practice reviews, patient
information, cleanliness inspections, etc.
• Continue to develop the use of patient stories at Trust Board and though out the
organisation
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• Have weekly “Meet with sister “ sessions on all our ward areas where all staff, patients,
volunteers and visitors can raise concerns

Pledge 4 – Collaborate
Take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning, so that
improvements are made across all of the local services that patients use.
• Improve the content of discharge summaries provided to General Practitioners (GPs) to
ensure safer handover of care to primary providers
• Work in partnership with our community, education , commissioning and regulatory
partners to ensure system wide patient safety
• Ensure all our safety programmes include collaboration with the Patient Association and
Healthwatch

Pledge 5 - Support
Help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them right.
Give staff the time and support to improve and celebrate the progress.
• Spread and confirm use of structured communication methods e.g. Situation,
Background, Assessment Recommendation (SBAR) to improve communication between
teams
• Develop structured ward rounds promoting multi-professional engagement in safety
• Quality Improvement training programmes to be launched
• Provide practical multi-professional training for staff to learn lessons for safer practice
e.g. Root Cause Analysis training (RCA)
• Embed Observe, Praise, challenge & Escalate (OPCE) for learning programme to ensure
our staff have defined values and specific behaviours which everyone working in our
hospital is expected to live up to
• Encourage our staff and patients to nominate colleagues working at our hospital who
have gone the extra mile for patient safety and nominate for monthly Safety Champion
awards to show how our values can make a difference
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Appendix 3 Glossary
A&E
AAU
AKI

Accident and Emergency
Acute Assessment Unit
Acute Kidney Injury

CAKES Children’s Assessment Knowledge
Assessment Skills
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group
CCS
Cambridgeshire Community Services
C.Diff Clostridium difficile
COPD Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
C&PCCG
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Clinical Commissioning Group
CQC Care Quality Commission
CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
CRN
Clinical Research Network
CUH Cambridge University Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
DHON
DIPC
DoH
DOLS
DTOC

Divisional Heads of Nursing
Director of Infection Prevention and Control
Department of Health
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard
Delayed Transfer of Care

E. coli Escherichia Coli
ED
Emergency department
EDI
Equality, diversity and inclusion
EDS2 Equality Delivery System 2
EENT Eyes, Ears, Nose and Throat
EPLS
European Paediatric Life Support
FFT

Family Friends Test

GMC General Medical Council
GP General Practitioner
HQIP Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership
HSCIC Health and Social Care Information Centre
HSE
Health and Safety Executive
HSMR Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio

ICO
Information Commissioner Office
IG
Information Governance
IPC
Infection Prevention Control
IPCC Infection Prevention Control Committee
ISMR Integrated Services for Medicine and
Rehabilitation
LOS

Length of stay (days spent in hospital)

MCA Mental Capacity Act
MDT Multi-disciplinary team
MEWS Modified Early Warning Score
MEOWS
Modified Early Obstetrics Warning
Score
MRSA Meticillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus
MSSA Meticillin Sensitive Staphylococcus Aureus
NCAAG National Clinical Audit Advisory Group
NCEPOD
National Confidential Enquiries into
Patient Outcome and Death
NHSE National Health Service England
NHSI NHS Improvement
NMC Nursing Midwifery Council
NRLS National Reporting and Learning System
OP Out Patient
OPAT Out Patient Antibiotic Therapy
PALS Patient Advice & Liaison Service
PbR
Payment by Results
PEG
Patient Experience Group
PHE
Public Health England
PILS
Paediatric Intermediate Life Support
PLACE Patient Led Assessment of the Care
Environment
POD
Patient’s own drugs
PODH
PROMS Patient Reported Outcome Measures
PSHFT Peterborough and Stamford NHS Foundation
Trust
PU
Pressure Ulcers
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QELCA Quality End of Life Care
RCA
Root Cause Analysis
R&D
Research and Development
RIDDOR Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations
QIP

Quality Improvement Plan

SCBU Special Care Baby Unit
SHMI Summary Hospital level Mortality Indicator
SLA
Service Level Agreement
SI
Serious Incident
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TDA
TPP
TTO

Trust Development Authority
Transforming Pathology Partnership
To take out (medicines to take home)

VTE

Venous Thrombo Embolism

WRS

Work Related Stress
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7. Annual Accounts
for the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for year ended 31 March 2017
N O T E

2 0 1 6 -1 7
£ 0 0 0 s

2 0 1 5 -1 6
£ 0 0 0 s

9 .1

(80,889)

(7 6 ,9 7 8 )

O ther op erating costs
7

(56,543)

(4 9 ,7 8 4 )

R ev enue f rom

4

99,593

9 7 ,2 7 2

O ther op erating rev enue
Operating deficit
5

15,892

1 5 ,0 0 8

(21,947)

(1 4 ,4 8 2 )

I nv estm ent rev enue

1 1

187

1 2

O ther gains and ( losses)

1 2

97

(1 3 )

F inance costs
Deficit for the financial year

1 3

(2,599)
(24,262)

(2 ,2 5 7 )
(1 6 ,7 4 0 )

(1,246)

(2 ,0 4 0 )

(25,508)

(1 8 ,7 8 0 )

(7,262)

(9 ,5 4 9 )

8,338

8 ,1 6 5

(24,432)

(2 0 ,1 6 4 )

(25,508)

(1 8 ,7 8 0 )

29

4 5 3

I m p airm ents ( ex clud ing I F R I C 1 2 im p airm ents)

5,009

2 ,7 3 2

A d j ustm ents in resp ect of d onated asset reserv e elim ination
Adjusted retained deficit

(699)

(1 ,4 7 5 )

(21,169)

(1 7 ,0 7 0 )

G ross em p loy ee benefi ts
p atient care activ ities

P ublic d iv id end cap ital d iv id end s p ay able
Retained deficit for the year

Other Comprehensive Income
I m p airm ents and rev ersals taken to the rev aluation reserv e
Net gain on rev aluation of p rop erty , p lant & eq uip m ent
Total com p rehensiv e incom e f or the y ear

Financial performance for the year
R etained d efi cit f or the y ear
I F R I C 1 2 ad j ustm ent ( includ ing I F R I C 1 2 im p airm ents)

The Trust’ s rep orted NHS fi nancial p erf orm ance is d eriv ed f rom

its retained d efi cit ad j usted f or the f ollow ing:

a) The im p act of accounting f or the P F I schem e in accord ance w ith I F R S com p ared to U K G A A P ( note 3 0 )
b) The im p act of the im p airm ent of non- current assets d uring the y ear ( note 1 7 )
c) The im p act of the change in accounting treatm ent of d onated assets
The notes on p ages 1 8 0 to 1 9 0 f orm
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p art of this account.

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2017
N O T E

Non-current assets:
P rop erty , p lant and eq uip m ent
I ntangible assets
O ther fi nancial assets
Trad e and other receiv ables
Total non-current assets
Current assets:
I nv entories
Trad e and other receiv ables
Cash and cash eq uiv alents
Sub-total current assets
Non- current assets held f or sale
Total current assets
Total assets

1 5
1 6
2 0 .1

1 9
2 0 .1
2 2
2 3

Current liabilities
Trad e and other p ay ables
P rov isions
B orrow ings
D H cap ital loan
Total current liabilities
Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liablilities
Non-current liabilities
Trad e and other p ay ables
P rov isions
B orrow ings
D H rev enue sup p ort loan
D H cap ital loan
Total non-current liabilities
Total assets employed:

2 4
2 8
2 5
2 5

2 4
2 8
2 5
2 5
2 5

FINANCED BY:
P ublic D iv id end Cap ital
R etained earnings
R ev aluation reserv e
Total Taxpayers’ Equity:
The notes on p ages 1 8 0 to 1 9 0 f orm

3 1 M ar ch 2 0 1 7
£ 0 0 0 s

3 1 M ar ch 2 0 1 6
£ 0 0 0 s

98,261
1,801
0
151
100,213

9 8 ,9 8
1 ,7 2
7 3
2 2
1 0 1 ,6 6

1,642
7,246
1,876
10,764
0
10,764
110,977

1 ,6 6
6 ,3 5
8 7
8 ,8 9
1 ,2 4
1 0 ,1 3
1 1 1 ,7 9

(8,981)
(1,537)
(2,579)
(422)
(13,519)
(2,755)
97,458

(1 2 ,1 5 4 )
(2 9 0 )
(2 ,6 2 6 )
(7 9 3 )
(1 5 ,8 6 3 )
(5 ,7 3 2 )
9 5 ,9 3 6

(653)
(1,409)
(15,179)
(41,490)
(7,705)
(66,436)
31,022

0
(1 ,2 9 5 )
(1 6 ,5 0 1 )
(1 5 ,8 0 0 )
(6 ,8 8 6 )
(4 0 ,4 8 2 )
5 5 ,4 5 4

94,212
(90,149)
26,959
31,022

9 4 ,2 1 2
(6 5 ,4 0 7 )
2 6 ,6 4 9
5 5 ,4 5 4

2
3
4
9
8
2
6
2
0
1
1
9

p art of this account.

The fi nancial statem ents on p ages 1 7 6 to 1 7 9 w ere ap p rov ed by the B oard of the Trusts successor organisation,
North W est A nglia NHS F ound ation Trust on 1 8 M ay 2 0 1 7 and signed on its behalf by

Mr Stephen Graves
Chief E x ecutiv e

D ate: 1 8 M ay 2 0 1 7
A nnual R ep ort and A ccounts 2 0 1 6 / 1 7
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity For the year ending 31 March 2017
Public
Dividend
capital

Retained Revaluation
earnings
reserve

Total
reserves

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

94,212

(65,407)

26,649

55,454

Retained deficit for the year

0

(25,508)

0

(25,508)

Net gain on revaluation of property, plant, equipment

0

0

8,338

8,338

Impairments and reversals

0

0

(7,262)

(7,262)

Transfers between reserves
Net recognised expense for the year
Balance at 31 March 2017

0
0
94,212

766
(24,742)
(90,149)

(766)
310
26,959

0
(24,432)
31,022

Balance at 1 April 2015
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

93,593

(47,461)

28,867

74,999

Retained deficit for the year

0

(18,780)

0

(18,780)

Net gain on revaluation of property, plant, equipment

0

0

8,165

8,165

Impairments and reversals

0

0

(9,549)

(9,549)

Transfers between reserves

0

834

(834)

0

619
619
94,212

0
(17,946)
(65,407)

0
(2,218)
26,649

619
(19,545)
55,454

Balance at 1 April 2016
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

New PDC received - cash
Net recognised revenue/(expense) for the year
Balance at 31 March 2016
Information on reserves

Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over
liabilities. Additional PDC may also be issued to NHS Trusts by the Department of Health. A charge,
reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public
dividend capital dividend.
Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the Trust.
Revaluation Reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where,
and to the extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which
case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward
movement represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year ended 31 March 2017
NOTE

2016-17

2015-16

£000s

£000s

(21,947)

(14,482)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Operating deficit
Depreciation and amortisation

7

5,342

5,139

Impairments and reversals

17

5,009

2,732

Donated Assets received credited to revenue but non-cash

5

(872)

(727)

20

(79)

(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables

(1,644)

2,267

Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables

(3,113)

2,351

(266)

(100)

1,609
(15,862)

105
(2,794)

187

12

(4,147)

(12,112)

(248)

(165)

(4,208)

(12,265)

(20,070)

(15,059)

0

619

1,241

4,444

25,690

24,600

(793)

(228)

0

(8,800)

Other Loans Repaid

(596)

(596)

Capital Element of Payments in Respect of Finance Leases and On-SoFP PFI

(677)

(850)

Interest paid

(2,524)

(2,137)

PDC Dividend paid
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

(1,267)

(2,120)

21,074

14,932

1,004

(127)

872

999

1,876

872

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories

Provisions utilised
Increase in movement in non cash provisions
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest Received
Payments for Property, Plant and Equipment
Payments for Intangible Assets
Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities
Net Cash Outflow before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Gross Temporary and Permanent PDC Received
Loans received from DH - New Capital Investment Loans
Loans received from DH - New Revenue Support Loans
Loans repaid to DH - Capital Investment Loans Repayment of Principal
Loans repaid to DH - Working Capital Loans/Revenue Support Loans

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and Cash Equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and Cash Equivalents at year end

22
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Notes to the accounts
1. Accounting Policies
The Secretary of State for Health has directed that the financial statements of NHS Trusts shall meet the
accounting requirements of the Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts, which shall be agreed
with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the DH Group Manual for Accounts 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting
policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that
they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the
Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy,
the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust
for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the
Trust are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material
in relation to the accounts.
1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets
and financial liabilities.
Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. This is appropriate due to the merger of
the Trust with Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust on 1 April 2017 to form North
West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust.
1.2 Acquisitions and discontinued operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities
are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’
if they transfer from one public sector body to another.
1.3 Charitable Funds
Under the provisions of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds
that fall under common control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entity’s financial statements,
where balances are material. In 2015/16 the Trust consolidated it’s Charitable Funds but due to materiality
this is no longer required. In accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, restated prior
period notes are presented where the adoption of the revised policy has a material impact.
1.4 Pooled Budgets
The Trust has no pooled budget arangements.
1.5 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and
the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
1.5.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that
management has made in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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Leases have been classified as finance leases where the lease transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the asset, irrespective of whether title has actually transferred. An
asset and a liability are recognised on the balance sheet accordingly. Otherwise the lease is classified as an
operating lease.
The Trust has used the cost model provided by Pricewaterhouse Coopers (PWC) in order to calculate the
value of the PFI asset and the corresponding financial liabilities to be brought on to the balance sheet. PFI
assets were revalued by Gerald Eve at 31st March 2017 as part of the revaluation of the whole estate.
Since May 2014, the Trust has had a 5.4% share in a Pathology Partnership (tPP), hosted by Cambridge
University Hospitals Foundation Trust. tPP has consistently made financial losses. Since its inception,
the Trust has made available £2,096k to tPP in the form of cash advances, of which £734k was treated
as a financial asset in 2015-16. At 31st March 2017, the Trust assessed this asset and deemed it to be
irrecoverable. Therefore £2,096k has been impaired in 2016-17.
1.5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
The Trust has calculated the Treatment Centre PFI scheme entries using details from PwC’s model. The
model was devised as part of the Trust’s transition to IFRS, and therefore includes certain elements of
estimation of the costs involved. Our calculation of the entries is in line with Department of Health
guidelines. The outstanding borrowings are disclosed in note 25 to these accounts.
The Trust also provides for the full cost of permanent injury allowances payable to ex-staff who have been
awarded the allowances under the NHS Pension scheme. These allowances are paid for the life of the
individual unless their circumstances change. The provision is therefore an estimate based on the person’s
expected life span (data provided by the Government Actuaries Department) and assume the same
amount will be continuously paid. The provision at the statement of the financial position date is £1,279k
(2015-16 £1,153k) and is disclosed in note 28 to these accounts within Legal Costs.
Due to the merger and potential support services savings, the Trust has provided for £680k of likely
severance costs relating to staff employed by the Trust. These are based on estimates for staff currently at
risk who may be made redundant during 2017-18.
1.6 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs,
and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of revenue for the
Trust is from commissioners for healthcare services. Revenue relating to patient care spells that are partcompleted at the year end are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the
end of the reporting period compared to expected total length of stay.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is
deferred.
The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of
treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an
insurer. The Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and
Pension’s Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income
is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for
unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts.
The Trust receives income for goods supplied that fall outside of national tariff. This income includes
charges for high cost drugs and medical devices neither of which are covered by the tariff. Income for
these is recognised in the month they are supplied. Where an item or items are supplied but not invoiced
at the month end, that income is accrued for.
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1.7 Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is
received from employees. The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave
into the following period.
Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Schemes. These schemes
are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed
to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets
and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were B71defined contribution
schemes: the cost to the NHS body of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions
payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by
the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time
the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
1.8 Other expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been
received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
1.9 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the
Trust;
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and either
• the item cost at least £5,000; or
• Collectively, a number of items have a total cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more
than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase
dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly
different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful
economic lives.
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Assets that are held for their service
potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were
most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no
restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date.
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that
carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the
reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use.
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• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost, modern equivalent asset basis.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on
modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being
provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less
any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23,
borrowing costs. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for
operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives
or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an
impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to
expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not
result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit should be taken
to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive
income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable
cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the
expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged
to operating expenses.
1.10 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately
from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are
recognised only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be
provided to, the Trust; where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at least
£5000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Software that is integral to the
operation of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of
property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is
recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
• the ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and
sell or use it; and
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development
Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure
incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible
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asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to
an active market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost (modern
equivalent assets basis) and value in use where the asset is income generating. Internally-developed
software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and
technological advances.
1.11 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Freehold land, assets under construction or development, and assets held for sale are not depreciated/
amortised.
Otherwise, depreciation or amortisation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant
and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, on a straight line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Trust expects
to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Trust and may be
shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each
year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance
leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives.
At each financial year-end, the Trust checks whether there is any indication that its property, plant and
equipment or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of such
an impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a
loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually at
the financial year end.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised
as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve
for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of
economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the
amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the
impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and
thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
1.12 Donated assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at current value in existing use, if they will be held for their
service potential, or otherwise at value on receipt, with a matching credit to income. They are valued,
depreciated and impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations,
impairments and sales are treated in the same way as for purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised
only where conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
1.13 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met when the
sale is highly probable, the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition and management
is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year
from the date of classification. Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is open market value including alternative uses.
The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the
carrying amount and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. On disposal, the balance
for the asset on the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.
Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as
held for sale. Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its economic life is adjusted. The asset is derecognised when it is scrapped or demolished.
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1.14 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
The Trust as lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the
lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching
liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Trust’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.
The Trust as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
1.15 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions
HM Treasury has determined that government bodies shall account for infrastructure PFI schemes where
the government body controls the use of the infrastructure and the residual interest in the infrastructure
at the end of the arrangement as service concession arrangements, following the principles of the
requirements of IFRIC 12. The Trust therefore recognises the PFI asset as an item of property, plant and
equipment together with a liability to pay for it. The services received under the contract are recorded as
operating expenses.
The annual unitary payment is separated into the following component parts, using appropriate
estimation techniques where necessary:
a) Payment for the fair value of services received;
b) Payment for the PFI asset, including finance costs; and
c) Payment for the replacement of components of the asset during the contract ‘lifecycle replacement’.
Services received
The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, when they come into use. The assets
are measured initially at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments,
in accordance with the principles of IAS 17. Subsequently, the assets are measured at current value in
existing use.
PFI liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI assets are recognised. It is measured initially at the
same amount as the initial value of the PFI assets and is subsequently measured as a finance lease liability
in accordance with IAS 17.
An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening lease
liability for the period, and is charged to ‘Finance Costs’ within the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to meet
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the annual finance cost and to repay the lease liability over the contract term.
An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the
finance lease. In accordance with IAS 17, this amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but
is instead treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. In substance, this amount is a finance
cost in respect of the liability and the expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.
Lifecycle replacement
Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are
capitalised where they meet the Trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they
are provided by the operator and are measured initially at their fair value.
The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each
year of the contract from the operator’s planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle
component is provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term accrual or prepayment is recognised
respectively.
Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the contract, the
difference is recognised as an expense when the replacement is provided. If the fair value is greater than
the amount determined in the contract, the difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset and a deferred income
balance is recognised. The deferred income is released to operating income over the shorter of the
remaining contract period or the useful economic life of the replacement component.
Assets contributed by the Trust to the operator for use in the scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as items of property, plant and
equipment in the Trust’s Statement of Financial Position.
Other assets contributed by the Trust to the operator
Assets contributed (e.g. cash payments, surplus property) by the Trust to the operator before the asset
is brought into use, which are intended to defray the operator’s capital costs, are recognised initially
as prepayments during the construction phase of the contract. Subsequently, when the asset is made
available to the Trust, the prepayment is treated as an initial payment towards the finance lease liability
and is set against the carrying value of the liability.
1.16 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. This is considered to be a reasonable
approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.
1.17 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of
acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in
value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management.
1.18 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account
the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rates.
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of positive 0.24%
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(2015-16: positive 1.37%) in real terms. All other provisions are subject to three separate discount rates
according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position date:
• A short term rate of negative 2.70% (2015-16: negative 1.55%) for expected cash flows up to and
including 5 years
• A medium term rate of negative 1.95% (2015-16: negative 1.00%) for expected cash flows over 5
years up to and including 10 years
• A long term rate of negative 0.80% (2015-16: negative 0.80%) for expected cash flows over 10 years.
All percentages are in real terms.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Trust has developed a detailed formal plan for the
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by
starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement
of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with ongoing
activities of the entity.
1.19 Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHSLA, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is
charged to expenditure. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases
the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the
NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at Note 28.
1.20 Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are
risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority
and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions,
and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when
they become due.
1.21 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme (CRC)
CRC and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets if they are
not expected to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued
at open market value. As the Trust makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an offsetting transfer
from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the allowances. The asset, provision and
deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
1.22 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable
that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is
remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Trust. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1.23 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Trust becomes party to the financial instrument contract or,
in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are
derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss; held to maturity investments; available for sale financial assets, and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are
not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held
at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses
recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset and that have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
asset.
1.24 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Trust becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or
services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged,
that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historic cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are
initially recognised at fair value.
Other financial liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life
of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.
1.25 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input
VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.26 Foreign currencies
The Trust’s functional and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign
currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in
the Trust’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.
1.27 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the
accounts since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. The Trust holds no such assets as at 31st March
2017.
188

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

1.28 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend
Public dividend capital represents taxpayers’ equity in the Trust. At any time the Secretary of State can
issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC is recorded at the value received.
As PDC is issued under legislation rather than under contract, it is not treated as an equity financial
instrument.
An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of
Health as public dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury
(currently 3.5%) on the average carrying amount of all assets less liabilities (except for donated assets and
cash balances with the Government Banking Service). The average carrying amount of assets is calculated
as a simple average of opening and closing relevant net assets.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the
dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit”
version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net
assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.
1.29 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds
for the Health Service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.
They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They
are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Trust not been
bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.30 Subsidiaries
Material entities over which the Trust has the power to exercise control are classified as subsidiaries and
are consolidated. The Trust has control when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns through
its power over another entity. The income and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves;
and cash flows of the subsidiary are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines.
Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting policies are not
aligned with the Trust or where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-terminus.
Up to 2015-16, the Trust consolidated the results of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust Charitable
Fund over which it considers it has the power to exercise control in accordance with IFRS10 requirements.
However, due to materiality this consoldiation has ceased from 2016-17.
1.31 Associates
Material entities over which the Trust has the power to exercise significant influence so as to obtain
economic or other benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in the Trust’s accounts using
the equity method. The investment is recognised initially at cost and is adjusted subsequently to reflect
the Trust share of the entity’s profit/loss and other gains/losses. It is also reduced when any distribution is
received by the Trust from the entity.
1.32 Joint arrangements
Material entities over which the Trust has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as
joint arrangements. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint
arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations
for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Where the Trust is a joint operator it recognises its share of,
assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint ventures are recognised as an investment and accounted
for using the equity method.
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1.33 Research and Development
Research and development expenditure is charged against income in the year in which it is incurred,
except insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can
reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits
expected and is amortised through the SOCI on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit
from the project. It should be revalued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the
same basis as depreciation, on a quarterly basis.
1.34 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The HM Treasury FReM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in
2016-17. These standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM interpretation, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15
being for implementation in 2018-19, and the government implementation date for IFRS 16 still subject to
HM Treasury consideration.
• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted
• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Application required for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not
therefore permitted
• IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but
not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

2. Operating segments
The Trust operates one material segment which is healthcare therefore no operating segments are reported.

3. Income generation activities
The Trust undertakes income generation activities with an aim of achieving profit, which is then used in
patient care. No income
generation activities whose full costs exceed £1,000k or are otherwise material are undertaken.

4. Revenue from patient care activities
2016-17
£000s
10

2015-16
£000s

6,689

5,927

90,843

76,976

Foundation Trusts

26

336

Department of Health

12

0

NHS Other (including Public Health England and Prop Co)

79

31

156

67

1,191

889

67

193

286

378

234

12,462

99,593

97,272

NHS Trusts
NHS England
Clinical Commissioning Groups

13

Non-NHS:
Local Authorities
Private patients
Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)
Injury costs recovery
Other Non-NHS patient care income
Total Revenue from patient care activities
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O ther Non NHS incom e in 2 0 1 5 - 1 6 includ ed £ 1 1 , 9 8 9 k of incom e f rom 9 m onths of an arrangem ent w ith
the U niting Care P artnership to p rov id e healthcare f or the ov er 6 5 ’ s. This arrangem ent ceased in D ecem ber
2 0 1 5 w ith care rev erting back to the Cam brid geshire and P eterborough CCG .

5. Other operating revenue
2 0 1 6 -1 7

2 0 1 5 -1 6

£ 0 0 0 s

£ 0 0 0 s

R ecov eries in resp ect of em p loy ee benefi ts

2,141

1 ,6 9 9

E d ucation, training and research

3,633

3 ,5 3 3

12

1 2

872

1 ,6 2 4

Non- p atient care serv ices to other bod ies

3,748

4 ,0 0 0

Sustainability & Transf orm ation F und I ncom e

1,000
0

I ncom e generation ( O ther f ees and charges)

2,702

2 ,5 0 7

R ental rev enue f rom

1,105

9 4 7

679

6 8 6

15,892

1 5 ,0 0 8

115,485

1 1 2 ,2 8 0

Charitable and other contributions to rev enue ex p end iture - NHS
R eceip t of charitable d onations f or cap ital acq uisitions

op erating leases

O ther rev enue
Total Other Operating Revenue
Total operating revenue
R ev enue is alm ost totally f rom
im m aterial.

the sup p ly of p atient care serv ices. R ev enue f rom

the sale of good s is

6. Overseas Visitors Disclosure
2 0 1 6 -1 7
£ 0 0 0 s

2 0 1 5 -1 6
£ 0 0 0 s

I ncom e recognised d uring 2 0 1 6 - 1 7 ( inv oiced am ounts and accruals)

67

1 9 3

Cash p ay m ents receiv ed in- y ear ( re receiv ables at 3 1 M arch 2 0 1 6 )

24

2 0 3

Cash p ay m ents receiv ed in- y ear ( iro inv oices issued 2 0 1 6 - 1 7 )

35

1 6 3

A m ounts ad d ed to p rov ision f or im p airm ent of receiv ables
( re receiv ables at 3 1 M arch 2 0 1 6 )

0

1 0

A m ounts ad d ed to p rov ision f or im p airm ent of receiv ables
( iro inv oices issued 2 0 1 6 - 1 7 )

12

1 4

A m ounts w ritten of f in- y ear ( irresp ectiv e of y ear of recognition)

23
3

A nnual R ep ort and A ccounts 2 0 1 6 / 1 7
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7. Operating expenses
2 0 1 6 -1 7

2 0 1 5 -1 6

£ 0 0 0 s

£ 0 0 0 s

Serv ices f rom

other NHS Trusts

650

5 7 6

Serv ices f rom

other NHS bod ies

11
9

Serv ices f rom

NHS F ound ation Trusts

1,963

1 ,8 3 3

2,624

2 ,4 1 8

152
0

57

6 1

Sup p lies and serv ices - clinical

27,112

2 4 ,0 1 1

Sup p lies and serv ices - general

3,255

3 ,2 6 9

73

1 2 2

3,017

3 ,2 5 2

565

9 7 6

1,802

1 9 2 8

681

7 2 5

2,003

2 ,0 4 9

Hosp itality

44

1 9

I nsurance

78

8 3

L egal F ees

152

1 1 4

8

6 5

50

7 4

D ep reciation

4,787

4 ,5 8 8

A m ortisation

555

5 5 1

2,782

2 ,7 3 2

131
0

2,096
0

I nternal A ud it F ees

75

7 4

A ud it f ees

97

1 1 5

2,487

2 ,1 2 6

E d ucation and Training

258

2 4 3

Change in D iscount R ate

176

(1 1 )

1,426

2 0 0

56,543

4 9 ,7 8 4

79,694

7 5 ,8 2 1

Total Serv ices f rom

NHS bod ies*

P urchase of healthcare f rom

non- NHS bod ies

Trust Chair and Non- ex ecutiv e D irectors

Consultancy serv ices
E stablishm ent
Transp ort
Serv ice charges - O N- SO F P P F I s and other serv ice concession arrangem ents
B usiness rates p aid to local authorities
P rem ises

I m p airm ents and R ev ersals of R eceiv ables
I nv entories w rite d ow n

I m p airm ents and rev ersals of p rop erty , p lant and eq uip m ent
I m p airm ents and rev ersals of intangible assets
I m p airm ents and rev ersals of fi nancial assets [ by class]

Clinical negligence

O ther
Total Operating expenses (excluding employee benefits)
Employee Benefits
E m p loy ee benefi ts ex clud ing B oard m em bers
B oard m em bers
Total Employee Benefits

1,195

1 ,1 5 7

80,889

7 6 ,9 7 8

Total Operating Expenses

137,432

1 2 6 ,7 6 2

* Serv ices f rom
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8. Operating Leases
8.1. Trust as lessee
The Trust has lease agreem ents p red om inantly f or the lease of m ed ical eq uip m ent and v ehicles. The rentals
are fi x ed and there is no contingent rent. R enew als are arranged based on the term s of each ind iv id ual
lease. The Trust is not p arty to any land or build ing leases.
2 0 1 6 -1 7

2 0 1 5 -1 6

£ 0 0 0 s

£ 0 0 0 s

752

7 2 1

752

7 2 1

No later than one y ear

651

7 7 2

B etw een one and fi v e y ears

837

1 ,3 8 1

7

6 0

1,495

2 ,2 1 3

0
0

P ay m ents recognised as an ex p ense
M inim um

lease p ay m ents

Total
P ay able:

A f ter fi v e y ears
Total
Total f uture sublease p ay m ents ex p ected to be receiv ed :
8.2. Trust as lessor

The Trust leases p art of its accom od ation to other NHS bod ies and the Cam brid geshire Constabulary .
2 0 1 6 -1 7

2 0 1 5 -1 6

£ 0 0 0 s

£ 0 0 0 s

1,105

9 4 7

1,105

9 4 7

No later than one y ear

1,163

9 4 7

B etw een one and fi v e y ears

1,767

9 0 8

A f ter fi v e y ears
Total

6,064

5 ,3 9 4

8,994

7 ,2 4 9

R ecognised as rev enue
R ental rev enue
Total
Receivable:

A nnual R ep ort and A ccounts 2 0 1 6 / 1 7
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9. Employee benefits
9.1. Employee benefits
2 0 1 6 -1 7

2 0 1 5 -1 6

T otal

T otal

£ 0 0 0 s

£ 0 0 0 s

Employee Benefits - Gross Expenditure
Salaries and w ages

68,257

6 6 ,7 8 5

Social security costs

5,555

4 ,1 4 5

E m p loy er Contributions to NHS B SA - P ensions D iv ision

6,526

6 ,3 5 8

761

1 9 7

81,099

7 7 ,4 8 5

210

5 0 7

80,889

7 6 ,9 7 8

2 0 1 6 -1 7

2 0 1 5 -1 6

Number
2

Number

£ 0 0 0 s

£ 0 0 0 s

125

1 4 4

Term ination benefi ts
Total employee benefits
Employee costs capitalised
Gross Employee Benefits excluding capitalised costs
9.2. Retirements due to ill-health

Num ber of p ersons retired early on ill health ground s

Total ad d itional p ensions liabilities accrued in the y ear

2

9.3. Pension costs
P ast and p resent em p loy ees are cov ered by the p rov isions of the tw o NHS P ension Schem es. D etails of the
benefi ts p ay able and rules of the Schem es can be f ound on the NHS P ensions w ebsite at w w w . nhsbsa.
nhs. uk/ p ensions. B oth are unf und ed d efi ned benefi t schem es that cov er NHS em p loy ers, G P p ractices
and other bod ies, allow ed und er the d irection of the Secretary of State in E ngland and W ales. They are
not d esigned to be run in a w ay that w ould enable NHS bod ies to id entif y their share of the und erly ing
schem e assets and liabilities. Theref ore, each schem e is accounted f or as if it w ere a d efi ned contribution
schem e: the cost to the NHS bod y of p articip ating in each schem e is taken as eq ual to the contributions
p ay able to that schem e f or the accounting p eriod .
I n ord er that the d efi ned benefi t obligations recognised in the fi nancial statem ents d o not d if f er m aterially
f rom those that w ould be d eterm ined at the rep orting d ate by a f orm al actuarial v aluation, the F R eM
req uires that “ the p eriod betw een f orm al v aluations shall be f our y ears, w ith ap p rox im ate assessm ents in
interv ening y ears” . A n outline of these f ollow s:
a) Accounting valuation
A v aluation of schem e liability is carried out annually by the schem e actuary ( currently the G ov ernm ent
A ctuary ’ s D ep artm ent) as at the end of the rep orting p eriod . This utilises an actuarial assessm ent f or the
p rev ious accounting p eriod in conj unction w ith up d ated m em bership and fi nancial d ata f or the current
rep orting p eriod , and are accep ted as p rov id ing suitably robust fi gures f or fi nancial rep orting p urp oses.
The v aluation of schem e liability as at 3 1 M arch 2 0 1 7 , is based on v aluation d ata as 3 1 M arch 2 0 1 6 ,
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updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this
actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the
discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which
forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained
from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the
schemes (taking into account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates
payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year
ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed
by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of
the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer
contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the
employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits
or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer
cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined
by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.

10. Better Payment Practice Code
10.1 Measure of compliance
2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

Number

£000s

Number

£000s

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year

42,255

59,292

32,964

66,005

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target

35,293

48,627

30,357

57,915

83.52%

82.01%

92.09%

87.74%

1,245

10,977

1,172

8,699

490

6,264

554

5,517

39.36%

57.06%

47.27%

63.42%

Non-NHS Payables

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or
within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. Due to cash flow problems in both years
reported, payments to NHS bodies were delayed for a period resulting in reduced performance for NHS
payables. This cashflow problem resulted from the deficit positions.
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11. Investment Revenue
2016-17

2015-16

£000s

£000s

8

12

179

0

187

12

Interest revenue
Bank interest
Other loans and receivables
Total investment revenue

The Trust received £179k in 2016-17 in interest from HMRC relating to an outstanding VAT claim

12. Other Gains and Losses

Change in fair value of financial liabilities carried at fair value through the SoCI
Total

2016-17

2015-16

£000s

£000s

97

(13)

97

(13)

2016-17

2015-16

£000s

£000s

710

287

172

163

1,183

1,215

516

569

2,581

2,234

0
18

5
18

2,599

2,257

13. Finance Costs

Interest
Interest on loans and overdrafts
Interest on obligations under finance leases
Interest on obligations under PFI contracts:
- main finance cost
- contingent finance cost
Total interest expense
Other finance costs
Provisions - unwinding of discount
Total

14. Audit Remuneration
14.1. Other auditor remuneration
There was no other audit remuneration in 2016-17 or 2015-16.
14.2. Limitation on auditor’s liability
There is no limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out
for the financial years 2016-17 or 2015-16.
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Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

Dwellings
Assets under
construction
& payments
on account

£000’s £000’s

Plant &
machinery

£000’s

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

2016-17

Land

15.1. Property, plant and equipment

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

3,841 14,688

101

£000’s

Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2016

8,324 80,449

277

4,543 1,231 113,454

0

0

0

407

0

0

0

0

407

10

1,578

0

0

1,178

0

202

0

2,968

Additions - Non Cash Donations
(i.e. physical assets)

0

0

0

447

288

0

20

117

872

Additions Leased (including PFI/LIFT)

0

800

0

0

0

0

0

0

800

Reclassifications

0

2,816

0 (4,408)

20

0

1,056

0

(516)

1,241

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,241

0

0

0

0 (1,482)

0

0

0

(1,482)

2,410

3,063

(6)

0

0

0

0

0

5,467

Impairments/reversals charged to
operating expenses

0 (3,129)

(4)

0

0

0

0

0

(3,133)

Impairments/reversals charged to
reserves

0 (7,262)

0

0

0

0

0

0

(7,262)

11,985 78,315

267

287 14,692

101

Additions of Assets Under
Construction
Additions Purchased

Reclassifications as Held for Sale
and reversals
Disposals other than for sale
Revaluation

At 31 March 2017

5,821 1,348 112,816

Depreciation
At 1 April 2016

0

190

46

0 10,278

99

Disposals other than for sale

0

0

0

0 (1,482)

0

0

0

(1,482)

Revaluation

0 (2,855)

(16)

0

0

0

0

0

(2,871)

Impairment/reversals charged to
reserves

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Impairments/reversals charged to
operating expenses

0

(215) (136)

0

0

0

0

0

(351)

Charged During the Year

0

2,891

152

0

1,126

1

567

50

4,787

At 31 March 2017

0

11

46

0

9,922

100

3,416 1,060

14,555

11,985 78,304

221

287

4,770

1

2,405

288

98,261

11,985 57,773

221

246

2,933

1

2,309

153

75,621

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

0

2,849 1,010

14,472

Asset financing:
Owned - Purchased
Owned - Donated

0

1,895

0

41

441

0

96

135

2,608

Held on finance lease

0

1,681

0

0

1,396

0

0

0

3,077

On-SOFP PFI contracts

0 16,955

0

0

0

0

0

0

16,955

11,985 78,304

221

287

4,770

1

2,405

288

98,261

Total at 31 March 2017
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Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

Dwellings
Assets under
construction
& payments
on account

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

At 1 April 2016

6,712 19,920

9

0

5

0

0

3 26,649

Revaluation

2,410

3,064

(6)

0

0

0

0

0

Impairments

0 (7,262)

0

0

0

0

0

0 (7,262)

Excess Depreciation

0

2,097

10

0

(2)

0

0

9,122 17,819

13

0

3

0

0

At 31 March 2016

Additions to Assets Under Construction in 2016-17
£’000’s
Land
Buildings excl dwellings
Dwellings

198

0
370
0

Plant & Machinery

37

Balance as at YTD

407
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(1)

5,468

2,104

2 26,959

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

2015-16

Dwellings
Assets under
construction
& payments
on account

15.2. Property, plant and equipment prior-year

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

13,791 67,136

2,709

8,561 14,879

101

Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2015

3,574 1,215 111,966

0

0

0

2,154

0

0

0

0

2,154

52

4,384

6

0

452

0

435

17

5,346

Additions - Non Cash Donations
(i.e. physical assets)

0

0

0

673

0

0

54

0

727

Additions - Purchases from Cash
Donations & Government Grants

0

0

0

897

0

0

0

0

897

Additions Leased (including PFI/LIFT)

0

0

0

0

1,405

0

0

0

1,405
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2 (8,417) (1,698)

0

480

(1)

(469)

(1,241)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(1,241)

Disposals other than for sale

0

0

0

(27)

(343)

0

0

0

(343)

Revaluation

0

5,480

1

0

0

0

0

0

5,481

Impairments charged to operating
expenses

0 (2,193)

(693)

0

(7)

0

0

0

(2,893)

(4,484) (3,317) (1,748)

0

0

0

0

0

(9,549)

3,841 14,688
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Additions of Assets Under
Construction
Additions Purchased

Reclassifications
Reclassifications as Held for Sale
and reversals

Impairments charged to reserves
At 31 March 2016

8,324 80,449

277

4,543 1,231 113,481

Depreciation
At 1 April 2015

0

0

0

27

9,604

98

2,409

961

13,099

Reclassifications

0

128

0

0

(128)

0

0

0

0

Disposals other than for sale

0

0

0

(27)

(343)

0

0

0

(343)

Upward revaluation

0 (2,634)

(50)

0

0

0

0

0

(2,684)

Impairments charged to reserves

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Impairments charged to operating
expenses

0

(136)

(25)

0

0

0

0

0

(161)

Charged During the Year

0

2,832

121

0

1,145

1

440

49

4,588

At 31 March 2016

0

190

46

0 10,278

99

2,849 1,010

14,499

8,324 80,259

231

3,841

4,410

2

1,694

221

98,982

8,324 58,381

231

2,035

2,527

2

1,576

200

73,276

Net Book Value at
31 March 2016
Asset financing:
Owned - Purchased
Owned - Donated

0

742

0

1,806

225

0

118

21

2,912

Held on finance lease

0

1,653

0

0

1,658

0

0

0

3,311

On-SOFP PFI contracts

0 19,483

0

0

0

0

0

0

19,483

8,324 80,259

231

3,841

4,410

2

1,694

221

98,982

Total at 31 March 2016
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15.3. (cont) Property, plant and equipment
The Trusts land and buildings were revalued as at 31st March 2017 by an independent valuer, Gerald Eve
LLP of Wellbeck Street London. The valuations were undertaken on a Modern Equivalent Asset value basis
on an assumption of a continuation of the existing use of the assets.
The impact of the valuation was an increase in the value of the land.
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life
of the asset, as advised by the Valuer. Leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term. Equipment
is depreciated on current cost evenly over the estimated life of the asset.
The estimated lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Medical equipment and engineering plant and equipment

5-10 years

Furniture

5-10 years

Office and information technology equipment

5-10 years

Set up costs in new buildings

up to 35 years

Transport equipment

5-10 years

Where the useful economic life of an asset is reduced from that initially estimated due to the revaluation
of an asset for sale, depreciation is charged to bring the value of the asset to its value at the point of sale.

16.1. Intangible non-current assets
Computer
Licenses

Development
Expenditure
- Internally
Generated

Total

2016-17

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

At 1 April 2016

1,742

5,157

6,899

Additions Purchased

216

32

248

Reclassifications

(20)

536

516

0
1,938

(131)
5,594

(131)
7,532

At 1 April 2016

655

4,521

5,176

Charged During the Year

342

213

555

At 31 March 2017
Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

997
941

4,734
860

5,731
1,801

941
941

860
860

1,801
1,801

Impairments/reversals charged to operating expenses
At 31 March 2017
Amortisation

Asset Financing: Net book value at 31 March 2017 comprises:
Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017
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16.2. Intangible non-current assets prior year
Computer
Licenses

Development
Expenditure
- Internally
Generated

Total

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

1,216

5,049

6,265

57

108

165

469

0

469

1,742

5,157

6,899

At 1 April 2015

347

4,278

4,625

Charged during the year

308

243

551

At 31 March 2016

655

4,521

5,176

1,087

636

1,723

Purchased

1,087

636

1,723

Total at 31 March 2016

1,087

636

1,723

2015-16

Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2015
Additions - purchased
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2016
Amortisation

Net book value at 31 March 2016
Net book value at 31 March 2016 comprises:

16.3. Intangible non-current assets
Intangible assets have useful lives of between 2 and 5 years. They are carried at amortised historic cost as
this is not considered to be materially different from fair value.
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17. Analysis of impairments and reversals recognised in 2016-17
2 0 1 6 -1 7
T otal
£ 0 0 0 s

P rop erty , P lant and E q uip m ent im p airm ents and rev ersals taken to SoCI
Changes in m arket p rice

2,193

O ther
Total charged to Annually Managed Expenditure

589
2,782

Total Impairments of Property, Plant and Equipment changed to SoCI

2,782

I ntangible assets im p airm ents and rev ersals charged to SoCI
U nf oreseen obsolescence
Total charged to Annually Managed Expenditure

131

Total Impairments of Intangibles charged to SoCI

131

131

F inancial A ssets charged to SoCI
0

L oss as a result of catastrop he
O ther
Total charged to Annually Managed Expenditure

2,096

Total Impairments of Financial Assets charged to SoCI

2,096

Total Impairments charged to SoCI - AME
Overall Total Impairments

5,009
5,009

2,096

The im p airm ent of the fi nancial assets relates to a rev iew of the P athology P artnership cash inv estm ent
w hich w as d eem ed at 3 1 st M arch 2 0 1 7 to be irrecov erable.
P r op e r ty
P lant and
E q ui p m e nt

F i nanci al
Asse ts

T otal
£ 0 0 0 s

U nf oreseen obsolescence

0

0

0

0

0

L oss as a result of catastrop he

0

0

0

0

0
0

2,096
0

2,324

O ther
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I ntang i b le
Asse ts

N on- C ur r e nt
Asse ts H e ld
f or S ale

5 8 9

0

2 ,0 9 6

Changes in m arket p rice

2 ,1 9 3

1 3 1

Total charged to A nnually M anaged
E x p end iture

2 ,7 8 2

1 3 1

2 ,0 9 6

Total I m p airm ents of P rop erty , P lant
and E q uip m ent changed to SoCI

2 ,7 8 2

1 3 1

2 ,0 9 6

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

0

5,009
0
0

5,009

18. Commitments
18.1. Capital commitments
Contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements:

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000s

£000s

12

551

0

0
551

12

19. Inventories
Drugs Consumables
£000s
£000s

Balance at 1 April 2016
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense
in the period
Write-down of inventories
(including losses)
Balance at 31 March 2017

Energy
£000s

Total
£000s

Of which
held at NRV
£000s

628

1,016

18

1,662

0

4,185

17,898

0

22,083

0

(4,065)

(17,983)

(5)

(22,053)

0

(50)

0

0

(50)

0

698

931

13

1,642

0
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20.1. Trade and other receivables
Current

Non-current

31 March
2017

31 March
2016

31 March
2017

31 March
2016

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

2,561

2,015

0

0

426

644

0

0

Non-NHS receivables - revenue

1,318

1,410

0

0

Non-NHS receivables - capital

1,181

673

0

0

Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income

702

729

0

0

PDC Dividend prepaid to DH

111

90

0

0

(240)

(298)

0

0

VAT

606

553

0

0

Other receivables
Total

581

540

151

229

7,246

6,356

151

229

Total current and non current

7,397

6,585

NHS receivables - revenue
NHS prepayments and accrued income

Provision for the impairment of receivables

The majority of trade is with Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England as commissioners for NHS
patient care services. As these bodies are funded by the Government to buy NHS patient care services, no
credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
20.2. Receivables past their due date but not impaired
31 March
2017

31 March
2016

£000s

£000s

By up to three months

251

317

By three to six months

104

63

By more than six months
Total

104

127

459

507

2016-17

2015-16

£000s

£000s

(298)

(255)

Amount written off during the year

66

22

Amount recovered during the year

99

71

(107)

(136)

(240)

(298)

20.3. Provision for impairment of receivables

Balance at 1 April 2016

Increase in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March 2017

The impairment of receivables includes an element for Injury cost recovery income. This is subject to
a provision of 22.94% (2015-16 21.99%) and represents £168k of the balance. The remaining £72k
represents the Trusts policy of applying a 100% provision for specific debts identified as at risk of
payment. Debts relating to Whole Government Accounts are excluded from impairments as they cannot
represent bad debts.
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21. Other Financial Assets - Non Current

Opening balance 1 April
Additions
Impairment/reversals taken to SoCI
Change in Fair Value through SoCI
Total Other Financial Assets - Non Current

31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

734

0

1,362

734

(2,096)

0

0

0

0

734

The financial asset related to a cash advance to the Pathology Partnership. During 2016/17, addditional
cash advances were made, however a review of the balances at 31 March deemed these balances to be
irrecoverable and the total balance was impaired.

22. Cash and Cash Equivalents
31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

872

999

1,004

(127)

1,876

872

1,866

859

10

13

1,876

872

1,876

872

Land
£000s

Total
£000s

1,241

1,241

(1,241)

(1,241)

Balance at 31 March 2017

0

0

Balance at 1 April 2015

0

0

1,241

1,241

1,241

1,241

Opening balance
Net change in year
Closing balance
Made up of
Cash with Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows

23. Non-current assets held for sale
Balance at 1 April 2016
Less assets no longer classified as held for sale, for reasons other
than disposal by sale

Plus assets classified as held for sale in the year
Balance at 31 March 2016

The Trust had planned to sell a portion of land used predominanently for car parking as part of a
government initiative to enable surplus land to be used for housing. A deposit was received in 2013/14 of
£1.35m. In developing the Trust’s Strategic Estates Partnership, value for money dictated that this was not
the most appropriate action and the land is therefore no longer held available for sale but retained within
the Trusts valuation of the whole estate while a further review is undertaken. The repayment of the deposit
is likely in 2017-18 and is included in borrowings.
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24. Trade and other payables
Current

Non-current

31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

1,041

1,186

0

0

976

997

0

0

1,218

4,402

653

0

305

502

0

0

2,462

2,769

0

0

Social security costs

818

634

0

0

Accrued Interest on DH Loans

159

102

0

0

VAT

372

0

0

0

Tax

716

646

0

0

Other
Total

914

916

0

0

8,981

12,154

653

0

9,634

12,154

903

887

NHS payables - revenue
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables - revenue
Non-NHS payables - capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income

Total payables
(current and non-current)
Included above:
outstanding Pension Contributions
at the year end

25. Borrowings
Current
31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

Loans from Department of Health

422

793

49,195

22,686

Loans from other entities

597

597

597

1,193

PFI liabilities - main liability

122

195

12,463

12,585

Finance lease liabilities

510

484

2,119

2,723

1,350

1,350

0

0

3,001

3,419

64,374

39,187

67,375

42,606

Other - land sale deposit
Total
Total other liabilities (current and
non-current)
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Borrowings / Loans - repayment of principal falling due in:
31 March 2017
DH

Other

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

0-1 Years

422

2,579

3,001

1 - 2 Years

422

1,883

2,305

2 - 5 Years

42,756

1,624

44,380

Over 5 Years
Total

6,017
49,617

11,672
17,758

17,689
67,375

The deposit from the land sale - see note 23 is accounted for as a short term loan.
The Trust borrowed £25.7m from the Department of Health in 2016-17 to support its revenue position
and residual liabilities. £16.89m is repayable in 2019-20 and the remainder in 2020-21.

26. Deferred income
Current

Opening balance at 1 April 2016
Deferred revenue addition
Transfer of deferred revenue
Current deferred Income at 31 March 2017
Total deferred income
(current and non-current)

Non-current

31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

1,354

1,648

0

0

274

568

0

0

(544)

(862)

0

0

1,084

1,354

0

0

1,084

1,354

Deferred income includes £890k (2015-16 £786k) relating to NHS income received for maternity patients
based on the maternity pathway.
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27. Finance lease obligations as lessee
The Trust has 12 finance leases in year for equipment, eleven of these are for medical equipment with
leases running for between 5 and 7 years
Amounts payable under finance leases
(Equipment)

Minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum
lease payments

31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

31 March
2017
£000s

31 March
2016
£000s

635

634

510

484

2,279

2,537

2,077

2,205

42

522

42

518

Less future finance charges

(327)

(486)

Minimum Lease Payments /
Present value of minimum lease payments

2,629

3,207

2,629

3,207

510

484

2,119

2,723

2,629

3,207

Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

Included in:
Current borrowings
Non-current borrowings

28. Provisions
Comprising:
Total

Early
Departure
Costs

Legal
Claims

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Balance at 1 April 2016

1,585

218

1,192

0

175

Arising during the year

1,447

0

21

665

761

Utilised during the year

(266)

(23)

(68)

0

(175)

(14)

(3)

(11)

0

0

18

3

15

0

0

176
2,946

11
206

165
1,314

0
665

0
761

1,537

22

89

665

761

302

86

216

0

0

1,107

98

1,009

0

0

Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Balance at 31 March 2017

Other Redundancy

Expected Timing of Cash Flows:
No Later than One Year
Later than One Year and not later than Five
Years
Later than Five Years

Amount Included in the Provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority in Respect of Clinical Negligence
Liabilities:
As at 31 March 2017
37,174
As at 31 March 2016
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42,492

Early Departure Costs relate to pension provisions based on amounts provided by the NHS Pensions
Agency. Life expectancy tables are used to calculate the provision values discounted at the Treasury Rate of
0.24% (2015-16 1.37%).
Legal claims represents an Injury benefit provision and third party claims for employers and public liability
administered by the NHS Litigation Authority.
For the injury benefit provision, the total liability is calculated from figures provided by the NHSA Business
Services Authority and life expectancy tables and discounted at the Treasury rate of 0.24% (2015-16
1.37%)
The other provision relates to costs relating to the aborted land sale transaction, £200k of this was
included in contingent liabilities in 2015-16.
The redundancy provision reflects the potential severance costs relating to the Pathology Partnership and
as a result of the merger with Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

29. Contingencies
31 March
2017

31 March
2016

£000s

£000s

NHS Litigation Authority legal claims

(24)

(33)

Other (see note 28)
Net value of contingent liabilities

0

(200)

(24)

(233)

Contingent liabilities
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30. PFI - additional information
The information below is required by the Department of Heath for inclusion in national statutory accounts
Charges to operating expenditure and future commitments in respect of ON and OFF SOFP PFI
2016-17
£000s

2015-16
£000s

1,802

1,928

1,802

1,928

Payments committed to in respect of off SOFP PFI and the service
element of on SOFP PFI
No Later than One Year

1,763

1,841

Later than One Year, No Later than Five Years

7,341

7,916

Later than Five Years

28,701

34,427

Total

37,805

44,184

2016-17
£000s

2015-16
£000s

No Later than One Year

1,293

1,375

Later than One Year, No Later than Five Years

5,349

5,281

20,877

22,237

27,519

28,893

(14,934)

(16,113)

12,585

12,780

2016-17

2015-16

£000s

£000s

No Later than One Year

122

195

Later than One Year, No Later than Five Years

838

701

11,625
12,585

11,884
12,780

Service element of on SOFP PFI charged to operating expenses in year
Total

Imputed “finance lease” obligations for on SOFP PFI contracts due

Later than Five Years
Subtotal
Less: Interest Element
Total
Present Value Imputed “finance lease” obligations
for on SOFP PFI contracts due
Analysed by when PFI payments are due

Later than Five Years
Total
Number of on SOFP PFI Contracts
Total Number of on PFI contracts

1

Number of on PFI contracts which individually have a total commitments
value in excess of £500m

0

The PFI scheme relates to the Treatment Centre which is a healthcare facility designed to improve patient
care and increase capacity.
The contract period commenced on 18 March 2004 and the facility was made available for use on
22 August 2005. The contract confers on the Trust the right to use the facility for designated purposes.
The concession period will end on 21 August 2035 when the facility will revert to the Trust with a
minimum asset life of five years. Early termination is subject to approval and compensation.
Under IFRIC 12, the Treatment Centre is treated as an asset of the Trust and accounted for as a finance
lease, comprising a service charge and an imputed finance lease charge.
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31. Impact of IFRS treatment - current year
The information below is required by the Department of Heath for budget reconciliation purposes
2016-17

2015-16

Income Expenditure
£000s

£000s

Income

Expenditure

£000s

£000s

Revenue costs of IFRS: Arrangements reported
on SoFP under IFRIC12 - PFI
519

524

Interest Expense

1,180

1,215

Other Expenditure

2,318

2,497

Depreciation charges

Revenue Receivable from subleasing
Impact on PDC dividend payable
Total IFRS Expenditure (IFRIC12)

(169)
(169)

(169)
194
4,211

(169)

197
4,433

4,013

3,811

29

453

Capital expenditure 2016-17

496

0

UK GAAP capital expenditure 2016-17 (Reversionary
Interest)

587

587

Revenue consequences of PFI schemes under UK
GAAP / ESA95 (net of any sublease revenue)
Net IFRS change (IFRIC12)
Capital Consequences of IFRS: PFI and other items
under IFRIC12

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

Income/
Income/
Expenditure Expenditure
ESA 10
IFRIC 12
YTD
YTD

Income/
Expenditure
IFRIC 12
YTD

Income/
Expenditure
ESA 10
YTD

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Revenue costs of IFRS12 compared with ESA10
Depreciation charges

519

524

Interest Expense
Other Expenditure

1,180

1,215

Service Charge

1,306

4,182

1,635

3,980

Contingent Rent

516

569

Lifecycle

496

293

Impact on PDC Dividend Payable
Total Revenue Cost under IFRIC12 vs ESA10

194
4,211

4,182

197
4,433

3,980

Revenue Receivable from subleasing
Net Revenue Cost under IDRIC12 vs ESA10

(169)

(169)

4,042

4,013

(169)
4,264

(169)
3,811
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32 Financial Instruments
32.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had
during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of
the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with Commissioners and the way those
Commissioners are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would
be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Trust has
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by dayto-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its
activities.
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters
defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Trust Board.
The Trust’s treasury activity is subject to review by the internal auditors.
Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations and therefore has low exposure
to currency rate fluctuations.
Interest rate risk
The Trust has borrowed from the government for capital expenditure and revenue support, subject to
affordability as confirmed by NHS Improvement. The borrowings are for 1 – 25 years, in line with the life
of the associated assets or agreed repayment terms, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund
rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
During 2013-14 the Trust received a goodwill (£1,130k) and deposit (£220k) payment connected to a land
sale which was due to take place in 2014-15, and is now due to complete in 2016-17. If the land sale
does not complete the Trust may be liable to repay the £1,350k but the contract’s provisions entitle it to
keep any interest accrued. The monies are held within the Trusts bank accounts and managed according
to the Trust’s normal treasury management procedures and policies.This payment, if it arises, will be due in
2016-17 and there is no exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the
Trust has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2017 are in receivables from
customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
Liquidity risk
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with NHS organisations, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within
its Capital Resource Limit. The Trust is, therefore, not exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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32.2 Financial Assets
Loans and
receivables

Total

£000s

£000s

Receivables - NHS

2,561

2,561

Receivables - non-NHS

2,499

2,499

Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2017

1,876
6,936

1,876

Receivables - NHS

2,015

2,015

Receivables - non-NHS

2,083

2,083

872

872

4,970

4,970

Other

Total

£000s

£000s

NHS payables

1,041

1,041

Non-NHS payables

1,523

1,523

Other borrowings

52,161

52,161

PFI & finance lease obligations
Total at 31 March 2017

15,214
69,939

15,214

NHS payables

1,186

1,186

Non-NHS payables

4,904

4,904

Other borrowings

26,618

26,618

PFI & finance lease obligations

15,987

15,987

Total at 31 March 2016

48,695

48,695

Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2016

6,936

32.3 Financial Liabilities

69,939

In 2015-16 the Trust reported financial assets and laibilities as consolidated with the Charity. The 2015-16
figures above have been restated to reflect that this is no longer required.

33. Events after the end of the reporting period
On 1 April 2017 the Trust merged with Peterborough and Stamford NHS Foundation Trust, to form North
West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust.
The financial statements were authorised for issue on 18 May 2017 by Mr Stephen Graves, Chief
Executive of North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust. There were no other events arising after the end of
the reporting period up to this date which qualified for disclosure.
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34. Related party transactions
During the year none of the Trust Board members, members of the key management staff, or parties
related to any of them, have undertaken any material transactions with Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS
Trust.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS
Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities
for which the Department is regarded as the parent. These include:
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS England
Bedfordshire CCG
Nene CCG
Cambridgeshire Community Services NHS Trust
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust
East of England Ambulance Service
NHS Litigation Authority
Public Health England
NHS Blood and Transplant
Health Education England
In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and
other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with the NHS Business
Services Authority in respect of pension contributions and HMRC in respect of taxation.
Since May 2014, the Trust has had a 5.4% share in a Pathology Partnership (tPP), hosted by Cambridge
University Hospitals Foundation Trust. The Trust has made cash advances to tPP of £2,096k which have
been impaired in 2016-17. tPP is undergoing a restructuring in 2017-18.
The Trust has also received revenue and capital payments from Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
Fund, whose Corporate Trustee is the Trust Board. An administration charge of £12k (2015/16 - £12k)
was made by the Trust to Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust Fund.

35. Losses and special payments
The total number of losses cases in 2016-17 and their total value was as follows:
Losses
Special payments
Gifts
Total losses and special payments and gifts

Total Value of Cases £s

Total Number of Cases

148,407

239

1,968

12

0

0

150,375

251

The total number of losses cases in 2015-16 and their total value was as follows:
Total Value of Cases £s

Total Number of Cases

£s
Losses
Special payments
Total losses and special payments
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96,558

174

3019

7

99,577

181

36. Financial performance targets
The figures given for periods prior to 2009-10 are on a UK GAAP basis as that is the basis on which the
targets were set for those years.
36.1 Breakeven performance
2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

Turnover
Retained surplus/
(deficit) for the year

72,357 73,006 91,630 97,777 102,255 107,259 110,564 111,639 111,052 112,280 115,485
(13,354) (16,037)

98 (1,649)

1,193 (1,173) (1,241)

(335) (14,383) (18,780) (25,508)

Adjustment for:
Prior Period
Adjustments

0

0

0

Adjustments for
impairments

0

0

0

Adjustments for
impact of policy
change re donated/
government grants
assets

0

0

0

0

Consolidated
Budgetary Guidance
- adjustment for dual
accounting under
IFRIC12*

0

0

0

Other agreed
adjustments

0

0

(13,354) (16,037)

Break-even in-year
position

0

0

(790)

0

0

0

0

0

1,060 (1,110)

1,206

1,281

426

571

2,732

5,009

0

96

(142)

(91)

(395) (1,475)

(699)

1,187

(4)

57

79

0
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29

0

0

0

790

23

0

0

0

0

98

598

79

186

0

0 (13,993) (17,070) (21,169)

Break-even
(22,935) (38,972) (38,874) (38,276) (38,197) (38,011) (38,011) (38,011) (52,004) (69,074) (90,243)
cumulative position
* Due to the introduction of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) accounting in 2009-10, NHS Trust’s financial
performance measurement needs to be aligned with the guidance issued by HM Treasury measuring Departmental expenditure.
Therefore, the incremental revenue expenditure resulting from the application of IFRS to IFRIC 12 schemes (which would include
PFI schemes), which has no cash impact and is not chargeable for overall budgeting purposes, is excluded when measuring
Breakeven performance. Other adjustments are made in respect of accounting policy changes (impairments and the removal of
the donated asset and government grant reserves) to maintain comparability year to year.
2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

Materiality test (I.e.
is it equal to or less
than 0.5%):
Break-even inyear position as
a percentage of
turnover

(18.46) (21.97)

Break-even
cumulative position
as a percentage of
turnover

(31.70) (53.38) (42.42) (39.15) (37.35) (35.44) (34.38) (34.05) (46.83) (61.52) (78.14)

0.11

0.61

0.08

0.17

0.00

0.00 (12.60) (15.20) (18.33)

The amounts in the above tables in respect of financial years 2005/06 to 2008/09 inclusive have not been
restated to IFRS and remain on a UK GAAP basis.
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36.2 Capital cost absorption rate
The dividend payable on public dividend capital is based on the actual (rather than forecast) average
relevant net assets based on the pre audited accounts and therefore the actual capital cost absorption rate
is automatically 3.5%.
36.3 External financing
The Trust is given an external financing limit which it is permitted to undershoot.
2016-17

2015-16

£000s

£000s

External financing limit (EFL)

24,610

20,722

Cash flow financing

23,861

19,316

Finance leases taken out in the year

0

1,405

Other capital receipts

0

0

23,861

20,721

749

1

External financing requirement
Underspend against EFL

The underspend against the EFL in 2016-17 relates to the request by NHSI for the Trust to draw down
sufficient cash to cover its net trade assets and liabilites in advance of the merger.
36.4 Capital resource limit
The Trust is given a capital resource limit which it is not permitted to exceed.
2016-17

2015-16

£000s

£000s

Gross capital expenditure

5,295

10,694

Less: donations towards the acquisition of noncurrent assets

(872)

(1,624)

Charge against the capital resource limit

4,423

9,070

Capital resource limit

4,553

9,070

130

0

Underspend against the capital resource limit
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